Design of an Integrated Robotic Reminder System for People with Dementia Ricardo Vogel



Design of an Integrated Robotic Reminder System for People with Dementia

by

Ricardo Vogel

to obtain the degree of Master of Science at the Delft University of Technology, to be defended publicly on Monday, April 15, 2024, at 15:00.

Project duration: Thesis committee: May 12, 2023 – April 15, 2024 prof. dr. Mark A. Neerincx, T dr. Frank Broz, T dr. Dave Murray-Rust, T

prof. dr. Mark A. Neerincx, TU Delft (Interactive Intelligence, EEMCS)

TU Delft (Interactive Intelligence, EEMCS)

TU Delft (Industrial Design Engineering)



Preface

When I started studying computer science in 2018, I knew that I wanted to learn how to solve complex technical problems, use logic to create the best algorithms, make great software, and maybe prove that $p \neq np$ while I was at it. Looking back now, nearly six years later, I can say that most of these were successful (the last one was always a long shot, but for a million dollars it was worth a try). But while these technical challenges originally grabbed my interest in computer science, the human aspects of it clutched it and cemented my love of the field. Still, the term "human aspect" encompasses a lot. It ranges from using computers to analyze human behavior, to emulating it well, to thinking about the consequences of unleashing systems into the world. But my favorite part became designing systems that can help people with real, tangible, problems they have — from start to finish. From coming up with the first ideas, to creating an intuitive interaction, to designing the software architecture, to writing and testing code in a way that makes it easy to make changes later, I fell in love with the whole process.

The thesis before you now describes such a process. It discusses the design of an integrated robotic reminder system for people with dementia. It should be easy to see why I would like a topic like this. The target audience comes with interesting and unique problems, the potential impact on their lives is clear, and it allowed me to touch upon many aspects of designing a technology system. There is one important aspect I did not have the time for, however. That is actually *making* the software. Of course, there is the robot prototype, but if only I had a team of interaction designers, front- and back-end software engineers, software architects, computer vision engineers, embedded software engineers, artificial intelligence engineers, network engineers, cybersecurity and privacy experts, and — last but not least — a few years to fully realize this project. For now, this thesis will have to do.

There's some people I would like to thank. First and foremost, there are the participants of the two workshops, the caregivers and residents of the care home, and the experts who took the time to talk to me about the software architecture. Your feedback was invaluable, thank you. Thanks also goes out to all the caregivers and researchers from many fields I have had the chance of speaking with during the past few months, who welcomed me into their spaces and shared their experiences and views with me. I would also like to thank my two supervisors, Mark Neerincx and Frank Broz. Thank you for your feedback, our weekly meetings, and for challenging me. I'd also like to thank my third thesis committee member, Dave Murray-Rust, for joining the committee. I hope you enjoy my thesis. Thanks and love go out to my parents, brother, grandparents, and other family members. Thank you for your continued love and support, and thank you for listening to me try to explain complex algorithms to you — I hope this thesis will be more accessible. Finally, I want to thank all the wonderful friends, fellow students, fellow teaching assistants, and teachers I have had the privilege of meeting over the course of my studies. The human aspects of computer science may be what cemented my love for the field, but you are what cemented my love for my time here.

Ricardo Vogel Delft, April 2024

Summary

Dementia is a cognitive condition that impacts millions worldwide. It causes a decline in memory, attention, and executive function, and also other non-cognitive symptoms, like depression, anxiety, and trouble sleeping. Seventy percent of people with dementia live at home, and often receive care from an informal caregiver, like their partner or child. These caregivers often spend a lot of time providing care, and cannot always be present. This can cause them stress and can cause them to feel overtaxed.

A useful technology to alleviate negative symptoms of people with dementia is robotic pets. Most robotic pets, however, only have pet-like functionality. This is useful on its own, but adding additional care functionality would be helpful. A different useful tool for people with dementia is reminder systems. These systems can help them remember to do important daily tasks, like eating meals and taking medicine. These systems, however, usually use a phone as a medium. The user might leave their phone in another room, and if they do not take it to the location where the task is to be completed, they cannot check what the reminder was for.

This thesis aims to combine these two systems, and presents the design of an integrated robot reminder system for people with dementia who live at home. It aims to address the problem of people with dementia forgetting important things, improve their quality of life, and reduce the stress experienced by their informal caregivers. The system consists of an animal-like robotic pet, which delivers reminders for important activities of daily living directly to the user with dementia. It guides them to a location in the house, where a screen tells them what the reminder is for. Through sensors placed in the house, the system can automatically detect whether some reminders have been completed, and can use contextual clues to send reminders at the best time. The research question for this thesis is "How can an integrated robotic reminder system effectively support people with dementia living at home in completing daily tasks while alleviating stress of their informal caregiver?"

To alleviate the stress experienced by informal caregivers, a phone app is used. Using this app, they can add reminders, check up on their loved ones, and see an overview of recurring reminders, which allows them to (re)schedule reminders for the most appropriate time.

Three research topics are explored in the thesis. The first topic is that of value-sensitive design. The two main user groups, people with dementia and caregivers, both have values they want to see reflected in the system. Sometimes, these values may clash. The conflict between these values is explored in this thesis. Secondly, the interaction between the robot and the person in the context of a reminder system is researched. It should be clear to a user that the robot is trying to convey a reminder. The third topic relates to the software architecture and software engineering requirements. Private data should be stored securely, and the requirements should be written to make future development easy. Recommendations are made regarding the ideal setup of the system, ensuring proper security and usefulness.

To evaluate the system and the interaction with multiple stakeholders, a high-fidelity robot prototype was made. This prototype shows the core interaction of receiving a reminder. Besides the robot, a semi-functional user interface prototype was made to show the functionality of the app that caregivers can use to create reminders, see if they were completed, and get insights into what reminders should be changed.

The system was designed through an iterative process. In order to improve the system and validate its acceptability, two design workshops were held, one with professional caregivers and one with people with dementia living in a care home. We showed them the robot, and showed the caregivers the user interface prototype. These workshops showed that the combination of the robot and the reminder functionality was appealing, though not everyone was as interested. To validate and improve the system architecture choices, two interviews with experts in the field of privacy were held.

Contents

Preface						
Su	Summary					
1	Introduction					
2	Background 2.1 Dementia 2.1.1 Symptoms of Dementia 2.1.2 Other Effects on People with Dementia 2.1.3 Effects on Informal Caregivers and Other Parties 2.1 Reminders for People with Dementia 2.2 Reminders for People with Dementia of Activities of Daily Living 2.2.1 Reminding People with Dementia of Activities of Daily Living 2.2.2 Contextual Reminders 2.2.3 Interaction Media for Reminders 2.3 Robotic Pets for People with Dementia 2.3.1 Examples of Robotic Pets 2.3.2 Long-Term Effects of Robotic Pets 2.3.3 Robot Interruptions 2.3.4 Ethical Concerns 2.3.5 Future Areas of Research 2.4 Participatory Design for People with Dementia	3 3 4 4 5 5 7 7 9 10 11 11				
3	Design of the Integrated Robotic Reminder System	14				
	3.1 Problem Statement	14				
	3.2 Design Process	15				
	3.3 Important Stakeholders of the Reminder System	15				
	3.3.1 Primary Stakeholders	16				
	3.3.2 Secondary Stakeholders	16				
	3.4 Important Values of The Primary Stakeholders	16				
	3.5 Use Cases	18				
	3.6 Setting Reminders	19				
	3.7 Receiving Reminders	21				
	3.8 Completing Reminders	22				
	3.9 Robot Interaction	23				
	3.9.1 Interaction Design Patterns	24				
	3.10 Contextual and Personalized Reminders	24				
	3.10.1 Rule-Based Contextual Reminders	24				
	3.10.2 Precise Scheduling of Reminders Using a Heuristic	25				
	3.11 Feedback to Caregiver	26				
	3.12 Storyboards	27				
4	Robot Prototype 2					
	4.1 The MiRo-E Robot	29				
	4.2 Detection Through Cameras	30				
	4.3 Robot Behavior and Movement	32				

	4.4	Robot System Architecture	33					
5	Use 5.1 5.2	r Interface Prototypes Tablet Screen Prototype	35 35 36					
6	Desi 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7	ign WorkshopWorkshop GoalsWorkshop StructureField NotesData AnalysisHuman Research Ethics & Informed ConsentWorkshop with CaregiversWorkshop with People with Dementia	43 43 44 44 45 45 45					
7	Prop 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	posed System Architecture Software Architecture Perception of Privacy Expert Evaluation of the Proposed System Architecture Final Recommendations	49 49 51 52 53					
8	Fina 8.1 8.2	Il System Requirements User Stories	55 55 57					
9	Disc 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5	cussion and Future Work Design Interaction System Architecture and Software Requirements Prototypes and Robot Design Workshops 9.5.1 Recommendations for Hosting Workshops with People with Dementia	58 60 61 62 63 63					
10 Conclusion 65								
Re	ferer	nces	67					
Α	Pers	sonas	75					
в	Stor	Storyboards 7						
С	Duto C.1 C.2	ch Materials Prototypes	84 84 89					
D	Wor D.1 D.2	kshop Questions Caregivers D.1.1 General Questions D.1.2 Workshop Questions People with Dementia D.2.1 General Questions D.2.2 Workshop Questions	96 96 96 98 98 98					
Е	Exp	Expert Interview Questions 99						
F	Forr	nal Software Requirements	100					

Introduction

Dementia presents a significant challenge globally, impacting millions of people and their caregivers. Dementia is a cognitive condition that causes decline in memory, attention, and executive function, among other symptoms [1]. Over 55 million people have dementia worldwide [2], with nearly 10 million new diagnoses per year. People with dementia often forget to perform important daily tasks and have problems with executive function [1]. They may also experience other negative symptoms, like anxiety and depression [1, 3–5], and many feel lonely [6].

Seventy percent of people with dementia in the Netherlands live at home [7, 8]. The current healthcare system cannot provide all the care they may need, so many also receive informal care, by for example their partner or children [8]. These informal caregivers spend, on average, 39 hours per week providing care [9], many of them besides their regular job [8]. With the amount of time they spend, and the concern they may feel when not being able to provide care at a given moment, it is understandable that many caregivers suffer from anxiety and feel overtaxed [9, 10].

One useful technology to alleviate negative symptoms of people with dementia is robotic pets [11– 13]. These robotic pets aim to imitate the behavior of real pets, the user can play with them and pet them. This alone provides value, but the functionality is quite limited. Additional care functionality would be a useful addition to these pets.

A different useful technology for people with dementia is reminder systems [14–16]. The benefits are clear: reminding people with dementia to perform important tasks, like taking their medicine or having a meal, can help them with remembering these tasks. Most reminder systems found in literature use smartphones as their medium. This may not be the ideal choice for people with dementia, as they may not get reminders if they leave their phone in another room, and as they cannot easily check what reminder they got last if they do not take their phone with them. Some reminder systems found in literature make use of the context to provide reminders at an appropriate time, which increases the chances of the user completing the task, and reduces annoyance of getting reminders at inappropriate times or when doing something else [15, 17, 18].

This thesis aims to combine the functionality of robotic pets and reminder systems through the design of an integrated robotic reminder system, which aims to alleviate the problems of people with dementia forgetting daily tasks, their sometimes low quality of life, and the stress experienced by their informal caregivers. The system does this by making use of a robotic pet, which comes to the user with dementia to remind them to do important activities of daily living, like eating, drinking water, showering, and taking medicine. It keeps the caregiver in the loop by sending them updates when some tasks were completed. The system makes use of sensors and other technology integrations to detect whether the reminder was completed, to gather contextual information in order to send the reminder at an appropriate time, and to make completing reminders easier. The main research question of this thesis is "How can an integrated robotic reminder system effectively support people with dementia living

at home in completing daily tasks while alleviating stress of their informal caregiver?" This is a multifaceted research question, which will be answered from the angles of the design of the whole system, the interaction between the human and robot, and software engineering. These three themes will be discussed now.

The system has two types of users: the people with dementia and the informal caregivers. These users want several things out of the system, such as the level of care, safety, and privacy. These different values may sometimes clash. Decisions have to be made where one value has to be compromised in order to guarantee another. For example, placing cameras and sensors around the house may increase the level of care and the safety, but decrease the privacy. Several of such trade-offs will have to be considered during the design process. The research sub-question related to the design is "How can the design of an integrated robotic reminder system balance the conflicting values of individuals with dementia and their informal caregivers?" (SRQ1)

As discussed before, most robotic pets only have pet-like functionality, and most reminder systems use a phone as their medium. Delivering reminder information through the medium of an animal-like robot is still an open research topic. Several aspects will be explored, like the act of interrupting, how to make clear that the user should follow the robot, and the way the reminder is communicated. The research sub-question for the interaction with the robot is "How can a robotic pet effectively give reminders to people with dementia in a more interactive manner compared to traditional reminder systems?" (SRQ2)

The final research theme is that of software engineering. If this system were to be implemented in a real-world setting, there are certain things that should be paid close attention to. The first is the software architecture. The use of sensors and cameras raises privacy and security concerns, if these data leak, it would be a major breach of privacy. Designing the software architecture in a way that minimizes these risks is paramount. Besides the software architecture, this thesis also presents user stories and formal software requirements that can be used for future development. The research sub-question for this part is "What are the recommended system architectures and requirements for implementing the integrated robotic reminder system in a real-world setting, ensuring easy development and high security, privacy, and usability for both the users with dementia and their caregivers?" (SRQ3)

Engaging people of the target audience in the design process is an effective way to understand their needs and to ensure these needs are met. To this end, two design workshops are held, one with professional caregivers, and one with people with dementia living in a care home. These workshops aim to gather feedback on the design and to gauge the acceptability of the system. Additionally, two interviews with experts are held to validate and improve the software architecture choices.

To evaluate the system and interaction, a high-fidelity robotic prototype is made. It makes use of the animal-like MiRo robot, and makes use of the MiRo's built-in cameras to find the user and screen. Additionally, a medium-fidelity user interface prototype is made for the caregiver app. This shows how a caregiver can set reminders, see which reminders were completed, and get insights in recurring reminders and context rules. These prototypes are used in the two workshops.

This thesis is structured as follows: first, in Chapter 2, I discuss useful background information regarding dementia, reminder systems, robotic pets, and participatory design. Chapter 3 presents the design of the integrated robotic reminder system, describing the design process, going over major design decisions, and specifying certain features. Chapter 4 talks about technical details of the robot prototype, and Chapter 5 shows the UI prototypes of the screen on which reminders are shown and the app used by caregivers to set reminders. Then, in Chapter 6, the procedure and outcomes of the two design workshops are presented. Chapter 7 talks about the proposed system architecture and the expert interviews held to validate them, and Chapter 8 presents the final requirements of the system. In the discussion in Chapter 9, I present points of improvement and useful areas for future work. Finally, Chapter 10 wraps up the thesis.

\sum

Background

Before getting into the design of the system, let us talk about some important background information. This chapter will discuss four areas of research relevant for this thesis. First, we will discuss symptoms and other effects of dementia on the people themselves, on their informal caregivers, and on society as a whole. This is done in Section 2.1. We will then discuss reminders systems and their features in Section 2.2. Robotic pets used for people with dementia, and their benefits and potential ethical concerns, will be discussed in Section 2.3. Finally, we will discuss participatory design methods for people with dementia in Section 2.4.

2.1. Dementia

According to the World Health Organization [2], over 55 million people have dementia worldwide. There are nearly 10 million new cases each year. It is currently the seventh leading cause of death worldwide, and is seen as one of the major causes of disability and dependency among older adults [2]. In the Netherlands specifically, 290,000 people are estimated to have dementia, of which only about two thirds have received a formal diagnosis [8]. Projections suggest that by 2040, the number of people with dementia will rise to half a million [8]. Dementia is more common in women, who account for 61% of those affected [7]. While dementia is more prevalent among older adults, approximately six percent of individuals with dementia in the Netherlands are under the age of 65 [7]. As for the living arrangements, around seventy percent of those with dementia in the Netherlands reside in their own homes, leaving approximately thirty percent who live in care homes [7, 8].

2.1.1. Symptoms of Dementia

The ICD-11 [1], the International Classification of Diseases, 11th Revision, describes dementia as a decline in cognitive abilities outside what you could normally expect given an individual's age. In order to be diagnosed with dementia, impairments should be present in at least two cognitive domains¹ [1]. Memory is perhaps the most well-known cognitive domain when it comes to dementia, but problems with memory are not necessary symptoms for a diagnosis.

There are six cognitive domains in which people's cognitive abilities may decline [1, 19]. The first of these is complex attention — the ability to sustain and divide your attention. Examples of symptoms for dementia include difficulty holding new information in mind and getting easily distracted by competing events in the environment. The second is executive function, which relates to planning, decision-making, error correction, and mental flexibility. This relates to short-, medium-, and long-term planning and decisions. The third domain is learning and memory. This domain relates to immediate

¹According to the ICD-11 [1]. In the American DSM-5 [19], Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition, just one domain is enough.

memory, recent memory, and very-long-term memory. Symptoms include people repeating themselves in conversation and not keeping track of short lists like grocery lists, but also forgetting memories from far in the past. Then there is the language domain. People showing decline in this area speak less fluently, often use general-use phrases such as "that thing", make more grammatical mistakes, and in severe cases may not be able to recall the names of close friends and family members. The fifth domain is the perceptual-motor domain, related to hand-eye coordination. For example, people with decline in this area may not be able to use some tools anymore, even if this used to be second nature. This domain also relates to navigating in familiar environments and general perception, like recognizing colors or faces. The final domain is that of social cognition. This would be a decline in social and emotional capabilities, like considering others' emotional and mental states and showing sensitivity on potentially harmful topics.

Dementia can be caused by a variety of diseases and injuries that affect the brain [2]. Alzheimer's disease is the most prevalent form of dementia, and is estimated to be responsible for sixty to seventy percent of dementia cases [2]. Other forms of dementia include vascular dementia, Lewy bodies, and frontotemporal dementia. Other causes include Parkinson's disease, HIV, or traumatic brain injury [1, 19].

2.1.2. Other Effects on People with Dementia

Besides the cognitive symptoms, people with dementia also often experience a number of behavioral and psychological symptoms. These symptoms include apathy, depression, anxiety, psychosis, agitation, wandering, irritability, hallucinations, and delusions [1, 3–5]. People with dementia can also experience problems with sleep or sudden changes in appetite. These symptoms are experienced by the majority of people with dementia. They can be used in diagnosis, and are, of course, important factors in the care of people with dementia [3–5].

The effects of dementia do not end at these symptoms. Kane & Cook [6] conducted a survey among people with dementia about their feelings of loneliness. 38% of respondents said they are lonely, and twelve percent state they do not know if they are lonely. Balouch et al. [20] found that having more friends could have a positive influence on cognition in people with dementia. They also note, however, that the effect could be reverse: instead showing that greater dementia severity may lead to fewer friends.

2.1.3. Effects on Informal Caregivers and Other Parties

People with dementia living at home, which make up seventy percent of all people with dementia in the Netherlands [7, 8], may not be able to receive all the necessary care through the healthcare system, and thus often require informal care provided by, for example, partners, children, other close family members, friends, or neighbors [8]. It is estimated that around 800,000 people in the Netherlands — which is nearly five percent of the population — provide informal care for a loved one with dementia [8]. Just under half of these provide care for their partner with dementia, closely followed by those who care for their parent or parent-in-law.

Dutch informal caregivers spend on average 39 hours per week providing care [9], around as much as a full-time job. It is easy to see how this can be quite taxing, especially if the caregiver also has a day job — which is the case for around forty percent of them [8]. Just over half of people surveyed by Bijnsdorp et al. [9] reported feeling at least heavily taxed, with 13% feeling overtaxed. A quarter of caregivers suffer from more significant anxiety than an average person [10].

Besides the effects on individual informal caregivers, the increase of the number of people with dementia also causes problems on a larger scale. There are long waiting lists for dementia health-care, which often lead to waiting times outside the acceptable time frame, especially for less urgent cases [21]. The Dutch government reports staff shortages [22], which can, according to an investigation by journalist and the trade union, lead to dangerous situations in care homes [23]. The shortages in the healthcare system are not something that will be solved easily. It would be useful if people with dementia were able to safely and comfortably live at their own home for a longer time.

2.2. Reminders for People with Dementia

The type of memory related to remembering things to do in the future is called prospective memory [16]. There are a variety of prospective memory tasks a person runs into in everyday life. One way to distinguish between tasks is to split them into time-based and event-based tasks [16]. Event-based tasks can be helped by external cues. For example, if you need to remember to take medicine after lunch, having lunch might trigger your memory of having to take your medicine. For time-based tasks, you cannot rely on such an external trigger. Having to call your doctor at two in the afternoon has no external trigger.

Reminders can be a useful aid to help with prospective memory [16]. Reminders can come in many forms, they can range from sticky notes placed around the house, to a calendar app that sends mobile notifications, to voice assistants, to integrated systems. Zhou et al. [17] make a distinction between four different types of reminders: they use time-based reminders, like the prospective memory tasks discussed previously, and split up event-based prospective memory tasks into location-based, activity-based, and complex context-based reminders. Time-based reminders can be set for a specific time, or in a time range for some reminder systems [24]. Location-based reminder systems, as described by Zhou et al. [17], seem to focus on outside locations (e.g., the grocery store), but specific locations in the house could also be possible. Activity-based reminders take the user's current activity into account, and are useful to ensure they do not get interrupted unnecessarily when doing something else. Hartin et al. [15] make use of mobile phone sensors to detect the user's current activity. Complex context-based systems take multiple aspects into account, for example the aforementioned time, location, and activity, but you could also think about the usual time the user performs the activity. Dey & Abowd [18] allow users to set the context through rules.

2.2.1. Reminding People with Dementia of Activities of Daily Living

When looking at the symptoms of dementia described in Section 2.1.1, it is easy to see the impact this has on people's everyday lives. Difficulties in sustaining attention, executive function, learning, and memory can make it difficult to perform important activities of daily living like taking medication, eating, moving around, and making important calls. It logically follows that reminding people with dementia of important tasks can be very helpful. Hackett et al. [25] confirm this intuition through an experiment where people with dementia were tasked to drink four glasses of water at predetermined times. Participants who were given reminders through smartphone notifications drank more glasses and had to check the list of times less often than those who only had access to the list.

Extending this to a whole day, reminders can help people with dementia perform activities of daily living [14], sometimes referred to as ADLs. Hartin et al. [15] define six types of activities of daily living: Meal, Drink, Medication, Hygiene, Appointment, and simply Other.

2.2.2. Contextual Reminders

Badly planned reminders can cause anxiety [26] and interfere with task performance [27]. That's why it is important that reminders are sent at the right time. Both the time and other contextual clues can be used to change the reminder time.

Dey & Abowd's [18] amusingly named CybreMinder allows users to describe contextual situations in which the reminder should be delivered. This includes time, locations of people, activity, free time available, whether or not a door is open, and even things like stock price (as you can probably guess, this system was not made for people with dementia). This manual rule-based approach is also used by Du et al.'s [24] HYCARE. This system is more relevant to this thesis, as it is designed for people with dementia, not for people that care about stock prices. Their rules include time-based reminders aided by contextual clues, both fixed (e.g., the system tells the user that their favorite TV show started; but it only sends it if the user is in their home) and in a window (e.g., the system reminds the user to take their medicine at some point in the afternoon; but only if they are home and not asleep), urgent context-based reminders (e.g., reminding the user to take their keys if they are leaving without them),

and "event-relevant" reminders (e.g., turning on the dishwasher if it's loaded enough and the user is going to bed soon). To schedule these reminders, the system uses three priority levels. Eventurgent reminders have the highest priority, followed by fixed-time reminders, followed finally by the time-window and event-relevant reminders. These are sorted based on their expiration time, working on the intuition that if the deadline is far in the future, the system will have more chances to try to remind the user.

One major downside of both CybreMinder [18] and HYCARE [24] is that setting up the reminder rules can get quite complicated. Rules have to be manually set, and a small mistake in logic could turn a useful reminder like "turn off the gas stove when it's on *and* the user isn't cooking" into a continuous stream of notifications if it is accidentally entered as "turn off the gas stove when it's on *or* the user isn't cooking." This is not a problem if the rules are entered by experts or developers, as they can test the rules, but is certainly not ideal for a system where people with dementia and their caretakers are meant to create these rules, who will not have the time to test them properly.

On the complete other end of the automation spectrum, Hartin et al. [15] use mobile phone sensor data in their reminder system designed for people with dementia to completely automate the timing of reminders. They use motion, positional, and environmental data like the accelerometer, temperature sensor, proximity sensor, and GPS receiver. They record this data three minutes before a reminder is sent, trying to see if it is possible to associate certain sensor states with acknowledged or missed reminders. The sensor data is a way to capture what the user is doing, if they are busy doing a certain task where they like not to be interrupted, they are doing a certain motion, and this might translate to certain values in the sensors. They aim to utilize this association to build a model that can be used to select a context where the user is likely to acknowledge the reminder. They build several models using four different supervised machine learning techniques, namely a C4.5 decision tree, Bayesian network, random forest, and K*. They get a 76% accuracy (precision=0.78, recall=0.76) in their Bayesian network trained on data from people with dementia. Adding data from people without dementia into the training data decreased the accuracy of this model by three percent, showing that a non-generalized model for people with dementia may be beneficial.

In their time-based reminder system, Fikry et al. [28] use reinforcement learning to select how long before a deadline a reminder is sent. The system uses smartphone notifications and is designed specifically for people with dementia or other cognitive impairments. By trying out different options, the system learns the preferences of each user, and automatically adapts to them. Reminders can be sent from two hours before the deadline time, with fifteen minute intervals between possibilities. Users can confirm that the reminder was completed or dismiss it. The system rewards accepted reminders, and punishes rejected reminders.

Zhou et al. [17] model their reminder system as a fuzzy linguistics problem. They define two aspects that guide their decision-making. First, there is urgency. As less urgent tasks can be delayed for a longer time, they use the acceptable delay time as a proxy for urgency. Anything that has to be completed within five minutes has an urgency value of one, anything that can be delayed for two hours or more has an urgency value of zero, the rest is linearly scaled between those two. The acceptable delay is gathered through input from participants of their pilot study. The second aspect is interruptibility, the extent to which people are willing to be interrupted for a given thing at a given moment. Ho & Intille [29] describe eleven factors that contribute to a person's interruptibility, like for example activity of the user, utility of the message, emotional state, frequency of interruptions, social engagement, and the history of responses. Zhou et al. [17] argue that the user's current activity is the most important contributing factor to interruptibility. They gather interruptibility for different user activities through questionnaires.

Besides contextual clues, one interesting aspect to consider could be personalization. Ho & Intille [29] mention history of responses as a factor in interruptibility. Fikry et al.'s [28] reinforcement learning method is originally trained on existing data, but the model could be changed based on specific users. Another possible way of personalizing is by categorizing users into groups, where people in the same group generally have similar preferences. One useful categorization could be the user's stage of dementia. People in a later stage may benefit from different type of help, but this is just speculative.

2.2.3. Interaction Media for Reminders

Many previous related works in this section use smartphones as their medium, but this may not always be the most appropriate choice for a reminder system. After all, users with dementia may not have a smartphone, and if they do, they might leave it in another room, or it might become tedious for them to take it out of their pocket often. Additionally, they cannot easily check what reminder they got last unless they take the phone with them to the location where the task is to be completed.

To solve this problem, Fixl et al. [30] created a spatial reminder system that uses "electronic sticky notes" that can be placed on displays around the house. These e-ink displays have a touchscreen, so the user can confirm that they have completed the task. Placing multiple screens has the added benefit that reminders can be set on locations that make sense with the given task. This way, the time between giving the reminder and executing it is minimized, decreasing the chance that the user forgets it on the way. The locations of the displays and on which screen a reminder shows up are chosen by caregivers.

To add a more personal touch to the reminders, one system allows caretakers to record video reminders for people with dementia, which would then be shown on a mobile phone at specified times [31]. This system was generally reviewed positively by both the people with dementia and their caregivers in an experiment by O'Neill et al. [31].

Another concept that can be helpful for reminders, is that of Internet of Things (IoT) smart homes. IoT devices are often used in residential settings, for use cases ranging from smart energy consumption [32] to medical sensors [33]. Some reminder systems make use of IoT sensors to aid their reminders. Giroux & Guertin [34] and Ramljak [35] present implementations of such a system, for cognitively impaired users and for medication reminders, respectively. Many context-aware reminder systems, discussed earlier, also make use of sensors to detect certain contextual clues.

2.3. Robotic Pets for People with Dementia

The use of robotic pets has often been used for the care of people with dementia [11–13, 36, 37]. While results vary from study to study, several literature reviews [11–13] show significant decreases in behavioral and psychological symptoms, especially agitation and depression. The results hold for both group settings and individual time with the robot.

Ghafurian et al. [37] present an extensive literature review, which shows that different experiments have shown different areas of improvement, such as improving quality of life, reducing depression, anxiety, agitation, and sleeping problems. Assistive robots have also been shown to improve task performance and cognitive attention, mood, and physical activity. They can also help improve social engagement with others, for example by being the topic of a conversation.

2.3.1. Examples of Robotic Pets

In this section, I will highlight a few examples of robotic pets, both those designed by researchers and commercially available robots. Not all these use cases will be directly applicable to the design made in this thesis, but they still serve as inspiration. The target audience for these robots is (or at least is for a large part made up of) people with dementia, unless specified otherwise.

First, let's discuss the Joy for All companion cat [38], shown in Figure 2.1a. This is a commercially available and affordable robotic cat which the user can cuddle. It cannot walk around, and seems to have no smart technology inside. Pike et al. [39] tested it on a small group of people with dementia. Overall, the experiment showed positive results for both the people with dementia themselves and for their family. They found that one of the main benefits of the robot is that it stimulated conversations between the person with dementia and others. The participants of the study talked to the cat, the cat was a common conversation topic, and the cat brought back memories for a participant that used to have cats. Another benefit is that the cat calms people down. Family members also found that the cat helped with the mood of the person with dementia. This experiment highlights that even a simple and relatively inexpensive robot (around €120 as of the time of writing [38]) can have benefits for people

with dementia and their caregivers.

Perhaps the most well-researched [37] robotic pet is PARO [43], a robot seal, shown in Figure 2.1b. Similarly to the Joy for All cat, PARO's primary goal is to act as a cuddlable companion. Where it differs, however, is in its more advanced functionality. It actively seeks eye contact, responds to touch, can remember faces, and learns actions that generate a favorable reaction. PARO also responds to sounds and can learn names, including its own. It can show emotions such as surprise, happiness, and anger, and will cry if it is not receiving sufficient attention.

Sony's aibo [44], shown in Figure 2.1c, is a robot dog that can walk and play with toys. It is designed for a general audience. By default, it reacts to human behavior, and can react to names and detect people's faces. Odetti et al. [45] performed an experiment with an altered version of aibo with people with early stages of dementia, focussing on acceptability. While participants were generally positive, especially in those who have a good relation with technology, they did find that some participants were not able to recognize the robot as a dog. They believe this might be due to people's cognitive impairments. In Naganuma et al.'s [46] experiments show similar things to other robots: the aibo was a useful conversation starter, in their case between different residents of a care home.

Consequential Robotic's MiRo [47] is a robot designed to incorporate aspects of different animals. Figure 2.1d shows a picture of the robot. The robot has several sensors, movable parts, can make sounds, and is programmable. This is the robot I will be using in this thesis. Its programmable nature, camera input, and precise motion outputs make it a suitable choice for creating prototypes.



(a) Joy for All companion cat. Source: [40]



(b) PARO robot seal. Source: [41]



(c) aibo robot dog. Source: [42]



(d) MiRo robot. Photo my own.

Figure 2.1: Several robot pets

In order to have the MiRo be able to show emotions better, Ghafurian et al. [48] created a series of behaviors drawing inspiration from emotional expressions from several animals, focussing mostly on dogs and rabbits. For example, the ears follow the behavior of a rabbit, while the tail wags like that of a dog. They also use the MiRo's colored lights, but they do not use any sound. They present a table with different emotions the robot should convey, and a description of how the eyes, neck, head, ears, and tail should move, along with the color and MiRo's movement. The design was evaluated using videos. The expressions of happy, sad, excited, surprised, and tired were correctly identified, but participants had difficulty recognizing more complex emotional expressions.

2.3.2. Long-Term Effects of Robotic Pets

The social robots discussed earlier are not designed to be used just once. Looking at the long-term effects of these robots can be useful, as the interaction and effects may change over time. Novelty could play a big role in the effects, suggesting that future interactions with the robot may not be as fruitful [37]. Unfortunately, long-term studies are not very common. This is likely due to challenges when setting up an experiment that takes time over multiple sessions, such as participant availability, time constraints, and costs. This section will go over a few papers that do look into the long-term effects of social robotic pets.

Moyle et al. [49] use the PARO [43] robot and bring people with dementia in contact with it several times, with five weeks between sessions. While not being an experiment, their insights are useful as a case study. They found that different people have different responses to the robot in general. One participant was very happy to be around PARO, but another became quite agitated. This agitation did not reduce over time, though there was a single brief moment in the hallway where they petted PARO. The authors suggest to not see the robot as a solution for all people, but to apply it when useful. Besides the differences between people, there were also cases where the same person would have different responses at different times. One participant seemed neutral in the first session, agitated in the second, but reacted positively in their third session. The authors recommend researchers to do more frequent assessment. They also suggest doing a baseline assessment of the participant's mood before each session.

Ostrowski et al. [50] looked into the effects of a social robot on social connectedness in a care home for older adults, focusing on their community. Participants engaged with the Jibo robot [51], a tabletop robot that mildly resembles a humanoid without facial features, and with other participants over a three-week period. Their results show a higher community engagement and more social connectedness. The robot often served as a conversation starter. They also found a statistically significant increase in number of residents present in the common spaces. One of the functionalities of the robot was giving reminders and alerts. This was received with mixed positivity. Participants initially open to the use of robots remained positive on their use, participants initially not very open remained skeptical, but participants with an initial middle openness improved their opinion on the reminder functionality.

Šabanović et al. [52] use the PARO robot in group sessions with people with dementia for seven consecutive weeks. Their experiments show that PARO has positive effects when it comes to social and physical activity, mostly with people around them. They also show that these positive effects grow over time, suggesting the positive effects are not just due to the novelty of using a new robot. It is worth noting, however, that all participants had memory impairments, and that some did not remember PARO from session to session.

Looking beyond a few sessions to very-long-term applications, Wada et al. [53] present a case study for a five-year use of the PARO robot in an elderly care home. All but one of the fourteen participants had dementia. The authors found that the robot increased residents' moods, and continued doing so over the five-year period. In particular, they mention a very touching story about a woman with mild dementia, who formed a real connection with the PAROs. She would ask about one of them when it was taken in temporarily for "surgery" (repairs), and was very thrilled on its return. She always joined activities with PARO, even if her health did not allow her to join many activities. The researchers note that she always seemed happier after playing with her robot friends.

2.3.3. Robot Interruptions

When giving reminders, a system may have to interrupt someone while they are busy doing something else. While contextual methods like those in Section 2.2.2 aim to pick an appropriate time to remind someone, sometimes an interruption is inevitable. If it is, what is the best way to interrupt someone? And does the ideal solution change depending on context or person?

An interruption presented through a robot will differ from a traditional notification on a phone. While the latter uses only sound, a robot can move around in space and can move its body parts to communicate to a person that it would like to interrupt them. Saulnier et al. [54] created a set of composable physical non-verbal cues that can be used by a robot to interrupt someone. This set was created through observing the behavior of interruption between two humans, only having access to non-verbal behaviors. They then created a robot that exhibited similar social cues, and tested it in several interruption scenarios. They found that motion and proximity were the most important components of an interruption. Some motions, however, should be used sparingly. Fast and frantic movements were found annoying, but were found to be useful in emergency situations. The experiment did not show statistical significance in the degree of interruption for head movement and eye gaze, but that does not mean these features are completely useless. They could be used to add extra information to the interruption, such as who is being addressed.

As different people may have different tolerances to be interrupted, Chiang et al. [55] present a system that can individualize the behavior the robot uses to get someone's attention. Because a robot cannot easily make the distinction between a user who did not notice it and a user who did notice it but who has decided to ignore it, they model the problem using a "Human-Aware Markov Decision Process". They split up the robot's beliefs about the human's *awareness* of the robot and the belief about the human's *engagement* with the robot. The robot can take actions, like for example waving, which may affect the person's awareness towards the robot, which in turn could influence their engagement. The robot can also use social cues and behaviors observed from the person, which are utilized to infer the awareness as well. In addition, someone's interruptibility also depends on the current activity they are engaged in, as also suggested by Ho & Intille [29]. They use the current tasks the user is engaged in and how urgent the incoming interruption is, similar to how Zhou et al. [17] model their reminder system.

2.3.4. Ethical Concerns

Preuß & Legal [56] compare real pets with robotic pets. While robotic pets remove some ethical concerns compared to real pets, like animal welfare issues that could arise when someone with dementia forgets to feed the pet enough, there are some issues that arise when it comes to robotic pets. First, they argue that sharing a connection with a real pet is different from a robotic pet, it would be a deception that could appear questionable, affect the dignity of the user, and fosters a readiness to treat people with dementia in a child-like fashion [56]. When it comes to robots that monitor the person with dementia, concerns arise related to data security and privacy, but also on an emotional level, as the relationship between the person and the robot becomes one-sided, which they argue changes the quality of the relationship. While I agree with the points made about possible social stigma, dignity, and infantilization, I think the last argument is more nuanced than they make it out to be. I agree that a pet monitoring you to provide care to you changes the nature of the relationship between you and the pet, but this does not necessarily reduce the quality of said relationship. I would argue this is similar to a guide dog or other service animals. That being said, service animals are not the same as robotic pets meant for monitoring. Robotic pets may send their data to other people, including the person's own caregiver. This data sharing may alter the quality relationship between the person with dementia and the robotic pet after all.

In interviews with people with dementia and their caregivers, Wang et al. [57] found some concerns people had when it comes to assistive robots. Some people were concerned that having the robot would lead to less contact with the caregiver, one person with dementia even mentioned they were concerned about neglect.

Moyle et al. [49] talk about the ethics of giving and taking away a robotic pet. One of their participants became very attached to the robot, a PARO, during a session with it. She did not allow the other care home residents to play with it, and when the caretaker tried to take PARO away, she became agitated. Another participant was not very engaged, but kept PARO on the table anyways, while barely interacting with it. While this did not seem to be a negative experience for the resident, it also was not a very enjoyable one. The same resident did enjoy their session with the robot on a different occasion. The authors suggest researching what a useful time to give the robot would be, so that people can enjoy the robot the most. They also suggest looking at cheaper alternatives, such as a simple stuffed animal. This way, it would not have to be taken away if the resident wants to keep playing with it, as the care home can buy multiple stuffed animals for the same price as a single robot.

2.3.5. Future Areas of Research

Ghafurian et al. [37] propose a few potential directions for future work. Firstly, although the different studies discussed in their literature review were written by researchers from 16 different countries, cross-cultural differences should be studied further. They could change the effects of the robot, and may also influence the design. Culture may affect expectations of a robot, preference about the shape, and the preferred way of interaction.

The next important future development is an implementation of better emotional intelligence. Having the robot show and understand emotions and affective expressions may boost the positive effects. They also argue that expressing proper emotions may help to persuade people with dementia to perform activities, as emotions remain an important part of people with dementia's lives.

Long-term effects of robotic pets is another area of research that has not received enough attention. While some studies have been performed, see Section 2.3.2, many of them are case studies and not controlled experiments. This could likely be due to the difficulties in setting up long-term experiments. It is however important to see whether the positive effects will persist if the robots are deployed for longer, as novelty could be an important contributor to the benefits. The authors also suggest more work to be done in the ideal shape of robots for a specific task. An example they give is that an animal-like shape might be more appropriate when assisting people with private activities of daily living, as being watched by a humanoid robot might be inappropriate, while a humanoid robot might be more appropriate for other, non-private, activities of daily living.

The final area of research that is mentioned is that of robots that can help people with activities of daily living. Most robots so far seem to focus on therapeutic care, often limited to imitating normal pet behavior. But robots that can assist in tasks, for example by providing a step-by-step guide, performing some tasks automatically, or by reminding, may allow caregivers to spend their time more on meaningful activities with the person with dementia or on their own activities. This area of research aligns closely with the goals of this thesis. Reminder systems are a useful form of care-functionality that are currently missing in robotic pets.

2.4. Participatory Design for People with Dementia

When designing a system, it is essential to design for the needs and wants of the target audience. After all, if the system is not useful or usable for them, it will probably not be adopted. To ensure the needs and wants of the audience are met, it is invaluable to involve these people in the design process. A broad term for this approach is participatory design or co-design. While exact definitions of this term vary, Spinuzzi [58] argues it is just as much a research and design methodology, rather than only a research orientation more focussed on users. He characterizes the method as three stages: initial exploration, discovery, and prototyping. These three stages are iterative, making a prototype is not the end, it is just as much the start of the next cycle. The discovery phase should be done with participation of the stakeholders. They should not just be asked to verify whether the work is correct, they should be a part of the design process. This can be achieved through design workshops.

The rest of this section will go over a few of these workshops performed with people with dementia

and older adults, and their main takeaways that can be used during our workshop.

Dosso et al. [59] used MiRo [47] and T-Top [60], a tabletop robot with a humanoid avatar on a screen, in workshops with older adults and their caregivers. Twenty-seven people participated, of which two had dementia. The participants filled in the Multi-Dimensional Robot Attitude Scale [61] before the workshop, to capture the participants' baseline attitudes towards social robots. After an introduction, an icebreaker activity, and a video and demonstration of the MiRo robot of one minute each, participants filled in the Psychosocial Impact of Assistive Devices Scale [62] survey based on their first impressions. This scale captures the user's perceived impact of assistive devices based on competence, adaptability, and self-esteem.

After conducting the surveys, the researchers showed a short video of the T-Top robot [60]. The discussion period followed, which was used to gather qualitative insights. There were three important discussion topics: (1) social robot application areas and design elements, (2) emotion functionalities, and (3) the potential stigma around social robot use. The discussion phase consisted of a mix of talking, anonymous polls, and chat functionality.

Rodgers [63] uses a design workshop to show that co-design can be beneficial and enjoyable for people with dementia, and that people with dementia can still participate in design activities. The participants designed a tartan, a Scottish cloth pattern. This is, of course, quite different from a social robot, but his insights are still useful. He gives several recommendations for co-design in research. First, it is important for people with dementia to be able to choose which part of the research they want to be involved with. Second, people with dementia should be involved when setting research priorities. Third, physical and emotional safety are paramount. Fourth, researchers should use language that is supportive and not offensive. Fifth, researchers should be aware of the struggles of people with dementia, but not become patronizing. Finally, researchers should try to schedule the session at a time that make sense for the participants and should consider how their participants keep track of time. While some of these guidelines may seem straightforward, they are still worth keeping in mind explicitly in the design of our evaluation and participatory design.

Hsu et al. [64] performed a series of design workshops for the design of a humanoid social robot for people with dementia. The goal of the first workshop was to provide insights and gather challenges people with dementia face. They found that the workshop group dynamic was better when the participants were there with friends or their spouse. The workshop consisted of one-on-one activities and one-on-two focus group discussions. The focus of the discussions was the people with dementia's purpose in life. They also showed a robot and discussed how they might use it to support their purpose in life. They then asked them to draw a storyboard of at least three frames based on their suggestion. Unfortunately, the workshops were challenging for the participants. They often felt confused and told the researcher they did not understand the session or what the robot was saying, or what the purpose of the robot was. The researchers also noticed that the experience did not seem enjoyable for the participants.

They went back to the drawing board and coming up with a workshop method that fixes some problems with their previous iteration, which they believe are a lack of identity as an expert, connectedness to the robot and researcher, feeling of security while participating, and feeling they lacked autonomy to share their opinions about the robot, following a dementia well-being framework developed by Eden Alternative [65]. The second iteration focused more on the participants' well-being and autonomy. They chose to hold the workshop at the place where their participants spent most of their time. They performed five workshops. There were five design objectives for the workshop design: the participants should feel like experts of their own needs, should feel connected to the robot and researcher, should feel security with the group and environment, should feel autonomy and the freedom to say what they want, and finally should elevate overall well-being with active support from the researchers. In the end, they chose to have five sessions, one week apart, focussing on discovering through storytelling, building a robot through hearing, dressing up the robot, dancing, and reflective storytelling.

From their experience, they specify guidelines for each of the design goals. To improve participants' feelings of identity, they recommend focussing on familiar and simple activities at first. To help parti-

cipants feel a connection to the researcher and robot, they recommend repeated interaction. To create a safe space, workshops should focus on peer support and group dynamics, for example by getting together a group that already knows each other. They also suggest showing peoples' decisions in the design of the robot. For example, if users express that they like certain dance moves in the robot, the robot show this immediately and in subsequent sessions. The researchers found this helped people feel like experts, and increased their autonomy. Finally, they recommend that well-being should be a primary decision-making factor. For the second set of workshops, the authors consulted the director of the care home. They also highlight the importance of seeing the participants as people instead of merely as participants. The activity should bring them joy or meaning in addition to generating useful research output.

Design of the Integrated Robotic Reminder System

To help people with dementia remember to do important tasks, improve their quality of life, and reduce informal caregiver stress, an integrated robotic reminder system will be presented here. Let's go over the term "integrated robotic reminder system" in reverse order: the *reminder system* allows caregivers to set reminders for the user with dementia to receive within a specified time frame, if certain specified conditions are met. The system will be aided by a *robot*. In particular, the animal-like MiRo robot is used. This robot allows for additional interactions with the person with dementia, like guiding them to certain places in the house. It also may have inherent benefits, as described in Section 2.3. Finally, the system will be *integrated* with other technology in the house. Sensors will be placed in the house to, for example, see where the user is, whether there are other people there, whether the fridge is open or closed, whether medicine was taken from a medicine dispenser, or whether the person's house keys are in the house. These sensors are used to detect whether tasks are completed, whether the current context is right to send reminders, and to make task completion easier.

The core interaction looks as follows. When a reminder needs to be given, the MiRo robot drives towards the person with dementia, trying to get their attention. It will then guide them to a screen. Several of these screens will be placed around the house, to make the distance between getting the reminder and performing it smaller. After the user performs the task, its completion can be noted in two ways. If possible, sensors should detect whether a reminder was completed. When this is not possible, the reminder should be confirmed by the user through the screen.

This chapter is about the *design* of the system. Chapter 4 will talk about the creation and design of the robotic prototype, and Chapter 5 shows the user interface prototype. Chapter 7 is about the proposed system architecture of the system, and finally, Chapter 8 presents the formal software requirements.

The research sub-questions relevant for this chapter are "How can the design of an integrated robotic reminder system balance the conflicting values of individuals with dementia and their informal caregivers?" (SRQ1) and "How can a robotic pet effectively give reminders to people with dementia in a more interactive manner compared to traditional reminder systems?" (SRQ2).

3.1. Problem Statement

The problem statement consists of three parts:

Problem 1: People with dementia often struggle with **remembering important daily tasks**. The focus will be on activities of daily living, like Hartin et al.'s [15] list of having meals, drinking, taking medication, keeping up with hygiene, going to appointments, and the wildcard other category. In Sec-

tion 2.2, I talked about reminder systems for people with dementia, and concluded that these types of systems can be useful to help people with dementia remember to do important daily tasks.

Problem 2: The **quality of life of people with dementia** is sadly not always as high as it could be. Section 2.1.2 talks about some of the problems experienced by people with dementia. These include depression, anxiety, agitation, irritability, and loneliness. Section 2.3 shows how robotic pets can inherently help people with dementia with these non-cognitive symptoms.

Problem 3: **Informal caregivers** of people with dementia spend a lot of time caring for their loved one with dementia. They also do not know if the person with dementia is taking care of themselves properly while they themselves are away. For many informal caregivers, providing care can lead to **high stress**. The system should provide informal caregivers with some peace of mind while they are away, and should aim to reduce the workload and stress of informal caregivers — or at least not *increase* it.

3.2. Design Process

The system was designed using an iterative process, drawing mostly from the socio-cognitive engineering method [66, 67]. Figure 3.1 shows a diagram of the main iterations of the design process. Contact with stakeholders was an important method to ensure the system fits their needs. The two largest iterations came after the two design workshops hosted, one with professional caregivers, and one with people with dementia living in a care home. This chapter mostly shows the final iteration of the design. The setup of the workshop, and the changes made because of them, are described in Chapter 6.



Figure 3.1: Main iterations in the design process.

To help keep the final users in mind during the whole design process, two personas were made. Personas are representations of people that could use the system you are designing [68, 69]. Creating personas serves two main purposes. Firstly, they enable designers to explore diverse user profiles. For instance, one of the personas is someone with dementia who is supported by their spouse, while the other portrays a person receiving care from a busy, working adult child. While user diversity could be outlined without personas, the second benefit lies in personifying these abstract user groups. By giving personas names, stories, and personalities, designers can better retain and consider their needs throughout the design process. It enhances the empathy and engagement during design, compared to merely listing the user groups. Appendix A shows the personas made for this thesis.

In crafting a system for people with dementia, a thoughtful and empathetic approach is paramount. For a system to be used, the needs and values of the different stakeholders need to be respected and reinforced. This is where value-sensitive design comes in useful. Broadly, value-sensitive design is a design approach that systematically accounts for human values [70]. The first step of value-sensitive design is determining who the stakeholders of the system are [70]. This follows in Section 3.3. The values these stakeholders hold are discussed in Section 3.4. Occasions where these stakeholder values clash will be discussed in different points in this thesis.

3.3. Important Stakeholders of the Reminder System

This section will go over important stakeholders involved in the system or its effects, and discuss their benefits of using the system, and some important things to keep in mind for them. I will first go over the primary stakeholders, those who use the system directly, followed by the secondary stakeholders,

those who are only affected indirectly.

3.3.1. Primary Stakeholders

The first, and most obvious, primary stakeholder is the people with dementia who live at home and use the system. As discussed in Section 2.1.1 and Section 2.1.2, these users struggle with the cognitive, psychological, and behavioral symptoms of dementia. The goal of the system is to help them remember to do important tasks, and to improve their quality of life.

People with dementia are not the same as the general population. Extra care should be taken to take their symptoms into account. Jiancaro et al. [71] also recommend focusing more on learnability and self-confidence when compared to designing for a general audience. Finally, the values that are important to them, and their priority compared to each other, are different. This will be discussed further in Section 3.4.

The other primary stakeholder is the informal caregivers of users. They are also able to receive updates on how the person with dementia they are caring for is doing. Informal caregivers are often busy and stressed, as discussed in Section 2.1.3, so an important design goal is alleviating their stress and giving them more time for themselves. It is also important to keep the connection with the person with dementia. This positive effect is also beneficial for the person with dementia.

Just under half of informal caregivers in the Netherlands provide care for their partner [8]. This means they are, most likely, older adults themselves, and may thus not have that much experience with technology. This is useful to take into account.

3.3.2. Secondary Stakeholders

Another important group to consider are visitors, like other loved ones, friends, or tradespeople like plumbers. These people will come in contact with the system and, more specifically, with the robot. Their presence serves as an important contextual clue for the system to consider: reminding someone to go shower is unlikely to be accepted if there is someone else in the house. The robot could also serve as a conversation starter between the person with dementia and the visitor, as discussed as one of the benefits in Section 2.3. Some of these visitors may occasionally provide some care, for example by bringing a meal.

Medical and healthcare professionals do not interact with the system directly, but they will still be able to see any benefits of the system. They could also recommend the system to their clients or patients. They could instruct the caregivers on what reminders might be useful for their client or patient, think for example about physical recovery exercises prescribed by a physiotherapist or of taking a kind of medicine at a specified time (e.g., after lunch).

Finally, let's briefly touch upon some societal-level effects of the system. The system could potentially increase the time a person with dementia is able to live in their own home, alleviating the capacity issues experienced by care homes. Reducing the workload of home care professionals has a similar effect, if they can forgo a visit sometimes, it would allow them to service more clients per day. Finally, by reducing the stress and workload of informal caregivers, they may be able to spend more time in their community and keep working for longer. For wide-scale adoption, the system should be affordable, scalable, and easy to set up, use, and troubleshoot.

3.4. Important Values of The Primary Stakeholders

The systems goals and design should align with the values of the previously discussed stakeholders. Köhler et al. [72] derived a set of sixteen values from interviews with people with dementia, their caregivers, and healthcare professionals. Five values are of particular importance to this thesis. These are *caring & empathy* (one value), *autonomy, safety, privacy,* and *participation*. These values are sometimes at odds with each other. This section explains these conflicts. Future sections explain design decisions and compromises based on these conflicts in more detail.

Some of these values reinforce each other. Take caring & empathy and safety, for example. By

creating a caring and empathetic environment, the person with dementia likely feels and is and be more safe (both physically and emotionally). *Caring & empathy* also shares a reinforcing connection with *participation*. Involving the person with dementia makes it easier for the caregivers to understand them and to empathize with them. However, other values have some conflict. The reinforcing and conflicting relationships between values are shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: Relevant values and their reinforcements and conflicts. Values and relations from Köhler et al.'s [72] values for systems designed for people with dementia, image is my own.

I will now go over some potential conflicts that are important when making design decisions. The first of which is the conflict between *autonomy* and *caring & empathy*. As the system is designed for people with dementia living at home, a certain level of autonomy can be expected. The conflict arises when, for example, the person with dementia wants to schedule their own day (*autonomy*), while the caregiver and the system wants to give more reminders to make sure they do the activities of daily living (*caring*).

The second conflict is that between *privacy* on one side, and *safety* and *caring & empathy* on the other. The *privacy-safety* conflict is one that is relevant for many systems. Placing many sensors, cameras, and other tracking methods in peoples' houses may increase their safety, but it could also be seen as a violation of their privacy. One way to ensure a good level of care and safety provided by the system, while maintaining the user's privacy, is by keeping private data safe, and deleting it after use. If cameras are to be placed in the house, their data should not be processed or saved unencrypted in the cloud, where it could be seen by others or hacked, but should be kept only while needed, and be kept on a device in the house. Details on the software architecture used to achieve these goals can be found in Chapter 7. While these technical decisions try to ensure private data cannot be seen (or easily hacked) by external parties, it does not fully solve the issue of privacy. Having cameras and sensors in the house may still make the person with dementia, their caregiver, and visitors *feel* like their privacy is being violated. Explaining to the users that the data are kept securely may not be enough to alleviate their concerns. It should thus only be done with care.

3.5. Use Cases

This section goes over the nine use cases of the robotic reminder system. The descriptions already include some design decisions. These will be elaborated on later.

Setting Reminders

The caregiver can set reminders to be sent to the person with dementia later. Reminders have multiple settings, such as the acceptable start and end time (and an option to have it trigger at one specified time no matter what), prerequisite reminders, urgency, and whether or not the caregiver will be notified when the task is completed. The person setting the reminder will also be able to set how the reminder can be completed. Some common reminders could be pre-programmed, so that the user only has to select them.

Receiving Reminders

The robot will prompt the person with dementia to perform the predetermined activities. This can be done in multiple ways, depending on the type of reminder, settings, user, and context. First, the robot could guide the person to a specific place. In some cases, this could already prompt the user to perform the action. For example, for lunchtime, the robot could guide the person to the fridge. For other reminders, the robot will instead guide the user to a screen. This is a screen somewhere in the house that can show the user what to do. It could also show a video or play a sound. There will be multiple screens in the house, so that the robot can guide the person to a location close to where the reminder needs to be performed. This way, the user may be less likely to forget what it was they were supposed to do, and can check what the reminder was in case they do. Some reminders can be integrated with other technologies. For example, if the person with dementia should call their cardiologist, their phone number could be preselected on the user's phone, so that they only have to press call. Finally, some common tasks could have a specific interaction with the robot. To get the user to perform some physical exercise, for example, the robot could dance with the user.

Completing Reminders

After a task is completed, the system should be notified about this. This can be done in two ways. Some tasks can be detected, through sensors in the robot or elsewhere in the house. A smart pill dispenser will detect when the pills have been taken, and will notify the reminder system. Other reminders will require explicit confirmation. This can be done through the screens. On the screen, there will also be an option for when the user does not want to do it right now, but wants to be reminded later. This should only be possible for lower-priority reminders where the time slot still has enough time left. A reminder to call your doctor sent at one p.m. can be sent again later in the day, while a reminder to have lunch sent at one p.m. should be completed now, and an urgent reminder, like turning off the stove when it is not in use, should not be postponed.

Contextual and Personalized Reminders

At reminder creation, specific rules can be set regarding context, such as location, whether or not there are guests, and data from different sensors (e.g., is the person sitting down? Has the fridge opened in the last hour? Is the gas stove on?). These rules are then taken into account when giving reminders. Besides these manually inputted rules, the system will automatically plan in reminders within their designated time slot in a way that maximizes how many reminders can be completed.

Feedback to Caregiver

If selected when the reminder was created, the caregiver will be notified on their phone when a reminder was completed or when an important reminder was not completed within a certain time frame. This gives the caregivers peace of mind, and allows them to intervene if something goes wrong. For less urgent matters, the caregiver could, instead of being notified, check up on task completion on their phone.

Safety

With all the sensors already placed in the user's house, it is possible to detect emergency situations, like falling down the stairs. In these situations, the caregiver (or even the emergency services) will be notified. The system will also tell the user with dementia that help is on its way, to prevent the user hurting themselves trying to get up after a fall.

Reminder Insights

Sometimes reminders are set up in ways that do not work well. Maybe a weekly reminder was accidentally placed at the same day and time the user's granddaughter regularly comes to visit. This reminder would then usually not be completed. It is important that the caregiver is able to find these unfortunately timed reminders, in order to change them to a better time.

Information and Help

At first use, the robot tells the user with dementia what it is, and what they should do. It explains that it can help the user with reminders, and that it sometimes comes to the user, that they should follow it, and that it will tell them what they should do next. If at a later time the user gets confused about what the robot is for, they can tap the question mark button on one of the screens, which will show a video explaining the system. The system will, of course, also come with detailed instructions for the caregivers.

Besides information about the robot, the screen should also show the time, both when a reminder is active and when no reminder is active. Additionally, it should show the next upcoming reminder, so that the person with dementia can choose to already complete it earlier, should they want to.

Play

When not giving reminders, the robot should behave like an animal pet, so that the person with dementia can play with it. It should react to touch and make animal sounds. It could also react to its own name, and play with toys.

3.6. Setting Reminders

The reminders in the system are set by the informal caregiver of the person with dementia. This is done through a phone application, as this gives the caregiver the option to set reminders even when they are away. This also allows them to later check up on the person with dementia to see if they have completed the reminders. The caregiver has several options when creating a reminder. A prototype of the user interface of this application is presented in Chapter 5.

To clear up the concept of a reminder, an ontology was made. This ontology encapsulates different components of a reminder within this system, including the connection between these components. The ontology can be seen in Figure 3.3. Components with a gray background are explicitly set by the caregiver during creation, while components with a white background change while the system is in use. Some of these white components can be estimated by the system, and are used to schedule future reminders at an appropriate time in within the time window. The context conditions are both set manually and learned by the system. This will be explained further in Section 3.10.

Some important aspects of the reminder are, first and foremost, the task that the reminder is for. Besides this, there are a few general settings. These are the location, urgency, and category. The reminder comes with a time window, defined by its start and end. The reminder should be given somewhere within this time. For example, a call to the doctor could be done anywhere between nine and five, and lunch should be somewhere between twelve and one. Of course, calling the doctor does not actually take the full eight hours. The caregiver gives an estimate of the duration of the task, which is used for scheduling when within the timeframe the reminder should be sent. This estimate can also be changed by the system, if the caregivers estimate proves not very accurate.

Besides reminders with a given timeframe, the system also supports event-based reminders, like those discussed in Section 2.2. These reminders do not have a time element, but rely only on context



Figure 3.3: Ontology for Time-Based Reminders.

rules. Useful examples are a reminder to turn the stove off when it was accidentally left on, and a reminder to take your keys when leaving the house. The ontology of these types of reminders is simpler, and can be found in Figure 3.4.

While of course every user is different, many activities of daily living are useful for everyone. That is why I propose using a set of predetermined reminders that can be chosen by the caregiver. This allows caregivers to spend less time setting up basic reminders, reduces the chance of errors in reminder creation, and allows for us to create custom interactions for some common reminders.

Finally, let's discuss the possibility of the people with dementia adding reminders themselves. Ideally, this is something that should be possible. It would allow for a greater degree of *autonomy* and *participation*, two important values for the system. However, the users with dementia may set reminders for themselves that have little use, may set the same reminder on multiple times in the same day, or may set a time frame and context conditions that are not in line with the reminder. These potentially lower-quality reminders may decrease the level of *care* and could, in some circumstances, lead to lower *safety*. It may be possible for these reminders to be verified by the caregivers through the phone application, but this could lead to an increased workload again.

Even if we ignore the issue of low-quality reminders, the implementation of this idea is easier said than done. Even without some of the advanced options in reminder creation, it is difficult to conceive of a good way for the users with dementia to enter reminders. A simplified version of the creation screen, perhaps placed on one of the screens in the house, may be an option, but this still expects a level of computer literacy that people with dementia sadly may not have. Using voice controls instead would not make it much better, as there would have to be a multistep process where the different aspects of a reminder are asked.

For now, I believe it is best if the users with dementia cannot set reminders themselves. Of course, it is still possible for the caregiver and the person with dementia to create reminders together. This should still increase the users' sense of *autonomy* and *participation*.



Figure 3.4: Ontology for Event-Based Reminders.

3.7. Receiving Reminders

To convey the reminder to the person with dementia, several options have been explored. For example, the robot could speak, either by text-to-speech or by using recordings of caretakers, similar to the video recordings used by O'Neill et al. [31]. Benefits here include the fact that the user does not have to read and the fact that the system is contained to the robot. A possible drawback would be that talking may not be expected behavior from an animal-like robot like the MiRo, and could thus seem unnatural. Furthermore, text-to-speech might not be heard correctly, and it is difficult to go back and check what the reminder was for, the robot would have to say the reminder again.

Another option could be to incorporate a secondary reminder system, like a screen, similar to the eink sticky notes used by Fixl et al. [30]. Here, the robot would prompt the user to read the text on screen. This screen could also be used to confirm the reminder if this cannot be done differently. This would, however, make the system not contained to the single device. Finally, a connected Internet of Things (IoT) solution could work for some types of reminders. If, for example, the user needs to call their doctor, this solution would preselect the doctor on the phone when the robot reminds the user. This could also have the benefit of automatically determining whether this reminder was completed. However, this would require extra development time, would require the user to own certain smart devices, and would put an extra burden on the caregiver of inputting what exactly the reminder should do in the system.

Considering the benefits and drawbacks discussed before, screens provide the clearest way of showing information that is most certain to be understood, and can be viewed again later. It also grants the option of additional functionality, like showing the current time or even a calendar, which may be able to help the user even when no reminder is being shown. The use of IoT devices is also a worthy addition. It would cost extra development and setup time, but adds clear benefits in the ease in which some tasks can be completed. IoT solutions are also used in detecting whether tasks are completed, discussed in Section 3.8, and in the use of context to give reminders at an appropriate time, discussed in Section 3.10.

At first, I conceived the system working without any speaking, as I found the added benefit of easier information not worth it compared to the unnaturalness of an animal-like robot speaking, the chance of not hearing the robot, and missing the option to go back to read the reminder again. However, in the first design workshop (see Chapter 6), the participants, who were professional caregivers, did not find

the unnaturalness a concern. In the final version of the system, the robot does speak. The problems of not hearing the robot and not being able to go back remain relevant, however. For this reason, the screens are still used, and the robot verbally tells the user to follow it and to look at the screen. This has all the benefits of the screen-based system, while also making the interactions of following the robot and looking at the screen more clear. More on the interaction with the robot can be seen in Section 3.9.

3.8. Completing Reminders

When a certain task is completed, the system should know about this, and mark the reminder as completed. If a task was completed *before* the reminder was given, the system should ideally know this, so that it can forgo giving this reminder. When a reminder *is* given, the system should know whether the related task was completed. If it was, it can notify the caregiver if they selected this option. If it was not completed, the system could try to give a reminder again, depending on the situation.

I envision two ways the completion could be registered. It could either be detected automatically, or be inputted by the person with dementia. The automatic approach is achievable using sensors and other technology integrations. The manual confirmation could be done through the robot, but I believe the screen is a more appropriate choice. Asking the user with dementia to speak to the robot could cause problems with the speech not being heard or understood by one party. Asking the user to touch the robot on a certain spot on the robot is not an intuitive way of telling it you have completed the task.

Manual confirmation has some major drawbacks when it comes to reliability. Someone with dementia may forget to confirm the reminder on the screen after having done it. When a reminder is given but the task was never completed, the system should try to give the reminder again at a later time. This could lead to a reminder being completed twice, which could lead to dangerous situations when it comes to some reminders, like taking medicine. Alternatively, the user may have completed the task before the reminder was given. The screen shows an option for "already completed", but the user may forget they have already completed it before. This could also lead to a reminder being completed twice. Having the "already completed" option comes with another problem: the user may mistakenly believe they have already completed the task, while this is not true. This would cause the system to believe it was done.

Perhaps the automatic approach is more fitting, then? With sensors and technology integrations around the house, the system can detect whether some reminders were completed. Placing cameras would further increase the possibilities of completion detection. Still, the automatic approach comes with drawbacks too. Not every detection method will be equally reliable. While detecting whether someone has showered can be done reliably with a water flow sensor in the shower, the same cannot be said about a similar sensor in the sink for detecting whether someone drank water: they might have turned on the faucet to wash their hands. Table 3.1 shows a few reminders with possible detection methods, along with an estimate of the reliability of these detection methods. The detection may differ depending on whether the task was completed before or after the reminder. The user may open the fridge door several times during the day, so this information is not enough to know whether they have had a meal. However, if they open the fridge shortly after receiving a reminder to have a meal, it is more reasonable to assume they opened the fridge for the purpose of completing this task.

Besides the reliability, the automatic approach has another clear drawback. All these different sensors need to be installed in the house and be linked up to the correct reminder. This would cost extra time for the caregiver, and can lead to human errors. This problem is mitigated by the fact that many reminders should happen more than once, and that many sensors have a simple setup. Setting up the shower sensor and related reminder only needs to be done once, and consists of simply screwing on the water flow sensor and telling the system this is for the "take shower" reminder. Because many activities of daily living are common between many or all users, some sensor-reminder links can be presented as presets. The reliability of these can be determined by the developers. This would mean that a water flow sensor placed on the sink would not automatically mark the reminder to drink water as completed when the sink is used without a reminder, while a similar sensor in the shower is

Reminder	Detection	Reliability (before)	Reliability (after)
Take shower	Sensor in shower	High	High
Call person	Connection with phone	High	High
Take medicine	Connection with smart pill dispenser	Medium-High ¹	Medium-High
Have meal	RFID tags on food containers	Medium-High	Medium-High
"	Sensor on fridge door	Low ²	Medium ³
Drink water	Sensor at sink	None	Medium

 Table 3.1: Different reminders with a possible detection method and an estimate of the reliability of these detection methods, both for before and after a reminder was given.

enough evidence of completion.

Both the manual and automatic methods suffer from reliability issues in their own way. For this reason, I have chosen a hybrid approach. Whenever sensors are available and reliable, they should be used for completion detection. When sensors are unreliable or not available, the screen should have buttons to manually confirm the completion of reminders, with an option for "done", "already done", and "not now", which would send the reminder later. It cannot always be certain whether a certain task was completed or not. This is a significant drawback of the system, but one I believe cannot be solved completely. One way to mitigate this problem is to keep the caregiver in the loop. They could, when needed, check up on the person with dementia if an important task, like eating a meal or taking medicine, remains uncompleted. Feedback to the caregiver will be discussed in Section 3.11.

The goal of a reminder is to make sure important tasks are not forgotten. The decision of whether or not to actually complete the task, is up to the person with dementia. To this end, I propose the using the priority of the reminder to see if reminders should be sent again. First, reminders of high priority should always be attempted again until completion. Tasks like taking medicine and turning the stove off could be high priority reminders. For safety reasons, it is important these are always completed. Medium priority reminders should be retried again. The user may not feel like eating now, but perhaps some time later they may. However, unlike high priority reminders, it is acceptable to stop trying if it is clear the user does not want to complete the task. This could be after one to a few attempts. Low priority reminders are the least important. For example, it is fine if the user does not exercise if they do not feel like it, attempting to give the reminder again is not necessary. The caregiver can see which reminders were completed, and can get insights on which reminders are usually ignored. They can use this to change the timing of the reminder, and to talk to their loved one with dementia to ask why they usually ignore it. This will be discussed further in Section 3.11.

3.9. Robot Interaction

As discussed in Section 2.3.3, an effective way to show that a robot is trying to interrupt you is by moving and stopping at an appropriate place [54]. However, this should be done non-erratically, as that was found to be associated with emergencies. The robot should move towards the user, and stop at an appropriate distance. While not the main components for interruption, sound can still be a useful addition [54]. MiRo has built-in sounds, to which an emotion can be set. These sounds could help get the user's attention during the approach. To make it clear what the user should do, the robot will verbally ask the user to follow it after it has been noticed. This was added after advice from caregivers participating in the workshop (See Chapter 6). They thought that, while the approach would likely get the user's attention, it may not be clear what to do next. Asking the user to follow them adds this clarity.

The robot should then guide the user to a specified location. It should know whether the user is actually following it, so that it can go back to try to get their attention again if needed. This is easier

¹ It would be certain that a pill was taken from the pill dispenser, not necessarily that it has been taken.

²Opening the fridge at a arbritrary point in the day is not an indicator for having a meal. Opening the fridge at an appropriate time, e.g., lunchtime, may be a more reasonable indication.

³Opening the fridge right after a reminder to have a meal is likely to be related to this meal.

said than done, as MiRo does not have cameras on its back. Instead, it will have to occasionally look back to see if the user is following. If not, the user should be approached again similarly to the initial interruption. When the robot and user arrive at the screen together, the robot will verbally tell the user to look at the screen, for similar reasons as discussed in the previous paragraph.

This procedure works if the user is currently engaged with something else. If the user is currently already playing with the robot, in its role as a general robotic pet, the interaction works differently. The attention is already there, so all it has to do is verbally tell the user that it now has a reminder for them. The guiding works the same as before.

3.9.1. Interaction Design Patterns

While so far we have been talking about the pet-shaped MiRo robot, this section generalizes two important interactions to be appropriate for different types of robots. For this section, I am assuming the robot that could use these design patterns has access to movement and sound as mediums. I am also assuming that the robot has some way of facing certain directions.

Getting Attention

The first obvious way of getting someone's attention would be sound, if available. In the case of the MiRo robot, an animal sounds fits in its design language, and would likely grab someone's attention. A humanoid robot should interrupt similarly to a human, it could for example say "excuse me" to get a person's attention. Saulnier et al. [54] show that movement and proximity are the most important non-verbal factors when it comes to interrupting someone. Forgoing sound and using only movement and proximity would still get the idea of an interruption across, but it is possible the person does not notice the robot if it is behind them.

Drawing Attention to Something

The robot should look at the object it is trying to draw the user's attention to. Gaze is an important factor in communication. Mutlu et al. [73] show that gaze cues can help humans know which object a robot is referring to. It could also move closer to the direction, and perhaps make sounds at it. To show that the user should be the one paying attention, the robot could look at the user, and then look at the object. If the robot has arms, it could also point at a place. If the robot can speak, it could also tell the user where to look, in addition to gaze and direction.

3.10. Contextual and Personalized Reminders

Giving reminders at the wrong time can cause stress [26] and interfere with task performance [27]. For this reason, it is important that reminders are sent at the right time. What the "right time" means may differ per person. This section presents two ways reminders take context into account. The first is through rules set by caregivers, described in Section 3.10.1, and the second is the precise scheduling of a reminder within its specified time frame using a heuristic, described in Section 3.10.2.

3.10.1. Rule-Based Contextual Reminders

In Section 2.2.2, I discussed two main ways to handle the planning of contextual and personalized reminders. The first is through manually entered rules, where the caregiver would program in certain conditions that have to be met for the reminder to be triggered. While this allows for greater precision, setting up the rules can be quite complex and prone to human error. The second approach is automatic, for example using machine learning with sensor data as input. This is easier on the caregiver and less prone to human error, but allows for less precise control, requires a dataset, and could lead to strange situations.

For this system, the more precise control gained by a manual rule-based approach is valuable. The imprecise nature of the automatic approach could lead to confusing situations, like asking a user to shower when a visitor is in the building, and would require either a dataset to start with, or would require learning about the user, which would mean the system does not work well when it is first used.

When using a manual rule-based approach, the next question becomes: who sets the rules? Here, we find another clash of values of the caregivers. While the developers of the system creating rules that the caregivers could choose from would be the safe, as they have time and knowledge to test the rules extensively, it takes away some autonomy from the caregivers. Giving them more control allows them to tailor the rules more to the specific needs of the person with dementia they are caring for. While giving more freedom to the informal caregivers to create their own complex rules would be ideal, giving them full freedom to create complex rules seems too risky. Instead, the system allows them to select multiple rules, like "no visitors" or "not busy", which all have to hold before the reminder can be sent. They will also be able to select whether the rule is strict or a preference. Strict rules will never be broken, while preference rules may be dropped if it is otherwise unlikely the reminder will ever be completed.

3.10.2. Precise Scheduling of Reminders Using a Heuristic

While the rule-based approach discussed in the previous section determines whether a reminder can be sent or not, it says nothing about when *exactly* within a certain timeframe it is sent. There may be situations where two reminders could both be sent, which one should then be sent first? If the reminder is high-priority, the answer is clear, but what about medium- and low-priority reminders?

Du et al. [24] sort their reminders based first on priority, then on distance to the deadline. This is a good heuristic: the most important reminders are more certain to be completed, and reminders with a deadline further in the future have a higher chance of their prerequisites to be satisfied again at a later time. This approach, however, is not perfect — it is just a heuristic, after all. Take Figure 3.5 for example. There are two tasks with an equal priority, one with a close deadline, and one with a far deadline. The task with a close deadline has very lax prerequisite rules, but the one with the further deadline has strict rules. Du et al.'s [24] method would schedule the task with the earlier deadline first. In this situation, however, it would be beneficial to schedule the later task first. The strict prerequisites of the later task may not all align perfectly anymore in the future — this could be the last chance of completing it!



Figure 3.5: An example of two tasks where deciding which one to choose may be difficult.

Should we want to make this decision in a smarter way, there are a few things the system should know. The ontology in Figure 3.3 shows which aspects go into a reminder. Some of these will be defined by the caregiver, but some can be learned. First, there is the duration of tasks. It might be beneficial to squeeze in a quick task before a long one, to make sure both are completed if any unexpected delays happen. As many tasks will be performed often, some even daily, the average time one particular user takes can be derived over time. Then, as mentioned before, there is the possibility of some sets of prerequisites triggering only rarely, while others may be true almost the whole day. This information, too, can be learned. The system should store at which time of day which rules hold. Finally, task completion can be used as a useful scheduling tool. If someone usually ignores a reminder around a specific time of day or when doing a specific different activity, it may be useful to postpone the reminder, as it has a higher chance of not being ignored in the future.

After storing the aggregate data of the duration, prerequisite satisfaction, and acceptance context, the system should decide on a specific time. This part of the system still requires experimentation, as

it is difficult to test without real data or without having people use the system for multiple days. As a first version of the system, I propose a heuristic approach. Du et al. [24] have the right idea sorting on priority first. A high priority reminder should be sent out as soon as possible, as there is a chance they may not be able to be sent anymore later. Medium priority reminders should be sent before low priority reminders, all else being equal. However, if a low priority reminder has a deadline coming up soon, while the medium priority reminder still has plenty of time left, perhaps the low one should be sent first.

My proposal is to give each reminder a *priority score*. This will be a weighted sum of the aspects previously mentioned, namely time away from the deadline (minus the duration, it should be finished before the deadline), whether the reminder is low or medium priority, whether there are any contextual preference rules active, the probability that the prerequisites will be active again in the future, and the probability that the reminder will be completed now given the current time and the user's current activity and context. The first three aspects require no calculation, but the two probabilities do. I would try a simple probability calculation using past data, but for the first few days and weeks a certain user uses the system, there may not be enough data yet to calculate the probability accurately. In that case, relying on only the priority and distance to the deadline, like Du et al. [24] do, still provides a useful heuristic, which can be applied while the system learns more about the preferences of this specific user. The exact weights in this function should be decided after experimentation, and could even be altered per user.

Some users may have particularly strong preferences about some times they do not want to be interrupted. If someone always watches a certain TV show at a certain time, and always ignore reminders during that time, the weighted heuristic function will automatically take this into consideration, but that may not be enough. If the probability of reminders being ignored in a given context or a certain time is consistently high, it will be added automatically as a preference rule (so not a strict rule). This is also communicated to the caregiver, if they see that the user often ignores reminders while watching a certain TV show, they can decide to reschedule reminders around the show's time, or can decide to add the rule as a manual rule, meaning they can apply it — as a strict or a preference rule — to reminders of their choice. Reminders with a high priority ignore this system.

3.11. Feedback to Caregiver

Keeping the informal caregiver in the loop is an important aspect of helping them with their stress. When they are out of the house, they can rest assured knowing that their loved one is doing the important things they need to do. There are three ways in which the caregiver is notified. First, they have access to an overview page at any time. This allows them to see which reminders of the day have been completed. On reminder creation, they also have the option to get notified when a task is completed. This is done through their phones' push notifications, and is the second way they can get notified. The third and final way is through notifications when selected reminders were *not* completed within their time frame. This allows them to check up themselves.

The second important way the caregivers are kept in the loop is triggered when an emergency is detected. For example, if the person with dementia might have a bad fall. The caregiver, and perhaps the emergency services, will be notified. Ideally, this is done through a phone call instead of a push notification, as this is more noticeable, and less likely to get blocked by any do-not-disturb features on the caregiver's phone. This would also allow the caregiver to talk to the person with dementia, for example through the speakers of the robot. This would allow them to confirm the emergency, and ascertain how bad it is. During an emergency, it is important that the person with dementia knows that help is on its way. This way, they are less likely to hurt themselves when trying to get out of the situation.

The final way caregivers are kept in the loop, is through information about recurring reminders and contextual rules. This information can be used to get insights about the reminders, which would allow them to reschedule them in a way that would improve their effectiveness. This is done in two ways, for recurring reminders and for smart contextual rules. The recurring reminder view shows a list of all reminders that occur on a repeating schedule. It shows the caregiver whether these reminders are

usually completed or not, and whether the reminder is usually necessary. Per recurring reminder, it is visible which days tasks were completed before the reminder, when they were completed after the reminder, when they were not completed, and when the reminder was unable to be sent. Reminder that are consistently missed can be rescheduled, and reminders that are consistently completed before the reminder was given could be removed.

The caregiver also has access to an overview of the contextual rules. Rules that often cause reminders to not be sent or cause major delays are highlighted, as they may be too strictly applied. It may be worth removing the rule from some reminders, or rescheduling the reminder to a different time. Per contextual rules, a calendar overview is shown, which shows on which days the rule caused no problems, major delays, and on which days a rule caused a reminder to not be sent. It also shows per reminder how often it caused delays or caused it to not be sent. This way, it is possible to narrow down which rule and which reminder is causing problems.

3.12. Storyboards

In order to show several features of the concept to the participants of the workshop, storyboards have been made. These storyboards show the interaction and the flow of these features. These storyboards were also used during the workshop.

Figure 3.6 shows a storyboard of one of the main features: the completing of reminders. It shows one of the personas, Robert, getting a reminder to drink water. He completes this task, and confirms it as completed on the screen. It also shows two other scenarios: one where Robert did not mark the reminder as completed, so he is prompted again to confirm, and one where sensors are used to detect the completion of reminders.

Storyboards for contextual reminders, personalized reminders, rule-based reminders, feedback to caregivers, and help and information can be found in Appendix B. The storyboards used in the work-shop were presented in Dutch. These versions can be found in appendix C.2.



Figure 3.6: Storyboard for completing reminders

4

Robot Prototype

To show people with dementia and caregivers the ideas and interaction described in the previous chapter, a high-fidelity prototype was made. This prototype uses the MiRo-E robot, and will be used in both the workshop with caregivers and the workshop with people with dementia. Broadly, the proto-type does the following: it first drives towards the participant, prompts them to follow, guides them to a screen, and occasionally checks if they are following. The robot can also introduce itself. During the workshop, this will be done before the main part of the prototype is demonstrated.

The prototype was developed using an iterative technique. Because the lab in which the robot could be used was not always available, and because other thesis work unrelated to the prototype were done in parallel to development, a sprint-based system like Scrum [74] would not be an appropriate choice (besides, Scrum is aimed at development teams while the prototype was made by myself only). Instead, I used a kanban board, a method inspired by a process in the Japanese car manufacturing industry [75], to keep track of open issues, both features still to be implemented and bugs or improvements that should be fixed or added to the code. This allowed me to easily add features to the backlog for later implementation, and allowed me to program at times most suitable for me, without having the strictness of sprint deadlines.

The prototype is high-fidelity, showing the core interaction. This was done in order to give the participants of the workshop a clear feeling of what the robot would behave like. This way, their feedback could be more specific than the feedback they might have given with a lower fidelity prototype. The prototype is not a fully functional system, however. While more advanced features, like better spatial awareness for pathfinding, could have been added, this would not have achieved much additional feedback in the workshop. Further development would not have been worth it, as the extra development time would result in diminishing returns.

As I wanted to show complete interaction with the robot at the workshop, the whole interaction should not take more than a couple of minutes. Because of this short interaction, testing the robot manually after each added feature was feasible. I wrote down a set of test cases to perform manually every time a new feature was implemented, to try to ensure the additions did not break anything.

The final code of the prototype can be found on the EEMCS GitLab instance here: https://gitlab. ewi.tudelft.nl/in5000/ii/robotic-reminder-system-for-people-with-dementia.

4.1. The MiRo-E Robot

This section will go over the built-in features of the MiRo-E robot. Both its input and output methods will be described, and the different ways of programming for the robot are explained.

MiRo has two cameras available, one in each eye. The cameras have a large depth of field and auto-exposure. The possible resolutions are 180, 240, 360, and 720 in height, with both a 4:3 and 16:9

aspect ratio available. The two cameras have an overlap of 60 degrees, which means that 60 degrees of vision is seen in both eyes. The robot has two main microphones, one in each ear for spatial sound, and two additional microphones in its head and tail to filter out sounds made by the robot itself. MiRo has a single sonar sensor in its nose with a range of approximately thirty centimeters, allowing it to tell whether an object is in front of it. MiRo also has two cliff sensors, one on each corner at the front, which are on by default. If MiRo gets a command to drive forward off a cliff, it will refuse. It has four light sensors, one on each corner, that can aid in navigation further. Finally, it has 28 touch sensors spread around its head and body.

Not all these sensors are equally reliable. When testing the robot myself, I found that MiRo refused to drive on some surfaces, like carpets and glossy tabletops, because they set off the cliff sensors. The robot also does not have cliff sensors on the back or sides, meaning that when the robot drives backwards or spins while on a table, it might still fall off. I found that since it wrongly detects some surfaces as cliffs, and since it needs supervision anyway when near a real cliff to make sure it does not drive off backwards, it made sense to disable the cliff sensors. The final prototype also does not make use of the sonar sensor, microphones, light sensors, and touch sensors, either because they seemed not reliable enough, or because they were simply not needed.

The MiRo has several ways to express itself. First, there is movement. It can drive and rotate, move its head up and down, angle its head in two directions, turn its ears, close its eyelids, and wag its tail in four directions. It can also make sounds in two ways. Firstly, it can play audio files. Secondly, it has a built-in emotional sound system. It allows you to set the emotions through the level of valence (displeasure-pleasure) and arousal (deactivation-activation), based on Russell's circumplex model of emotions [76]. This model models emotion on these two axes. For example excited and angry both have a high arousal, while having opposite valence values (excited is pleasure, angry is displeasure), while depressed and relaxed are both low arousal emotions, again with opposite valence values. The robot will then make sounds based on these values that, in my opinion, can be best described as "robotic generic animal sounds," sounding not quite like any specific animal. The emotion settings seem to be conveyed through the pitch and speed of the sounds, with positive emotions (high valence) being higher pitched than negative ones, and high arousal values being faster than low arousal emotions.

Programming MiRo can be done in several ways: on-board, off-board, in the simulator, and using block code. The first three are all programmed using the ROS (robot operating system) software framework, while the block code uses Consequential Robotics's, MiRo's creators, own system. The block code style does not offer the full capabilities provided the ROS interface, using it for a complex prototype like this one is outside the scope of its capabilities. As the MiRo's cameras play an important role in the prototype, using the simulator during development was not possible, as the simulated cameras provide an image of a rendered 3D environment while the system should be usable in a real situation. Then there was the question of whether to run the code on the robot itself (on-board) or on a computer (off-board). The system needs to perform complex calculations to detect where people are standing. Having the larger computation power and dedicated graphics card of the computer will speed things up significantly. For this reason, the code is executed on an external computer, and commands are sent to the MiRo robot using ROS.

4.2. Detection Through Cameras

To be able to interact with the user, the robot has to be able to find them. Several options have been tried. The first was face recognition, implemented using a Python library [77]. While the system was able to detect the faces well, it did not work when the person was far away, as the face would be too small, and it obviously did not work when the person's face was out of frame. Instead, the system detects the whole body of a person. To achieve this, I used the YOLO (You Only Look Once) [78] framework, a real-time object detection machine learning model. The name You Only Look Once comes from the fact that instead of training one model that detects objects and one model that classifies objects, YOLO uses a unified convolutional neural network that performs both steps in one pass, greatly improving its
speed [78]. More specifically, I make use of YOLOv8 [79], created by different people than the original.

If MiRo cannot see anyone, it starts spinning until it sees a person in frame. I also use the fact that the robot has two cameras, if a person is only detected in the left eye, the robot spins counter-clockwise, so towards the person, until the person also appears in the right eye. You might remember from the previous section that the overlap of the two eyes is 60 degrees, That means that when the robot stops spinning because the person is now also seen in the right eye, they are not yet perfectly centered. Luckily, YOLO is not just able to detect if people are in frame, it also gives you the position of several limbs and other body parts, as seen in Figure 4.1. By taking the average x-position of all points, we are able to see where in the frame the person is standing. This is used to center the robots' rotation on the person more precisely. This information is also used to make the robot look at the person's head, by taking the position of the person's nose and moving the robot's head so that the nose is as close to the center of the frame as possible.



Figure 4.1: Pose Detection

One useful feature of YOLOv8 [79] is that it still gives a position of certain body parts even if they are out of the frame of the camera. If the camera is looking only at the person's legs and lower torso, it will still give a position for the head, namely the (around) the highest point in the picture. This way, the robot's head still moves up to look at the person's face, even if their face is not visible (yet).

The robot should also detect how close the person is, to see if it should drive forward or stop. This is done by calculating the size of the bounding box around the person's torso. While this is not an exact distance measure, I determined a size at which the robot is a reasonable distance away from the person. While this is sensitive to the person and how exactly they are standing, in my testing I found that the distance was always reasonable.

All of this assumes there is only one person visible, while during the workshops, there will be more people in the room. To solve this problem, the system needs to know who is the actual user and who are not relevant. While a tracking or detection system would solve this well, there is a simpler solution: disregarding people that are sitting down. By asking all other people in the room to sit, the system will know that the one standing person should be the one to pay attention to. It detects who is sitting and standing by checking the relative positions of the knees and the hips. While not a flawless way to determine this, it does work well enough for the purposes of the prototype.

Besides detecting and driving towards people, the robot also needs to be able to drive towards certain locations. In a perfect world, I would use a complex navigation system, for example using depth cameras [80, 81] or stereo cameras [82, 83]. While the MiRo does come with stereo cameras, a quick

look at these papers reveals their complexity and a lot of challenging math¹. While implementing this may be possible, it would be very time-consuming, and given the scope of this project and single-room setting the workshop will take place in, I decided a simpler approach would be better suited, being faster to implement but just as valuable for the purposes of getting feedback during the workshop. Instead, the robot navigates using a QR code. This QR code is placed at the robot's eye level, directly below the reminder screen. The robot finds the QR code and drives towards it, similarly to how it finds and drives towards the person. Once again, YOLOv8 is used, this time with a Python library specifically designed for QR codes, QReader [84]. The library finds any QR code and gives the location and bounding box. Centering the QR code and determining its distance is done in the same way as it was done for humans, described earlier. To make detection easier, a micro QR code [85] is used instead of a regular QR code. While QReader used [84] cannot *decode* the micro QR codes, it does *detect* them and can give their location in the frame. For this prototype, knowing that there is a QR code and knowing where it is located is enough, the information encoded in it is irrelevant.

One major problem arose with the QR code system. When the robot was spinning to try to find the QR code, it was often unable to detect it due to the motion blur of spinning. This was not a problem for finding people, likely due to the fact that humans are larger² and the fact that a slightly blurry human is still detectable as a human, while a slightly blurry QR code might also be some other dots that are not arranged in the actual shape of a QR code. Reducing the spinning speed solved the problem, but this made the motion of finding the QR code very slow, taking about 12 seconds to rotate 180 degrees at a speed where detection was possible. I tried several image processing techniques, such as changing the contrast, printing the QR code in a certain color and only using that channel, and reducing motion blur using a Wiener filter, as done by for example Zhang et al. [86]. Sadly, none of these seemed to solve the problem. In the end, I decided on a work-around. The QR code is printed on a piece of paper in a very bright pink color. The robot spins around at its regular (fast) speed, but when it sees a lot of this specific hue of pink, its speed is reduced. At this reduced speed, the motion blur is reduced, and the QR code can be properly centered at the slower speed. This method requires some tweaking when moving the robot to a new location, as the lighting conditions of the room affect the perceived hue of the QR code. It also relies on the hope that there are no other bright pink objects in the room. A different color could be chosen if that is the case, but in the worst-case scenario where the color detection does not work for any reason, the system can easily be set up to turn slowly.

4.3. Robot Behavior and Movement

This section will go over the behavior of the robot, more specifically the different states the robot can be in, the way movement is handled, and the ways the robot expresses emotion.

The robot makes use of a simple state machine to determine its behavior. There are three states, approaching the user, guiding them to a location, and checking if they are following³. The system starts with approaching the user. After the robot is close to the user for two seconds, it switches to guiding the user. After guiding them for eight seconds, the robot switches to checking if the user is following them. It spins around, and if it still sees the person, it goes back to guiding. Getting the attention of the user is done mostly through proximity and movement towards the user, with the addition of sound, following Saulnier et al.'s [54] recommendations for robot interruptions.

The different detection systems, like detecting the pose and QR codes, are not perfect. They occasionally fail to detect something, or think they detected something that was not actually there. This usually happens for a single frame, and is often solved again the next frame. In the first implementation of the system, the robot would come to a complete stop for a few milliseconds the moment it lost the person, and would continue driving at full speed when it saw them again. This made the robot's movement jerky and jittery. To solve this, most movement operations are "smoothed." Instead of setting the

¹A long look reveals even more complexity and even more math...

²Of course, this depends on how far away the human is, but given that the system is used indoors, there's only so far away the person can reasonably go without ending up outside.

³During the workshops, this state was never active, as the distance the user had to walk with the robot was quite small.

driving speed to the maximum or to zero whenever a person is seen or not seen retrospectively, it increases or decreases the speed slightly, capped between the maximum speed and zero. The same is done with spinning, capped between the maximum speed clockwise and counter-clockwise, and with the head movement towards the face of the user, where the robot's head moves towards the target height of the user's head position, or to the middle if the user is not seen. It is also done to make the tail movement more smooth. A small decrease in speed for a few milliseconds is not noticeable, removing the jerky movement.

When you tell MiRo to drive forward, it does not always drive in a perfect line, it might end up a bit to the right or left as well. Additionally, if the user moves while the robot is driving towards them, the robot needs to both spin and drive forward. Doing both at the same time is problematic, as it does not always do what you would want it to do. To solve both these issues, the robot "hones in" on the target (which could be the user or the QR code). The robot first spins to put the target in the center. It then drives forward for two seconds. Even if in this time the target shifts (slightly) out of the center, it keeps driving forward. After the two seconds, it spins again to center the target, and hones in for another two seconds. This ensures that the robot does not spin and drive at the same time and that it does not deviate from its path to the target. If during the honing, the robot is close enough to the target, it stops driving as to not run into the target.

Besides the behaviors related to driving and head movement, the robot also has other ways of expressing itself. If the robot sees the person when approaching or if it is guiding them to the screen, the robot wags its tail to show excitement. The robot also has two ways of making sound. Firstly, it can say things. It says "follow me"⁴ when starting the guiding, to make its purpose more understandable, and says "look at the screen"⁵ when it arrives at the location, to tell the user what to do next. It also introduces itself with the line "Hello, I am MiRo. I am a robot that can help you remember important daily things, like eating, taking your medicine, or drinking water. Sometimes I will come to you, please follow me and I will show you what to do."⁶ The second way the robot can make sound is by using the emotional sound system from the MiRo, as described in Section 4.1. It makes excited sounds (high valence, high arousal, see [76]) if it is close to the person or QR code, to help get attention. It also makes sad sounds (low valence, medium arousal) when it lost the person and has not seen them in a while, and makes a short excited sound was added to help the user notice the robot earlier if they are currently engaged in something else.

4.4. Robot System Architecture

The MiRo robot makes use of the ROS (robot operating system) [87] software framework. This framework allows for easy communication between the robot and a computer. The robot *publishes* the data it gathers, such as the cameras and other sensors, to *topics*. The computer running the code can *subscribe* to these data streams, and then process the data. Conversely, the software running on the computer can publish commands to the robot, such as giving the driving speed, the position of the tail, or a stream of audio to play.

One potential problem with this system is that some complex operations, such as processing the position of the body as described in Section 4.2, take a lot of time. Running these operations in the same program as controlling the movement would make the robot's motions jittery and unpredictable. Take for example wagging the tail, if the robot wants to show that it is happy or excited, it should wag it smoothly by sending the angle of the tail (from negative thirty to thirty degrees, zero degrees being straight ahead). Processing the camera data will stop the software from sending the data as often. The tail might then jump from a ten degrees to twenty degrees immediately, without ever going through eleven, twelve, etc.

⁴Dutch:"volg mij"

⁵Dutch: "kijk op het scherm"

⁶Dutch: "Hallo, ik ben MiRo. Ik ben een robot die u kan helpen met het onthouden van belangrijke dagelijkse dingen, zoals eten, uw medicijnen innemen of water drinken. Soms kom ik naar u toe, volg mij dan, dan zal ik u laten zien wat u moet doen."

To solve this problem, I make use of a microservice architecture. Microservices are pieces of software that work autonomously on a small task, which work together to create a complex system [88]. By splitting the complex tasks off into separate programs, the main system can run smoothly. In total, I split off three tasks into separate microservices: Pose detection, QR detection, both because of their computational complexity, and playing audio through the MiRo speakers, because large files require a constant stream with precise timing, and because this can be computationally complex if the file still needs to be processed⁷. Figure 4.2 shows a schematic overview of the robot's system architecture.



Figure 4.2: The robot's system architecture. Arrows represent publications and subscriptions to ROS topics, and move from the publisher to the subscriber.

Now, there would have been other ways to solve the before mentioned problem. For example, the computationally intensive parts could have been performed in separate threads. There are however other benefits to the microservice method. Firstly, it makes the code more understandable. Instead of having one large program taking care of everything, there are several smaller programs, each cohesive in its functionality and easier to understand. The modular approach also helps with extensibility. If a future developer, or even myself, wants to make changes in the code, they only have to change one part and can rest assured that their changes will not break other parts of the codebase. Finally, microservices can easily be reused. If someone wants to make a different system using the MiRo robot that also relies on detecting people, they can reuse (large parts of) the pose detection service⁸.

Within the client code, which takes care of all the robot's output except playing audio files, the code can be structured in two ways: based on state and based on function. Originally, I structured it based on state. This caused a lot of code duplication, as some behavior, like driving or wagging the tail, is shared between several states. The code is thus structured by function. If you want to, say, add sad sounds whenever the robot is checking if the user is following, but cannot find them and has been looking for at least two seconds, you can add a single if-statement to the part of the code that takes care of sound, which on its own is easy to understand without familiarity of the rest of the codebase, consisting of only around fifteen lines of code.

⁷Fortunately, this processing only needs to be done once, as the processed data are cached for later use.

⁸In fact, I have already sent the code to colleagues at Eindhoven University of Technology for an initial prototype.

5

User Interface Prototypes

This chapter will show the user interface prototypes used during the workshops. There are two prototypes: the tablet screen on which the reminders are shown, and the phone application that informal caregivers use to create and edit reminders, and to see which reminders have been completed.

The prototypes were made in several stages. First, I determined core design goals for each of the two prototypes. I then drew low-fidelity prototypes on a drawing tablet. This was done to find a good structure for the screens, and to be able to quickly create several alternatives. The final medium-fidelity prototype was made using the prototyping tool Figma¹. These prototypes were made using quick iterations: changes were made often, for example after feedback from caregivers in the first workshop. The medium-fidelity prototypes are semi-interactive, the user is able to switch between screens and open pop-ups. In most cases, the functionality inside one screen is unavailable.

As the design workshops will be in Dutch, the prototypes shown during the sessions should be Dutch too. The ones presented here in this thesis will be the English version. The Dutch versions of the storyboards can be found in appendix C.1. The English version was created first and the translation to Dutch was done by myself.

5.1. Tablet Screen Prototype

The tablet screens will be placed around the house. The user with dementia will use them to see what their current reminder is and use them to confirm reminders that cannot be confirmed automatically. When a reminder is active, it should show this reminder. When no reminder is active, it simply shows the current time and the next upcoming reminder. A version showing a full calendar was considered too, but in the end I decided this might be too complicated for people with dementia. Sticking to simply the current time and the next reminder still shows useful information, without the possibly overwhelming amount of information and buttons to press a calendar would provide.

Because the design is made for people with dementia, it should be simple, have large enough text to make reading easier, use both text and icons whenever possible, and have only a few possible actions and pieces of information presented at the same time.

Two screens were made to show off the functionality of the tablet screen: the idle and reminder screen. Both show the current time as an analog clock. The idle screen shows the next reminder, the reminder screen the current reminder with three buttons: done, already done, and not now. The prototype can be seen in Figure C.1. For the workshop with people with dementia, a simplified version of the screen that shows the reminder was used. Because the workshop consisted of a single reminder, in a context different from the real-world setting with several reminders over the course of a day, the "Already Done" and "Not Now" buttons were omitted, as can be seen in Figure C.1c.

¹https://www.figma.com/

An earlier version of this prototype had the clock only on the idle screen, with it disappearing when a reminder was shown. In the end, however, I chose to include the clock in the reminder state too. This not only creates more consistency between the two screens, it also provides the time when showing the reminder. This could help the user understand why the reminder is shown, showing a lunch reminder next to a clock which shows a time around noon contextualizes the reminder.





c) Reminder screen used during the workshop with people with dementia, with only the "Done" button visible.

Figure 5.1: The two screens of the tablet prototype.

In all different states of the screen, a question mark button is shown in the top right. This will show a short video explaining what the robot is, what it does, and what the user should do. Note that this video is not implemented in the prototype.

5.2. Caregiver App Prototype

The caregiver app is a phone application that informal caregivers have access to in order to add reminders and to keep them updated on what the person with dementia is doing. It should give the caregiver an overview of current reminders, allow them to add or edit reminders, show them which of today's reminders have been completed, and give them information about recurring reminders and contextual rules.

While this app will not be used by people with dementia, just under half of informal caregivers in the Netherlands provide care for their partner [8], who are themselves likely older adults too. This means that they may not have a lot of experience using technology, so the app should stay simple, follow a consistent design, and to accommodate mobility problems, should have buttons that are large enough. While not implemented in the current prototype, the app should also have an option to increase the text size, increase the contrast, and should be developed in a way friendly to screen-reading services.

There are two ways the caregiver can view a day's reminders. First, there is the calendar view, shown in Figure 5.2a. This view is inspired by calendar applications like Google Calendar (which of course is in turn inspired by real calendars). Unlike normal calendar apps, this system needs to show both an estimated duration and the timeframe it can be performed in. While calling a doctor, for example, only takes a few minutes, it can be done at any time between nine and five, where a half an hour lunch can be scheduled only around lunchtime. To show this, a somewhat transparent color is used to denote the time range, while a fully opaque block of the same color is used to denote the estimated duration. Color is used to denote priority, and non-reminder events (like people visiting) get a special color. The screen has a floating plus button to add reminders in the bottom right. A real application should also allow for adding reminders by dragging, though this is not possible in the prototype software used².

The second way to show all reminders is the task view, as seen in Figure 5.2b. This view is inspired by to-do lists and to-do list applications. This is a list of all reminders on a given day, with time ranges shown too. This view also shows whether tasks have been completed, missed, or not given yet. Completed reminders are marked with a check, missed reminders with a red exclamation mark, and reminders that occur multiple times in one day show how many have been completed (e.g., 1/5). Reminders that have not been sent out yet are simply an empty checkbox. The checkboxes use dotted lines to denote that the user cannot click them to complete them themselves. A pop-up could be added to make it possible for caregivers to mark reminders as completed. If a reminder is completed with the caregiver in the same room, it is reasonable for the caregiver to mark the reminder as completed.

²In fact, one of the caregivers in the workshop, discussed in Chapter 6, tried to add a reminder this way.

Today		Task	view		oday ┥ 🕨	Calendar view
Wed 25				Wed 2	5 October	Filters
07:00	akfact			V #1	Breakfast	7:30-8:30
) - 8:30				Take Medicine	8:30-9:30
10:00) - 9:30		T Drink	1/5 🖷	Drink water	9:00-17:00
11:00	0 - 17:00	Exercise 10:00-12:00	Water 9:00 - 17:00	! :	Exercise	10:00-12:00
12:00	۲۱	Lunch	5 times	0	Call Doctor	10:00-17:00
13:00	-	12.00 - 13.30		V T	Lunch	12:00-13:00
15:00					Visit from Charlie	15:00-17:00
16:00		Visit from Charlie		(1)	Dinner	17:30-19:00
17:00				≜	Shower	19:00-21:00
18:00 - 17:3	1er 0 - 19:00		·			+ Add
19:00	wer 0 - 21:00					
21:00						
22:00			+			

(a) The calendar view of today's reminders.

(b) The task view of today's reminders.

Figure 5.2: The two ways to view today's reminders.

To add a reminder, the user can tap the green plus or add button. This moves them to the reminder creation screen, shown in Figure 5.3. Here they can choose the name of the reminder, the category (e.g., food or hygiene, see Hartin et al.'s [15] list of activities of daily living), the time frame, estimated duration, location, and how often to repeat the reminder (e.g., three times per day or every Tuesday and Friday). There are also some advanced options, like priority, whether or not to notify the caregiver, which smart rules to apply³, which smart confirmation methods to use (e.g., fridge door opening), and which other tasks are prerequisites to this one (e.g., medicine only after food). These last three open up a pop-up screen, like the one seen in Figure 5.3b. These advanced options are collapsed by default, and can be opened by tapping on the text.

³Section 3.10.1 talks about being able to choose whether smart rules are applied as "strict" or "preference" rules. This feature is not shown in the prototype.

≡	
Reminder Name	Reminder Name
Shower	Shower
Category	Category
h Hygiene ▽	A Hygiene
Time Frame 19:30 ⁻ 21:45	Time Frame 19:30 ⁻ 21:45
Estimated Duration	Estimated Duration
00:30	C Smart Rules
Location	L No visitors
A Bathroom ✓	Not busy
Repeat	
Every day	Shortly after Select Task
	Not shortly after Select Task
Advanced Options	
Priority	✓Done
Notify me	Notify me
Smart Rules	Smart Rules
Smart Confirmation	Smart Confirmation
Prerequisite Tasks	Prerequisite Tasks
+ Add	+ Add

(a) The reminder creation screen. The "Advanced Options" can be expanded or hidden, and start out hidden.

(b) The reminder creation screen with an overlay to select which smart rules should be active.



In order to tailor the schedule to each user, it can be useful for the caregivers to have access to data regarding the recurring reminders. If their loved one with dementia often skips exercise, the caregiver can talk to them about it or reschedule it to a time where it may make more sense. Alternatively, if the user almost always eats breakfast before the reminder is given, the reminder may not be necessary (anymore). Figure 5.4a shows the overview of recurring reminders. Each reminder shows the name of the task, the category through the icon, how often and when it should be performed (e.g., daily, five times per day, every Tuesday), whether the reminder is usually completed, and whether the task is usually completed before or after the reminder. If the user wants more information on a specific reminder, they can use the detailed screen shown in Figure 5.4b. This shows a calendar overview with for any given day whether the reminder was completed before the reminder, after the reminder,

not completed at all, or whether the system was unable to send the reminder (for example the shower reminder might not be possible if there were visitors in the house all day).

≡									
Filters			A Shower				Daily		
🎢 Breakfast	Daily	0	Some	times sl	kipped	Usua	lly befor	e remino	der
Always completed	Usually before reminder				~	² 🗸	~	٠ ک	· 🗸
Take Medicine Always completed	Daily Usually after reminder	0	•	G	8	° X	10	" 🕑	12
🕂 Drink water	5 times per day	0	13	*	•		" `	¹⁸ ×	19
Sometimes skipped	Reminder necessary		20	21	22	23	24	25	26
Exercise	Every Tue and Thu	0	27	28	29	30	31		
Often skipped	Reminder necessary			0			a da a		
🅂 Lunch	Daily	0	C	Comple	eted ber eted afte	ore reminer	naer der		
Always completed			×	Not cor	mpleted				
T Dinner	Daily	0		Unable	to send	remind	er		
Always completed	Usually before reminder					E dit			
Shower Sometimes skipped	Daily Usually before reminder	0	<	Back		remind	er		

(a) Overview of all recurring reminders.

(b) Detailed information on one recurring reminder.

Figure 5.4: The recurring reminder screens.

Similarly to the recurring reminders, the smart rules page comes with an overview and a details page. Figure 5.5a shows the overview, which has a list of all added smart rules. If the smart rules are too strict, for example if they often cause major delays in reminders or make it impossible to send reminders, a warning shows up. An earlier version of this page had the text "Causes reminder to not be sent [sometimes/often]" instead of the simpler "possibly too strict." While the previous version showed more nuance, the text was a bit technical and not as descriptive of the actual problem: this rule is so strict, reminders are not sent because of it — you should consider applying it less strictly.

More details on major delays and inability to send reminders can be seen on Figure 5.5b through a similar calendar view as the recurring reminders. It also shows which reminders use this rule, and which suffer the most from the strictness. If a rule causes issues, it can be solved in two ways. You could either remove the rule from some reminders, or change the timing of some reminders. In the example of Figure 5.5b, the reminder to exercise often remains unsent because it cannot be performed when there are visitors. Perhaps the planned in exercise time of ten AM on a Thursday is the exact time the user's granddaughter regularly comes over for a cup of coffee. By changing the exercise time,

or allowing it across a larger time-frame, the problem could be solved. The reminder to drink water also gets delayed or remains unsent frequently, but it is worth reconsidering if the no visitors rule is relevant for this task, it can probably simply be removed.

The overview page of Figure 5.5a also shows automatic smart rules. These are rules that have been detected by the system. The user with dementia typically postpones or ignores reminders while doing the things or within the times mentioned in the smart rules. When the rules show up here, they are already active, meaning that low- and medium-priority reminders will be scheduled around them wherever possible. The caregiver can choose to remove them if they believe the rules are incorrect, or they can add them as manual rules, meaning they can decide when to apply them. The ? symbol explains this in a pop-up, shown at the bottom of the screen in Figure 5.5a.

Manual Smart Rules	No Visitors					
No Visitors Causes major delays (i)						
Not Busy Possibly too strict (i)						
Shortly after other task						
Shortly before other reminder	27 28 29 30 31					
Automatic Smart Rules Watching TV	 ✓ No problems ✓ Major delay (reminder sent at end of timeslot) ✓ Reminder unable to be sent Rule was not applied to any tasks this day Tasks Major delay Unable to send Major delay Unable to send Tasks Major delay Unable to send T Breakfast 1 0 Prink water 2 Exercise 4 Dinner 0 Shower 0 					

(a) Overview of all manual and automatic smart rules. The pop-up shown under the screen appears when pressing the (?) button.

(b) Detailed information on one smart rule.

Figure 5.5: The smart rule screens.

The final feature of the prototype worth mentioning is navigation. Each of the screens has a threeline hamburger menu icon in the upper-left corner, which opens the navigation menu shown in Figure 5.6. Here, the user can switch between the day overview, list of recurring reminders, adding a reminder, and the list of smart rules. It also shows an indicator that a new smart rule has been detected and added. The indicator will disappear when the user has seen it.

≡		endar view
Day Overview		rs
Recurring Reminders		7:30-8:30
Add Reminder		8:30-9:30
Smort Dulas	New rule	9:00-17:00
Smart Rules		10:00-12:00
		10:00-17:00
		12:00-13:00
		15:00-17:00
		17:30-19:00
		19:00-21:00
		+ Add

Figure 5.6: The menu opened over a different screen.

6

Design Workshop

In order to improve the design and prototypes and to assess the general acceptability of the system, two design workshops were held. The first was performed with a group of professional caregivers, the second with a group of people with dementia living in a care home. This chapter first describes the goals and research questions of these workshops, in Section 6.1. Following this, the structure of the workshops is discussed in Section 6.2. Section 6.3 describes how notes were taken, and Section 6.4 describes how they were analyzed. The ethics of human research and informed consent procedure are discussed in Section 6.5. The final two chapters describe the procedure, outcomes, and insights of the two workshops, the one with caregivers in Section 6.6, and the one with people with dementia in Section 6.7.

6.1. Workshop Goals

The goal of both workshops is to **improve the existing design and prototype** and to **assess the general acceptability in relation to the design goals**. During the workshops, we gather qualitative feedback to help further specify the next iteration. The changes made after the workshops will be mentioned in this chapter, but only the changes made after the first workshop with caregivers have been implemented into the robot prototype.

The research questions for the workshops are as follows:

- WRQ1: In what ways does the integration of the robot in the reminder system facilitate a more natural and intuitive interaction experience for people with dementia?
- WRQ2: How well received are some of the other features of the system, namely the completion of reminders, contextual reminders, personalized reminders, smart rules, feedback to the caregiver, and the help page?
- WRQ3: How good is the acceptability of the system, and how much would people with dementia integrate it into their lives?
- WRQ4: How well does the system solve the problems of people with dementia forgetting important tasks (problem 1), how well does it improve their quality of life (problem 2), and how well does it decrease the stress experienced by informal caregivers (problem 3)?

6.2. Workshop Structure

Both workshops are structured similarly. First, some general questions are asked. For the caregivers, I am interested in the daily structure of people with dementia, what kind of reminders would be most useful, and what technologies, like robots or reminder systems, are currently in use, and how ubiquitous they are. For the workshop with people with dementia, this stage is a bit shorter, asking about their

familiarity with robots and technology in general, and asking their first impressions of the robot prototype before the interaction.

After this, we show the demo to the participants. Before showing the robot, we explain the concept and the situation in which it will be used. The prototype of the tablet screen is placed on one side of the room. One person is asked to participate in the interaction. The robot guides them to the screen. For the workshop with people with dementia, we also ask them to complete a reminder, by putting on the screen that they should drink a glass of water. For the caregiver workshop, we also show the caregiver app prototypes. This is done when the relevant questions come up.

The final stage of each workshop is the actual design workshop. Here, we go over some of the features of the robot and system, and ask the participants for thoughts, feedback, and possible improvements. Several topics were discussed. First and foremost, we talk about the core interaction with the robot, focusing on WRQ1. We ask whether it was clear the robot tried to tell the participants something, whether it was clear it is part of a system, what they thought of the screen, and whether the robot should talk. We also ask them to think of other ways the robot could accomplish these things.

After the initial discussion about the core interaction, we go over to WRQ2, asking the participants about some specific features of the system. We do this through the use of the storyboards, which are discussed in Section 3.12 and shown in Appendix B. For each of the storyboards, we first ask whether they think this is a good idea, and what they like and dislike about it. We also ask the participants some specific questions for each storyboard. For example, for contextual reminders and rules, we are interested in what rules they would like to see.

Finally, we ask the participants some general questions about the system, aimed at answering the higher level research questions WRQ3 and WRQ4. We discuss the three goals of the system, and to what extent the system solves them. We also ask whether they can envision using the system, and in what contexts it would work best. Finally, we ask what kind of reminders they would like to see in the system, and what other functionalities it could have.

For each of the question stages, participants are encouraged to talk about what parts of the system they like and dislike, and to provide other ideas that could be implemented in the system. We also ask follow-up questions to further specify how the participants envision the system.

Each workshop took around one hour to complete. This time includes the informed consent procedure and introduction. The full list of questions can be found in Appendix D.

6.3. Field Notes

The workshops have two researchers present, one to run the session, and one to take notes. The note taker is still active in asking questions. During the first workshop, with caregivers, we also took an audio recording, which we used later to improve and finish the notes. For privacy reasons, we decided to not take recordings during the workshop with people with dementia.

The note taker should not just write down the things the participants said. There are other important non-verbal behaviors and cues to take note of. Specifically, we are interested in whether the participants notice the screen, complete the task and confirm it on the screen (only for the second workshop), whether they talk to the robot, whether they follow the robot correctly or walk away, and whether they act friendly or annoyed towards the robot. We also write down notable non-verbal behaviors and cues, like looking at places for a long time and their tone of voice, whether they sound excited, calm, or agitated, for example.

6.4. Data Analysis

After cleaning up the notes, they had to be analyzed. Two analysis methods were considered, thematic analysis and the constant comparative method. The constant comparative method relies on first comparing data with previous data from the same category [89]. This is done multiple times, each time thinking of different and better ways the data can be categorized. Categories are then compared to each other. Finally, the categories and insights are compared with previous literature. Our dataset is quite small, consisting only of data from two focus groups, with little previous literature of the same type. Therefore, I believe the constant comparative method is not suitable for this use case. Thematic analysis, on the other hand, is a method for identifying, categorizing, and analyzing common themes and patterns in data [90]. After familiarizing themself with the data, the researcher goes over the data generating the initial codes, then categorized these codes into themes. In a small data set, these themes may have significant overlap with the codes [91]. Finally, the researcher reviews, defines, and names the themes, and creates a report. These codes and themes are created after the sessions, based on what was said in them. This means the approach uses inductive coding [92]. While the dataset is small, thematic analysis still seems like a valuable way to formalize the analysis done.

The thematic analysis done for the workshop with people with dementia is discussed in Section 6.7.

6.5. Human Research Ethics & Informed Consent

When performing a study with human participants, care should be taken when it comes to ethics, data privacy, and informed consent. This section talks about the risks when it comes to these areas.

First, there is the question of personally identifiable information (PII). While we do not aim to collect these data, participants may tell us personally identifiable information. The note taker should not write this down. For the first workshop and the expert evaluation we also take audio recordings, this is also PII. We deleted the audio recordings after finishing the notes, as to not store the information for too long. We also collected the participants' names through the informed consent form. We made sure to store the informed consent forms in a separate location, that the notes are pseudonymized, and that there is no way to reconnect the real names of the participants to the fake names (X, Y, and Z) used in the notes.

Another important risk for the second workshop is the fact that people with dementia belong to a vulnerable group. Due to their dementia, they may be unable to legally give informed consent themselves. To mitigate this risk, we explain to them, in simple terms, what the goal of the research is, what they will do, and that they can leave any time they want. We collect no PII of people with dementia, and do not take audio recordings. This minimizes the risks for the people with dementia. For their safety, we ask a caregiver to stay with us. Besides helping with the informed consent procedure and general communication, they are able to stop the workshop in case of problems. We hold the workshop at the care home where the participants live. They are familiar with the environment and the caregivers present.

6.6. Workshop with Caregivers

During the workshop with the caregivers, four caregivers joined us in the focus group, one of whom was an student intern. The general discussion about people with dementia and robots was useful, answering some of the questions I had about the daily structure of people with dementia, and pointing us towards interesting robotic solutions they had experience with. One caregiver participated in the demo, which went well. We discussed the physical shape of the robot, and then moved on to the workshop questions, first about the interaction, then about the different storyboards. When talking about the storyboards, I also showed the relevant screens of the caregiver application. Finally, we discussed the problem statement, and to what extent the system solves the problems, and they provided some tips for the next workshop with people with dementia.

The workshop was useful for learning more about the context in which the system will be used, and for specifying the requirements and deciding which features to add. First, the caregivers shared that when someone with dementia receives home care, the caregiver usually comes at most four times per day. They usually provide the planned healthcare, like taking pills, getting dressed, and going to bed, that can happen at specified times. If they are there, they may also help with unplanned care, like going to the bathroom. Of course, the home care caregivers are not always present to help with this. When it comes to informal care, when the informal caregiver lives with the person with dementia, the care is constant. However, when the caregiver does not live with the person with dementia, for example if they

are their child, coming every day would be a lot, and is not very common.

When it comes to the interaction, perhaps the biggest insight was that the caregivers thought that people with dementia would like for the robot to talk. In my initial design, I decided against speaking, as speaking would not be in line with the animal-shape of the robot. The caregivers thought that because the concept of a robot would be new and strange to most people with dementia anyway, having it speak would not come as a surprise to them, as they already do not know what to expect. Adding speech is a good way to indicate what the person should do, therefore I added functionality for speaking to the system and prototype after the workshop. Regarding the other, emotional, sounds the robot makes, one participant initially thought it was speech, but after hearing it more closely, they liked the sounds it made.

When it comes to the rest of the interaction, the caregivers were not sure whether people with dementia would understand that they should follow the robot. They believed that some people may understand it, especially those with earlier stages of dementia. Adding speech to the robot may help, they believed. If speech is not an option, they suggested making it explicit in another way, such as putting a small sign on the robot, asking the user to follow it.

Another major concern the caregivers had was the reminder confirmation. They believed that users may press the done or already done button without having done it, or conversely may press forget to press the done button after completing the reminder, and then repeat the task when the robot comes to remind them again. The caregivers liked about the idea of using sensors to detect whether a reminder was completed. They also said that for some reminders, the problems of not doing it or doing it twice are not that great, forgetting to drink water or shower once or drinking more water or showering twice in a day is not dangerous. For other reminders, a more rigorous approach is preferred, forgetting medicine or taking it twice can have serious consequences. For this, using sensors or, in the case of medicine, a smart pill dispenser is important. After the workshop, the design was changed to further focus on automatic detection of task completion.

The participants liked the ideas presented in the storyboards, but had some comments about some of them. They thought the contextual reminder rules were useful, but found it hard to think of more than the examples given. Personalized timing for reminders also seemed good, but they did not understand what exactly the system would do. After explaining the concept further, they had two concerns. Firstly, they thought it may be unpractical to install this many sensors around the house. Secondly, they thought that while it is useful to not bother people while they are busy, for example watching TV, they questioned when the cutoff would be. Some people have the TV on almost the entire day. At some point, they need to be reminded. In a similar vein as the previous storyboards, participants thought it would be good to implement the fully rule-based reminders, like turning off the stove when it is no longer in use. They suggested locking the door when going to bed as another useful reminder.

When it comes to giving feedback to the caregivers, I unfortunately found that I had explained the idea of the caregiver application for too long, and did not ask enough questions to the participants. We did talk about the emergency system, where the caregiver, and perhaps the emergency number, is notified in case of an emergency. Something similar is already in use for home care, where the caregiver can talk to the person with dementia to ask what is wrong. They thought this would be useful. They also thought it would be very important for the robot to talk in this scenario. If, for example, the person fell, they argue, they should be told that help is on its way, so that they do not try to get up themselves and potentially hurt themselves in the process. They thought that if the robot speaks regularly, it would be easier on the person with dementia if the robot also spoke during an emergency, instead of that being the first time they hear the robot's voice. This feature was incorporated into the design.

Regarding the shape of the robot, the participants liked that it looked like a cross between a dog, rabbit, and donkey. They were concerned that it was quite small, however, believing that some people may kick it accidentally — or on purpose — or trip over it and fall. Staircases and rugs in the house are also a problem for the robot. They suggested a larger robot that can go over rugs would be ideal, but they also believe a static robot that asks the user to come towards it using speakers may be appropriate too. They also recommended making the robot louder so that people with hearing difficulties could hear

it better, and keeping the robot cheap, so that more people are able to afford it. Of course, none of these suggestions could be implemented in the prototype, but they are still useful considerations for a future iteration using a different robot.

The caregivers were also wondering what the robot would do when it is not giving reminders. They thought that being active as a pet would be nice, meaning that the person with dementia can pet and play with them. They also thought this would be an ideal time to charge the robot, similar to how an automatic vacuum cleaner drives to a dock station.

Finally, let's discuss the system goals. The caregivers thought that the system could help solve the problems of people with dementia forgetting important things, low quality of life, and high caregiver stress. They were especially appreciative of the features for the caregivers, believing it could reduce their workload, while still keeping them connected to their loved one. They thought it would work especially well in home situations, as people living at home often have a less severe stage of dementia. Overall, they believed that the fact that most people with dementia do not have much experience with robots right now, could cause some problems with trying to teach them how to use it. It may still be possible, though. After all, they said, some residents of the care home know how to use video calling software quite well, so teaching new technology is possible. The system could work especially well with younger people with dementia, they argue, or in a few years when people that are old then are already used to using technology.

6.7. Workshop with People with Dementia

The second workshop took place in a room of a care home. The three participants with dementia, labeled X, Y, and Z, are residents of this home. One caregiver and one student intern were also present. The workshop was held in a working room, so a few caregivers entered and exited sometimes, but were not participating in the workshop. Unfortunately, one participant (Y) was not feeling well, and was unable to participate properly in the workshop.

The participants were not familiar with robots, though one participant (Z) had heard of them, describing them as "moving human-like art projects". Z said they were somewhat familiar with computers, but had never used one themself. Z liked the robot when first seeing it, but another participant (X) did not like the look of it, citing their dislike of dogs as the reason.

We asked Z to participate in the demo. They used a walker to walk with the robot. Unfortunately, the robot did not detect the participant correctly, possibly because of the walker, possibly because of the light conditions. Z was still able to walk with the robot towards the screen. They did not seem to notice the screen, as their attention was focused on the robot. Even after pointing it out to them, they did not pay attention to the screen. They walked around the robot a couple of times, after which we asked them to sit back in their chair.

After the demo, Z said they liked the idea of the robot. They were open to robotic support, and said they would like it to act as a replacement of a notebook and calendar. They would want to be able to schedule a call with their niece¹, and would like it if this was planned in at a time when their niece was not at work. Z also suggested an alarm clock as a feature.

When first seeing the robot, Z thought it looked like a rabbit. They were immediately excited about the robot. Unfortunately, they were unable to hear the speech and sound of the robot, but when asked about the robot speaking, they thought it would be a great addition.

The other participant, X, was uninterested in the robot and the workshop. They had a visit planned later in the day, and thought they had to leave soon. Another reason they gave for not liking the robot was that they did not like dogs. They left halfway through the workshop, after giving their reasons for not liking it.

As discussed in Section 6.4, a thematic analysis was performed on the notes. In total, ten codes were created, both for verbal and non-verbal utterances and behaviors. These codes include interest in the robot, interest in the system as a whole, needing help, and talking about the context in which the

¹or cousin, I do not know which one, as the word for these is the same in Dutch.

system would work. These codes were sorted into seven themes, interest, dislike/indifference, help needed, context, ideas, physical form, and interaction. The thematic analysis produced some valuable insights. It was useful to see a list of things the participants liked, disliked, and had ideas for. Separating ideas and feedback about the interaction and reminder system from that about the context and physical form was also useful.

Only few changes were made after the workshop. Participant Z was positive about the core concept, and some of their suggestions, like scheduling a call, are already possible in the design. Giving the people with dementia the option to add reminders to the system themselves was discussed in Section 3.6, but I made the choice to not include it. For now, I stand by this choice, as I believe the implementation of this could lead to low-quality reminders. That being said, after the workshop, I believe that researching a useful and reliable way for people with dementia to add reminders themselves should be one of the first steps for future work.

After the workshop, the caregivers who were present during the workshop wanted to share some thoughts. They thought the system would work better for people with an earlier phase or less severe case of dementia. They also thought it would be helpful in a different unit of their facility, where elderly people who are in physical rehabilitation live temporarily. Furthermore, they thought it would be especially helpful in contexts where people have control over their own medicine. In the dementia unit, all residents are given medication by the caregivers, but in other contexts, such as their physical rehabilitation unit or for people with early-stage dementia living at home, the system would be helpful. Finally, they mentioned a robot would be very helpful in playing music to bring people with dementia in a positive mood.

Proposed System Architecture

This chapter goes over the proposed system architecture for the entire system. This architecture was not implemented, as showing an implemented system would not have provided additional feedback during the workshop when compared to the high-fidelity robot prototype, the UI prototype, and the storyboards. To evaluate the proposed architecture, we asked two security and privacy experts to evaluate it. The research sub-question relevant for this chapter is "What are the recommended system architectures and requirements for implementing the integrated robotic reminder system in a real-world setting, ensuring easy development and high security, privacy, and usability for both the users with dementia and their caregivers?" (SRQ3).

7.1. Software Architecture

In Section 3.4, about value-sensitive design, I discuss the trade-offs between privacy, care, and safety. Having cameras and sensors around the house helps provide a higher level of care and safety, but it also raises privacy concerns. Mitigating these issues was one of the most important considerations when making the proposed system architecture, which will be discussed in this section.

One important step that can be taken to ensure privacy on the software architecture side is deciding which data are stored where. Data can either be stored within the house of the person with dementia, or be stored on a server elsewhere (the cloud). There are several types of sensitive data that need to be stored or processed in order to make the system work as intended. First, there is the most privacy-sensitive data: the raw camera and sensor data of the robot and of sensors placed around the house. There is no reason these data should be accessible outside the local environment, and there is no reason to store any of these data after processing. Then, there is the data gathered to help with contextual reminders, which are kept for a longer time. Examples include data on what the user is doing at what time and when they ignore or complete reminders. These examples have to be stored, but are still highly sensitive. Similarly to the raw camera data, they do not have to be accessible from outside the system. This is not true for all sensitive data, however. Information on which reminders are active, and whether they are completed, is also sensitive. However, this does have to be accessible by the caregiver device in order for them to be able to check up on their loved one. Besides the caregiver device, no one else needs access to these data. For the functionality, it does not matter where these data are stored. They can be stored on the cloud or at the user's own house, the caregiver application just needs to be able to access them.

I envision three ways the software architecture could be designed. These are based on general architectures found in Internet of Things (IoT) solutions [93]. In the first version, shown in Figure 7.1, all relevant data are stored in the cloud. The cloud should store data that are relevant for long-term storage, or need to be accessible by the caregiver's device. If local processing of a data source is

possible, this should still be done. There is no reason, for example, to send the camera data to the cloud. This system is easier to set up and update, as the core server part is in control of the developers. It would also allow the developers to potentially use aggregated user data to improve the system for all users. This should be done with care, as collecting too much data may have privacy and legal concerns [94]. This cloud-based software architecture is also used in Fixl et al. [30] electronic sticky notes reminder system.



Figure 7.1: Cloud-based software architecture diagram.

On the other end of the spectrum, Figure 7.2 shows a version of the system architecture that keeps all data in the house. Instead of the system processing sensitive data and sending necessary information to a server afterward, it acts as a server itself. This is called on-device or on-premise edge computing [93]. The caregiver's phone connects to the system in the house directly. While this keeps all sensitive data local, it does come with problems of its own. It would be harder to set up, and when something goes wrong, it would be harder to provide technical support. If the system requires an update, it would be harder to immediately set this up. Finally, this system is more prone to downtime. If the electricity or Internet in the house goes down, the server becomes fully inaccessible, while the cloud-based solution would still allow partial access. This version is the most private system, all the data are kept in the house of the person with dementia, and the only person with access to it is the caregiver. This type of software architecture is also used by Zhou et al. [17] in their experiment.

In the third version, shown in Figure 7.3, the sensitive data that do not have to be accessed are stored and processed in the home. Task data, which are accessible to the caregiver devices, are stored on a local server in the user's house. This is in line with "fog computing" — where only a part of the data is in the cloud — solutions often found in some smart home IoT systems [95, 96]. This may be a nice middle ground, having benefits of both the cloud-based and local solutions. Unfortunately, it also inherits some of the drawbacks.





Figure 7.2: Local software architecture diagram.

7.2. Perception of Privacy

Ensuring that most private data are stored securely helps minimize the risk of a security breach. However, the technical details of this will be lost to the average user of the system. Privacy concerns are often mentioned by users as criticisms of IoT devices [97], even as early as 2004 [98]. In interviews with users of IoT devices, Psychoula et al. [97] found that more than eighty percent of participants were concerned about privacy in relation to in-home activity monitoring¹. A similar percentage was bothered that their private data may be visible or accessible to others. That being said, almost seventy and almost fifty percent of participants would want information on their activity to be sent to their doctor or family members, retrospectively, if the data suggest the user may have chronic health issues. Participants of an older generation found it important to keep living in their own home, even if it comes at the expense of privacy. This shows that people may be more willing to give up some privacy if it would help their health.

Not all data should be accessible to the caregivers. Of course, they need access to reminder completion data, both of the current and of previous days, to be able to check up on their loved one and to be able to change the reminders if they currently do not work perfectly, but in the interest of the privacy of the person with dementia, there are limits to what they should be able to see. Giving the caregiver access to the camera feed, for example, would not be worth the cost of the person with dementia's privacy, compared to the potential added benefit of the caregiver's peace of mind.

¹Note that this study did not focus on people with dementia.



Figure 7.3: Hybrid or fog computing software architecture diagram.

7.3. Expert Evaluation of the Proposed System Architecture

To verify the proposed system architectures described earlier, two interviews with subject-matter experts active in the fields of security, privacy, and software architecture were held. These interviews were held in a semi-structured manner, and had a simple structure. First, I explained the general concept to the participant, to give them an idea of the context in which the system is used. I then presented the different possible system architectures. Finally, I asked several questions about the trade-offs of each of the proposals, other ways to ensure privacy, and what the implementation challenges of each system would be, among others. The list of questions can be found in Appendix E.

The first interview was with an associate professor in the area of software engineering and security testing. They did not see any major problems with any of the three system architectures, they could all work and could all be secured. They do have their own advantages and disadvantages. They thought that the chance of a full breach of all data would be more likely in the cloud-based architecture. Even without a breach, storing highly sensitive data on a server owned by a third-party company could be dangerous, the cloud provider may be able to access the data.

The cloud-based version would have some advantages, however. The expert mentioned the fact that the cloud-based system would allow collection of aggregated user data. These data could be used to improve the heuristic used for scheduling for all users. They also agreed that the cloud-based system would be easier to update, though the system used at home could prompt a central server regularly to see if there are updates available. Checking for updates every night, when the system is unlikely to be in use, would mean that updates would be postponed by at most a day. In general, the expert advised listing the pros and cons of each of the systems, and making a decision based on that. None of the options were necessarily the best or the worst, it depends on what exactly the requirements of the system are.

When I first asked if they know any ways to make the user feel like their privacy is being safeguarded more, the expert chuckled and said that this is not possible. The best you can do is tell the user

what is being done with their data. If they know where their information is stored and what it is being used for, they may be more comfortable with the system. Unfortunately, it may not fully remove any uncomfortable feelings. They also thought that people would be more willing to give up some privacy if they get a useful product in return, and if they understand why giving up some privacy would be useful for the product. The study performed by Psychoula et al. [97] suggests this is especially true when it comes to matters regarding health.

The second interview was held with a privacy and cryptography researcher. They thought that both the local and the cloud-based solution would have its benefits. The cloud-based one would be easier to scale, less likely to go down, and it would be possible to aggregate user data. The local version, however, would be the most secure. It removes the risks of others being able to see data they should not have access to. This includes the development team, the cloud provider, and even caregivers of different people with dementia. They were not enthusiastic about the hybrid approach. They thought it inherited the drawbacks of both other alternatives, without adding many additional benefits. In general, they believed the local option would be the most appropriate. How much privacy you give up should be proportional to the usefulness of the system, and the privacy loss in the local version of the system in minimized.

We also discussed how the local option could be realized. For the in-house server and the caregiver application to communicate securely, they need to exchange encryption keys. Usually, this is done over the Internet, but in this situation, it may be possible to exchange these keys physically. When setting up the system, the caregiver could plug their phone into the server with a cable in order to complete set-up. This minimizes the risk that someone could attempt connecting with the server over the Internet by pretending to be a new caregiver device. Within the house, care should be taken when setting up the connection between the server and the different sensors, cameras, screens, and the robot. While the expert had no doubt doing this securely is possible, a bad implementation could cause security problems.

The second expert agreed with the first on the perception of privacy: fully removing the feeling is impossible, but explaining what is happening with the data would help. They thought that the local architecture would help with this. It may be easier to point at the server, and tell a user that all their data are stored in this box. This way, it may be more intuitive that no one else can access it. This is just a theory, however. The expert also thought that it may be possible to make the cameras less visible, for example by hiding them in a lamp fixture. They were not sure if this would be appropriate, however.

7.4. Final Recommendations

Following the advice of the first expert, I have made a table of pros and cons of the three different architectures. This table can be found in Table 7.1. The pros and cons are relative, the "low" security of the cloud solution does not mean it cannot be secured properly, it just means it is relatively harder to secure compared to the rest. The values in the table are based on the observations and suggestions of both experts.

	Local	Cloud	Hybrid
Security	High	Low	Medium
Data privacy	High	Low	Medium
Ease of updating	Medium	High	Medium
Implementation ease	High	High	Medium
Aggregated data insights	Low	High	Medium
Feelings of privacy	Medium	Low	Low
Setup ease	Low	Medium	Low
Downtime Resilience	Low	High	Partial

Table 7.1: Relative pros and cons of the three proposed system architectures

Based on the pros and cons, I believe that the local environment, shown in Figure 7.2, is the best option for the system. While the cloud- and fog computing-based architectures provide benefits that are harder to achieve in the local option, like easier updating, aggregated data over all users, and lower downtime, these are not worth the decrease in security and privacy. People seeing details about your personal life is acceptable if these people are your caregivers, but not excusable when it concerns third parties, who potentially include cloud-providers, governments, caregivers of other people, and hackers. The local architecture is the most private: only the caregiver can access the data, and the chance of a breach is low. The fact that all data are stored in the house could also be beneficial for the feelings of privacy. The manual or person installing the server could explain to the caregiver that all data remain in the house, and that none else can access them.

Through smart implementation, the local architecture can be made more secure. First, the connections between the server and the sensors should be handles securely. MQTT and ZigBee may be interesting options, but further research is required. One potential attack vector a malicious party could use, is pretending to be the device of the caregiver, in order to connect to the server in the home. This risk can be minimized by making the initial setup require on-site presence. The caregiver could connect their phone by cable with the server at first use, which could exchange the keys that will later be used to verify that the device is actually owned by the caregiver. This process would only have to be repeated when the caregiver gets a new phone, or when another caregiver also needs access to the system. I would recommend having the only way to do this verification be through a physical connection. Additional verification methods, like verifying a new caregiver device using an already verified caregiver device, would create another vulnerability. Someone could convince a caregiver to borrow their phone, and gain access that way. It would, however, require visiting whenever something goes wrong, which some caregivers who live far away, perhaps even in another country, may not be able to do. This method would have to be discussed with stakeholders to see if this would be a problem.

8

Final System Requirements

With the design, prototypes, workshops, and software architecture done, the system is nearly ready to be picked up by a development team for further iteration. One important step remains: the creation of the final system requirements. This chapter presents two approaches for system requirements. First, Section 8.1 presents user stories. These requirements are written from the point of view of different user groups, the users with dementia and the informal caregivers. Section 8.2 discusses the formal software requirements. These are written in a way to make it easy for a developer to start working on a requirement immediately.

8.1. User Stories

With the use cases discussed in Section 3.5 in mind, I wrote down several user stories. User stories are a popular method employed in requirements engineering, where the users' actions and reasons are central [99]. They differ from formal software requirements in their viewpoint. Formal requirements show what a system should do, but user stories show what users want to get out of a system.

There are two primary users of the system: the person with dementia and the informal caregiver. These users have different needs when it comes to the functionality of the system. The user stories for the caregivers can be found in Table 8.1, the user stories for the people with dementia in Table 8.2.

#	Use Case	Story
1.1	Setting reminders	As a caregiver, I want to set reminders for the person with dementia, with the ability to change certain elements of the reminder.
1.2	Setting reminders	As a caregiver, I want to make changes to existing reminders.
1.3	Setting reminders	As a caregiver, I want to set prerequisite reminders when creating or editing a reminder.
1.4	Setting reminders	As a caregiver, I want to set contextual rules, like "no visitors", for reminders I pick.
1.5	Reminder insights	As a caregiver, I want to see what reminders are often not completed, so that I can change them in the future.

Continued on next page

1.6	Reminder insights	As a caregiver, I want to see what contextual rules make the sending of what reminders more difficult, so that I can decide whether it's smart to remove the rule or reschedule the reminders.
1.7	Feedback to Caregiver	As a caregiver, I want to receive notifications when the user with dementia has completed an important task, which helps me with my peace of mind.
1.8	Feedback to Caregiver	As a caregiver, I want to receive notifications when the user with dementia has not completed an important task, so that I can call or otherwise check up on them.
1.9	Feedback to Caregiver	As a caregiver, I want to be able to check which reminders were completed at any point during the day.
1.10	Feedback to Caregiver	As a caregiver, I want to get notified in case of an emergency.

Table 8.1:	Caregiver use	r stories for	the integrated	robotic reminder	svstem	(Continued)
						(

Table 8.2: People with Dementia user stories for the integrated robotic reminder system

#	Use Case	Story
2.1	Receiving reminders	As a person with dementia, I want to receive reminders of important tasks.
2.2	Receiving reminders	As a person with dementia, I want to receive reminders close to where I need to do the task, such that it is easier for me to do it.
2.3	Receiving reminders	As a person with dementia, I want to be able to receive reminders wherever I am in the house.
2.4	Completing reminders	As a person with dementia, I want the completion of my reminders to be automatically completed whenever possible, such that I don't have to manually confirm them.
2.5	Completing reminders	As a person with dementia, I want to manually confirm whether the reminder was completed, if automatic detection is not possible.
2.6	Completing reminders	As a person with dementia, I want to tell the system that I have already completed the task if I completed it before I received a reminder.
2.7	Completing reminders	As a person with dementia, I want to be able to postpone a reminder if now is not a good time for me, as long as postponing the reminder is still possible.
2.8	Contextual Reminders	As a person with dementia, I want reminders to not be sent at inappropriate times and contexts, like showering while there are visitors.
2.9	Contextual Reminders	As a person with dementia, I want reminders to be schedules in a way that makes sure I complete as many important tasks as possible.
2.10	Contextual Reminders	As a person with dementia, I want reminders to not be sent at a time or context where I don't want to be disturbed.
2.11	Information and Help	As a person with dementia, I want the robot to introduce itself on first use.
2.12	Information and Help	As a person with dementia, I want the robot to re-introduce itself if I don't remember what it's for.

Continued on next page

2.13	Information and Help	As a person with dementia, I want the screen to show the time
2.14	Information and Help	As a person with dementia, I want the screen to show me the next reminder, so that I can decide to complete it earlier if I want to.
2.15	Safety	As a person with dementia, I want emergency situations to be detected.
2.16	Safety	As a person with dementia, I want to be told if an emergency was detected, so that I know help is on its way and I don't have to try to get out of it myself.
2.17	Play	As a person with dementia, I want to be able to play with the robot even when no reminder is given.

Table 8.2: People with	Dementia user stories	for the integrated roboti	c reminder system (Co	ntinued)
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		/

8.2. Formal Software Requirements

Software requirements are descriptions of what a software system should do. They are written in a way that makes it easy for a developer to start working immediately. I have split them up into four subsystems: the caregiver application, the robot for people with dementia, the screen on which reminders are shown, and the "system", which encapsulates functionality that is handled in the background. Users only indirectly interact with the functionality of this subsystem.

The features are prioritized using the MoSCoW method [100], which splits up requirements into *Must-Haves*, which together should form a minimum viable product (MVP), *Should-Haves*, *Could-Haves*, useful features with different level of priority, and *Won't-Haves*, features that may be interesting in a future development cycle. I consider the MVP, i.e., the Must-Haves, to be a system where a caregiver can set reminders and see if they are completed, and a person with dementia can be notified of these tasks by a robot that drives towards them, and guides them to a screen where they see the reminder and can confirm that they have completed it. I do not consider the integrated sensors used for contextual reminders and reminder completion to be part of the MPV. While they are certainly an important part of the design, without them the system should still help to solve the problem statements, and could already be an existing product.

The list of all requirements can be found in Appendix F. This list is not final. Through more codesign workshops and other forms of contact with the stakeholders, they would likely change. Some requirements may prove too technically difficult or too large in scope. These should be reworked or split up into multiple smaller ones.

9

Discussion and Future Work

The main research question of this thesis was "How can an integrated robotic reminder system effectively support people with dementia living at home in completing daily tasks while alleviating stress of their informal caregiver?" This multifaceted research question had three main sub questions, one about the design (SRQ1, discussed in Section 9.1), one about the interaction (SRQ2, discussed in Section 9.2), and one about the software architecture (SRQ3, discussed in Section 9.3). Besides discussing the research questions, I will discuss the robot and UI prototypes in Section 9.4, and the workshops in Section 9.5. This chapter will also present open questions and useful future work.

9.1. Design

Let us start by going back to the three problem statements discussed in Section 3.1: people with dementia forgetting important daily tasks, people with dementia having low quality of life, and informal caregivers experiencing stress because they are worrying about their loved one and spend a lot of time caring for them. The system designed in Chapter 3 aimed to help with these problems. Overall, I believe this was successful. The caregivers in the workshop (Section 6.6) thought the system would work well to help with these goals, and thought it would be especially valuable for the caregivers. One of the participants in the workshop with people with dementia (Section 6.7) enjoyed the company of the robot, and thought that getting reminders at appropriate times would be useful for them. However, another participant at the workshop was not interested in the system. It likely will not be a right fit for everyone.

The problem statement I am most uncertain about the system helping with, is quality of life. It is true that research suggests that robotic animals help increase quality of life, as seen in Section 2.3, and one participant in the workshop with people with dementia thoroughly enjoyed spending time with the robot. The caregivers in the first workshop did not say much about quality of life when asked about the system goals, but they aired no concerns either. The reason I am uncertain is twofold. First, I am afraid I specified the problem statement too vaguely. Quality of life is s broad concept, making designing for it and validating the designs difficult. I was less able to ask direct questions about it compared to, for example, caregiver stress, which is more clear. The concepts of caregiver stress and remembering important daily tasks are more clear and less open to interpretation. Another mistake I made during the first workshop, is that I asked the caregivers about all three problem statements in one question. They talked about quality of life only briefly, and mostly focused on the caregiver stress problem statement. Instead, I should have asked them as three separate questions.

My second concern regarding quality of life is that the system may decrease the amount of time caregivers spend with their loved one with dementia. This was also a concern mentioned by people with dementia and their caregivers in interviews held by Wang et al. [57]. Decreasing the amount of

contact between the caregiver and the person with dementia could decrease their quality of life and lead to more loneliness. It is not certain, however, that using this system would actually decrease the amount of contact. Instead, it may decrease the amount of time the caregiver spends *caring* for their loved one, allowing them to spend more time simply *being with them* without having to provide care. This would be an ideal outcome, as it should help with both the stress of the caregiver and the quality of life of the person with dementia. It is my strong recommendation that, if this system is to be deployed in the real world, these concerns are researched and mitigated well beforehand.

One important method used in the design was value-sensitive design. The research sub-question related to that part was "How can the design of an integrated robotic reminder system balance the conflicting values of individuals with dementia and their informal caregivers?" (SRQ1) Going back to the values described in Section 3.4, the main values that were important for the design were *caring & empathy* (one value), *autonomy*, *safety*, *privacy*, and *participation*. At several points during the design, we saw trade-offs between some of these values. Overall, I stand by the decisions made. However, there are some where I think one value took a major hit in order to safeguard another value. One example of this is the fact that in the current design, there is no way for people with dementia to add reminders themselves. This is a major hit to *participation* and *autonomy*, but, in my opinion, a necessary one to guarantee a better level of *care* and *safety*, as people with dementia unfortunately might set reminders that are strangely planned, unhelpful, or even potentially harmful. If it is possible to find a way for people with dementia to easily set reminders for themselves, while mitigating the risks, it would be an invaluable addition to the system.

Another trade-off that got a lot of attention is the one between privacy on one side, and safety and caring & empathy on the other. I am content with the state of this trade-off in the final system. It skews quite heavily on the safety and caring & empathy side. If the target audience was the average population, the considerations would be different. All these cameras and sensors would be an invasion or privacy for the average person, without adding much value. But the system is not meant for the average population, it is meant for people with additional care and safety needs. The placement of cameras and sensors greatly improves the usefulness of the system, and can increase the quality and amount of help people with dementia receive. The information that is actually shared is also minimized to only the necessary information, the camera feeds are not accessible, for example. Furthermore, the data are only shared with the informal caregiver. This is quite different from sharing them with a thirdparty company or with the government. Nearly all informal caregivers are either the partner or the child of the person with dementia. For these reason, I believe that it is fair to decrease the privacy and skew closer to the safety and caring & empathy side. At a meet-up for people working on similar projects, a caregiver told me, "People are fine with Big Brother if there is no Small Brother." The metaphor is not a perfect fit — there is a large difference between the government surveillance and control implied by the metaphor and sharing information with the informal caregiver, who usually is a loved one - but it is still interesting. Caring for people with dementia and guaranteeing their safety fully is impossible to completely ensure without a caregiver being present near-constantly. This is not feasible, so achieving the same goals through technology can be helpful, even if this technology decreases the privacy of the person.

That all being said, *privacy* is still an important value. Some things, while they may increase other values, are not worth the decrease in privacy. Take cameras, for example. Having cameras in the house can help with safety and the functionality of the system. This is a hit to the privacy of the person with dementia that is, in my view, a worthwhile compromise. But it is possible to increase the safety and care further, but you would have to concede more privacy. You could, for example, give direct access to the camera feed to the caregiver, available at all times, with the option to check previous moments in time. Arguably, this would help the system achieve its goal of reducing caregiver stress better and would make the person with dementia more safe. The caregiver can check up any time and get the peace of mind that the person with dementia is doing fine, which would help with lowering their stress. They could also help with detecting task completion. If the system is not otherwise notified that a task was completed, the caregiver could check the feed and manually confirm completion. However,

I believe this is a bridge too far. The existence of cameras in the house is one thing, if the data stay secure and the use for them is explainable, this is an acceptable addition to the system. But allowing access to the feeds directly is no longer in proportion.

All these trade-offs are a long-term endeavor. If a design or development team were to pick up this project to realize it, they should not simply take my recommendations and roll with them, no questions asked. For each of them, it is worth talking to more stakeholders and changing the requirements to fit the needs and wants of them more closely.

There are some features that may be useful to change or add in the future. First, the robot can only be used inside the user's house. But indoors is not the only place where reminders are useful. Besides reminders in the garden, which could be served by a robotic pet other than the MiRo, giving reminders when the user is out and about would be useful too. They could, for example, be reminded to return home before a certain time. Having the robot accompany the person with dementia whenever they leave the house may be an option, but another, more portable, solution may be more appropriate. This would be a useful addition to the system.

Another feature that could use more work is that of repeating a reminder if it was not completed after the reminder was given. The current system, of repeating high-priority reminders until completed, repeating medium-priority reminders once to a few times, and not repeating low-priority reminders, is helpful, but more control may be useful. It could be added as a separate option in the reminder creation screen, or repeated reminders could receive a lower score in the heuristic used to schedule reminders, so that other reminders are prioritized. Adding an option to the reminder confirmation screen for the user to say that they are not interested in performing this task at all could also help. This would keep the person with dementia more in control of which reminders they would like to receive.

While the system was designed primarily for people with dementia living at home, during the workshops it became clear it could also be helpful in a care home setting. The caregivers believed a modified system could work well in some parts of the care home. The unit where people with dementia live may not be super appropriate, as they often have a later stage of dementia than the average person with dementia living at home. But for other units in the care home, such as those with older adults with physical problems, it may be more useful. While the medicine is given to people with dementia by the caregivers when they need to take it, people with only physical problems usually take their own medicine. They may still forget this, however, so a reminder system for this — and other important tasks may be helpful for them.

9.2. Interaction

One core contribution of this thesis is the combination of robotic pets and reminder systems. Most robotic pets, as discussed in Section 2.3, have no care functionality, they are only pets. Reminder systems, as discussed in Section 2.2, usually use a smartphone as their medium. This has some downsides, as the user may not always be around their phone, and may misplace it. In the design, I presented a system that combines these two elements, creating an interactive robotic reminder system. The research question for this part was "How can a robotic pet effectively give reminders to people with dementia in a more interactive manner compared to traditional reminder systems?" (SRQ2)

Several options were explored in the design phase, and a major change was made after the first workshop. In the original prototype, the robot would drive towards the person with dementia, make animal-like sounds, then turn around to guide them towards the screen. Driving towards the participant was done slowly, following Saulnier et al.'s [54] recommendations for non-verbal interruptions. In addition to this, the robot looks at the person's face to make clear they are the one being addressed. In the workshop with caregivers, it became clear that this approach was not good enough. The caregivers were concerned that the robot would not be noticed by someone with dementia, and if it was, that it would not be clear to them that they should follow. They suggested the addition of speech. Originally, I had dismissed this idea, as I thought it would be unnatural for an animal-like robot to speak a natural language. The caregivers in the workshop understood this concern, but did not think it would be a

problem for people with dementia. To people with dementia, their argument went, the robot is already a new and unexpected thing, speech would not make a large difference in this.

Speech was added to the prototype in three ways. In the form of an introduction, a cue for the participant to follow the robot, and a cue for them to look at the screen. Unfortunately, the audio of the robot was not loud enough, and the participant we asked to perform the demo in the workshop with people with dementia did not hear the robot. Considering this, we were able to verify that just the movement of the robot was not enough for this participant to understand they had to follow. Without hearing it, the participant did not follow the robot without help from the researchers, and they did not see or interact with the screen, even after help from the researchers. Because the participant did say that they would like it if the robot spoke, showing that indeed, for this participant, the animal-like robot did not create the expectation that speech would be unnatural.

Of course, one participant is not nearly enough to say whether the interaction is understood or not understood by most people with dementia. The participant we asked for the demo lived in a full-time care home. It is possible that they are in a further stage of dementia than the average person in our target audience, those that still live at home. This could have influenced their perception of the screen and robot. Additional workshops, ideally with people with dementia who live at home, would make it possible to draw better conclusions. If we wanted to study one specific element of the interaction, a controlled experiment would be helpful. You could think of the addition of speech, the speed of interruption, the prompt to look at the screen. The code of the robotic prototype should make it easy to iterate quickly.

9.3. System Architecture and Software Requirements

The final research theme of this thesis was the system architecture, presented in Chapter 7, and the software requirements, presented in Chapter 8. The research sub-question for this part was "What are the recommended system architectures and requirements for implementing the integrated robotic reminder system in a real-world setting, ensuring easy development and high security, privacy, and usability for both the users with dementia and their caregivers?" (SRQ3).

In order to help us answer this question, two interviews with privacy and security experts were held. They helped us decide which software architecture would be best for the system. This ended up being the local version, where all data is stored on a server located in the house of the person with dementia. This minimizes security and privacy risks, which was worth it compared to the benefits the other architectures had to offer. The local version has some drawbacks, however. It is more difficult to gather aggregated user data, which could be used to improve the system for all users. There is also a higher chance of downtime, if the Internet connection in the house goes down, the system becomes completely inaccessible, while in the cloud- and hybrid-based solutions there would still be some data available. Finally, the local version may be more difficult to set up. Overall, while these drawbacks are relevant considerations, they can be minimized through good implementation. The risk of a data breach in the cloud- and hybrid-based solution is simply too large, and the effects would be too bad, to choose those architectures.

In Chapter 8, both user stories and formal requirements were presented. These requirements are a first backlog, a development team picking up this project should continually reevaluate requirements. Some, especially those in the Could-Have category, may currently be too large in scope to be picked up and completed in one sprint of two weeks. Some others also require extra contact with stakeholders or experimentation before being specified to the desired level. This is done on purpose. Changing requirements, even late in the development process, is an essential part of agile software development [101]. Further contact with the stakeholders and knowledge of the team's development processes will allow developers to specify these not-fully-defined requirements in a way that is most useful for the stakeholders and most productive for the team.

9.4. Prototypes and Robot

The robot prototype was built with the purpose of being useful during the workshop. I believe this was mostly successful. Unfortunately, there were some problems with the robot during the second workshop. The robot was unable to detect the participant that walked with the robot. There could be several reasons for this. First, the participant used a walker to walk around. This made the robot unable to see their whole body, which, while it is accounted for in the software, could still cause the YOLOv8 model to be unable to detect them. Another possible reason is that other people, who were sitting down, were detected as standing up. If two people stand, the robot does not know who to drive to. The setting of the second workshop was busier than the first, it could be that that caused someone else to be wrongly detected as standing. It could also have something to do with the lighting conditions. The room where the workshop took place in had large windows, and there is a chance the robot's cameras auto-exposed on the outside, meaning the participant would be less visible. This is less likely to be the problem, however, as the robot was calibrated beforehand and as the camera feed did not look wrongly exposed when looking at the camera feed during the workshop — something that would have been easy to notice.

One small thing I would change in the prototype, is the default behavior when it comes to the cliff detection. The current code defaults to having the cliff reflex on. This means that the robot uses two sensors at the front to not fall off a surface. Unfortunately, the cliff reflex also detects some types of floors as cliff, refusing to drive on them. Still, to decrease the chances of the robot falling off a table when testing, I decided the default behavior should be to keep the sensors on. The default should have been the other way around, keeping it off unless turning it on. The cliff detection is not reliable enough to work well. Sometimes, after not working with the prototype for a while, I would forget to turn it on and spend time trying to find the problem.

In order to further specify the needs of the target audience, more design workshops or other forms of user research are recommended. For this, the prototype may need to be extended or changed. The current code structure makes it easy to make these changes. If, for example, the QR code system is ditched, you only have to change the QR service and the client code. Depending on how the new system works, the changes in the client code may not be more complicated than changing the thresholds for closeness and ripping out the code related to the bright pink detection. If the changes are more significant, the client code is structured by functionality (e.g., driving, ears, sound), making it clear where the changes should be made. More major changes, like adding complete pathfinding and 3D spatial awareness, may require a more significant overhaul, but this is only natural for such a large change.

During the workshops and expert interview, people often mentioned aspects of the physical robot that could be improved. They thought the robot was too small, and that people may trip over it. They thought that the wheels would be inappropriate for many houses, due to staircases and rugs (the latter being something that "older people really love"). Finally, and most importantly, the robot's audio is simply not loud enough for everyone to hear. This also caused problems during the workshop. While these suggestions, of course, cannot be implemented into the MiRo prototype, it is worth considering switching to a different robot for prototyping and development at some point, especially if a prototype is to be tested in a realistic setting over a longer period of time.

Similarly to the robot prototype, the purpose of the UI prototype was to be able to show it to the people participating in the workshop in order to get feedback on it. For this purpose, it was successful. There are a few things I believe could have been done better, however. I think some functionality should have been added. During the workshop, the caregivers tried tapping on a reminder to get more information. It would have been useful if this was an option. It would have also been nice to add all options for the category section in the screen where you add reminders, so that I could have gotten feedback on whether the categories made sense.

One of the design goals of the UI prototype was for it to be usable for older adults without dementia, as around half of caregivers care for their partner [8]. Overall, I think this worked out well. The two views for the reminders are similar to other applications and physical objects they may have used

before. The overviews in the recurring reminder and smart rule screens contain a lot of information, but I believe it is presented in a clear way. The more info screens, for both the recurring reminders and smart rules, similarly contain a lot of information. While the recurring reminder screen is a simple calendar view, I think it may be difficult to understand the information in the smart rules screen, as the same information is shown twice with two different categorizations. Before deploying the caregiver app in the real world, some more studies should be performed. These could include heuristic evaluations, cognitive walkthroughs, and user evaluations. These studies make the system more in line with the needs of caregivers, looking at what information and functionality they would want to see and how it should be presented.

9.5. Design Workshops

The goal of both design workshops was to improve the design and to gauge the general acceptability of the system. Four research questions were used, which can be found in Section 6.1. I believe the workshops produced satisfactory answers to the research questions. For WRQ1, about the integration of the robot into the system, we found that right now, we cannot say for certain whether the robot and reminder system are perceived as integrated. The participant with dementia did not notice the screen. The audio, which was added as a way to make it more clear what to do, was not heard by the participant. Regarding WRQ2, about some of the specific features of the system, all features were perceived positively, and that the workshops helped refine some specifics. Acceptability wise, which relates to WRQ3, one participant seemed very willing to integrate the robot into their life, while another participant was not interested. The system is likely not something that everyone will want to use, the caregivers agreed with this notion. Further research would be necessary to find out for how many people and for what kind of people the system is acceptable. The final research question (WRQ4) was about the three problem statements. This was already discussed in Section 9.1.

One of the participants in the workshop was unfortunately not actively participating, as they were not feeling well. Another participant was uninterested in the system, which is still useful information, but does mean that we were not able to ask some questions, like suggestions for things to get reminders on. This could have been solved in a few ways. First, a second workshop could have been hosted. If done with the same participants, it might have been the case that the participant who did not enjoy the robot did like it now. A second workshop with other participants would, of course, also have been valuable. Alternatively, we could have invited more people to the workshop. Besides possible practical issues with this, I believe the two active participants we had now were enough, having more may have made it too chaotic.

After the workshop with people with dementia, I performed a thematic analysis. Overall, this was a useful choice, but I do not think that the types of notes needed a thematic analysis. The method would be more useful for larger scale research, where it is possible to compare between several sessions and different people. Still, the thematic analysis did prove useful. Categorizing the insights made it easier to look at them again in the future, compared to searching for specific details in the notes manually.

There are a few things that, in hindsight, I would have liked to ask more questions about. First, there is the problem statement of improving the quality of life of people with dementia. As mentioned before, I asked about the three problem statements in one question, and the discussion led us to not talk about the quality of life problem statement. Another thing that should have been discussed in more detail is how the users with dementia could add their own reminders. This is not an option now, but perhaps with the input of the caregivers or people with dementia we could have conceived of a way to implement this well.

9.5.1. Recommendations for Hosting Workshops with People with Dementia

Say, you would like to host a co-design workshop with people with dementia. This section will tell you some of the things I have learned, hosting a workshop myself.

My first recommendation is keeping the caregivers active when holding a focus group with people

with dementia. Besides the safety benefits of having them around if something goes wrong or if a participant with dementia feels uncomfortable, they asked interesting follow-up questions and helped in communication. At the end of the session, they also provided insights not mentioned during the first session.

Secondly, I would recommend keeping the goals of the session broad. I found that people with dementia do not always your questions as directly as you might want them to. If the goal of the session is to get specific feedback on one element of the design, you might be disappointed if they are not interested in that aspect. For example, if I had focussed on only the participant's attention to the screen, I would not have been able to get much feedback, as the participant did not notice the screen. Whereas if the goal is more broad, like getting feedback on all aspects of the system and seeing what the participants like, dislike, and miss in the system, I believe it is more likely that you get useful insights out of the session.

Finally, on the practical side, I would recommend starting the human research ethics approval procedure as early as possible. It is likely there is something you will have missed, or that is unclear to the approvers, which means you will have to fill in a revision form. This can take more time again, meaning the process can unfortunately take quite a long time. Also make sure to discuss the informed consent procedure with the caregivers again close to the workshop. In my workshop, this ended up being somewhat disorganized, while discussing it again would have made the process more smooth.

10

Conclusion

This thesis combined two useful assistive technologies for people with dementia: robotic pets and reminder systems. Most robotic pets found in literature try to imitate real pets: the user can pet them and play with them. This is valuable on its own, but additional care functionality could be added. Reminder systems, on the other hand, are useful in helping people with dementia remember to do important daily tasks, like having meals and taking medicine. They usually use phones as their medium. This is not ideal, as it can be misplaced and as it is harder to check what reminder you just got. Some reminder systems make use of contextual clues to decide when to send reminders.

This thesis described the design of an integrated robotic reminder system for people with dementia living at home. The system aimed to solve three problem statements: people with dementia forgetting important daily tasks, people with dementia experiencing low quality of life, and high stress experienced by caregivers. The system did this with the animal-inspired MiRo robot. This robot comes to the user with dementia, guides them to a screen placed in the house, where they are told what their reminder is. If possible through the use of sensors, this reminder is automatically marked as completed in the system. Else, the user has to confirm manually. In order to fit the needs of individual users better, the system makes use of contextual clues. These clues can be added by the caregiver, it may not be fitting to give a reminder to shower when there are visitors in the house. The precise scheduling of reminders is done using a heuristic, which uses information about the reminder, like the urgency or how close to the deadline we are, and past information, like during which times the user usually ignores the reminder, to try to make sure that as many reminders as possible are completed.

To help with the stress of the informal caregivers, a phone app was designed. The caregiver can add reminders through this app, but it also allows them to check up on their loved one when they are not with them. It sends mobile notifications when the user with dementia completes (or fails to complete) important reminders. It also shows an overview of which reminders are often ignored or remain unsent, which allows them to reschedule reminders to a more appropriate time.

The main research project of the thesis was "How can an integrated robotic reminder system effectively support people with dementia living at home in completing daily tasks while alleviating stress of their informal caregiver?" This multi-faceted question was split up in three main topics. The first research topic was that of value-sensitive design. When designing the system, the values of both important stakeholders, the users with dementia and their caregivers, were taken into account. Sometimes, these values clashed. For example, placing sensors and cameras in the house make the system provide better care and make the user more safe, but it comes at the cost of privacy of the user. The conflicts between these values was explored in this thesis. Secondly, the interaction between the robot and the person in the context of a reminder system was researched. When the robot is driving towards the user, it should be clear it is trying to convey a reminder. Through verbal and non-verbal communication, the user is prompted to follow the robot, and look at the screen to receive the reminder. The final topic relates to the software architecture and software engineering requirements. Recommendations were made regarding the ideal software architecture of the system, aiming to make the system as useful as possible, and making sure private data is stored securely. In order to make the decision on the software architecture, two interviews with experts were held.

In order to evaluate and improve the system and core interaction with stakeholders, a high-fidelity robot prototype was made. It finds a person using the on-board cameras, drives towards them, asks them to follow, guides them to a screen, and tells them to look at the screen. It does this through the use of the robot operating system for operations, and computer vision to find the person and the screen. Finding the screen is aided by a QR code placed under it. When detecting the person, it also extracts information on the position of limbs. This is used in several ways, for example to look at the user's face. The code of this prototype was made to be easily extensible. A prototype for the user interface of the caregiver was also made. It shows how a caregiver can create reminders, view today's reminders, and how they can get insights in recurring reminders and contextual rules, so that they can tailor the system better to the needs of this particular user.

To improve the design and assess the general acceptability, two design workshops were held. The first was with professional caregivers. We showed them the robot and user interface prototypes, and asked them general questions about people with dementia, and asked them for feedback on certain features of the system. With their input, changes were made to the design. For example, speech was added, as it would make the interaction more clear, and as they believed it would not seem strange to a person with dementia to see the animal-like robot speak. The second workshop was held with people with dementia living in a care home. We showed them the robot prototype, and similarly asked them similar questions as before. This workshop confirmed that the speech was an appropriate addition. Unfortunately, the speech was not loud enough, and the participant asked to perform the demo did not understand the interaction through non-verbal behaviors alone. The workshop also showed that the system was accepted by some, may not be suitable to all people.

Dementia is a condition affecting millions. Technology can play a big role in making sure people with dementia are able to live at home for longer, which is beneficial for them, and would alleviate capacity issues experienced by care homes. This is a valuable goal, but the human touch is equally — if not more — important. Through the use of value-sensitive design and a human-centered approach, I hope I was able to keep this human touch. A single piece of technology cannot solve all problems experienced by people with dementia, but hopefully it can help them with their daily routine and some negative symptoms. Similarly, one piece of technology cannot remove all stress experienced by informal caregivers, but I hope this system would allow them to live their own life to the fullest, and get as much out of their time with their loved one with dementia as possible. If someone with dementia is better able to take care of their own essential needs through technological assistance, perhaps the caregiver can spend less time being a caregiver, and can spend more time simply being with their loved one as just that — a loved one.
References

- [1] World Health Organization, International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems, (11th ed., version 01/2023). 2023. [Online]. Available: https://icd.who.int/ (visited on 17/05/2023).
- [2] World Health Organization. "Dementia." (15th March 2023), [Online]. Available: https://www. who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia (visited on 18/05/2023).
- [3] J. Cerejeira, L. Lagarto and E. Mukaetova-Ladinska, "Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia," *Frontiers in Neurology*, vol. 3, 2012, ISSN: 1664-2295. DOI: 10.3389/fneur. 2012.00073.
- [4] H. C. Kales, L. N. Gitlin and C. G. Lyketsos, "Assessment and management of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia," *BMJ*, vol. 350, h369, 2nd March 2015, ISSN: 1756-1833. DOI: 10.1136/bmj.h369.
- [5] I. McKeith and J. Cummings, "Behavioural changes and psychological symptoms in dementia disorders," *The Lancet Neurology*, vol. 4, no. 11, pp. 735–742, 1st November 2005, ISSN: 1474-4422. DOI: 10.1016/S1474-4422(05)70219-2.
- [6] M. Kane and L. Cook, "Dementia 2013: The hidden voice of loneliness," Alzheimer's Society, April 2013.
- [7] Vektis. "Facsheet dementia," (in Dutch). (24th January 2022), [Online]. Available: https://www. vektis.nl/intelligence/publicaties/factsheet-dementie (visited on 18/05/2023).
- [8] Alzheimer Nederland. "Factsheet facts and figures about dementia," (in Dutch). (February 2021), [Online]. Available: https://www.alzheimer-nederland.nl/factsheet-cijfers-en-feitenover-dementie (visited on 18/05/2023).
- [9] F. Bijnsdorp, M. de Graaff, A. Woonink and A. Francke, "Dementia monitor Informal Care 2022," Nivel en Alzheimer Nederland, (in Dutch), November 2022.
- [10] C. Cooper, T. B. S. Balamurali and G. Livingston, "A systematic review of the prevalence and covariates of anxiety in caregivers of people with dementia," *International Psychogeriatrics*, vol. 19, no. 2, p. 175, April 2007, ISSN: 1041-6102, 1741-203X. DOI: 10.1017/S1041610206004297.
- [11] L. Minmin *et al.*, "Pet robot intervention for people with dementia : A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials," vol. 271, pp. 516–525, March 2018 2019. DOI: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.12.032.
- [12] L.-c. Lu, S.-h. Lan, Y.-p. Hsieh, L.-y. Lin, S.-j. Lan and J.-c. Chen, "Effectiveness of companion robot care for dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis," vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 1–13, 2021. DOI: 10.1093/geroni/igab013.
- [13] S. Park, A. Bak, S. Kim, Y. Nam, H. Kim and D.-h. Yoo, "Animal-assisted and pet-robot interventions for ameliorating behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: A systematic review and meta- analysis," vol. 8, no. 150, Jun. 2020.
- [14] M. Sohlberg *et al.*, "Evidence based practice for the use of external aids as a memory rehabilitation technique.," *Journal of medical speech-language pathology*, vol. 15, pp. xv–li, 1st October 2007.

- [15] P. J. Hartin *et al.*, "Identification of ideal contexts to issue reminders for persons with dementia," in *Ambient Assisted Living and Daily Activities*, L. Pecchia, L. L. Chen, C. Nugent and J. Bravo, Eds., vol. 8868, Series Title: Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2014, pp. 369–376, ISBN: 978-3-319-13104-7 978-3-319-13105-4_53. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-13105-4_53 (visited on 27/07/2023).
- G. O. Einstein and M. A. McDaniel, "Normal aging and prospective memory.," Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 717–726, 1990, ISSN: 1939-1285, 0278-7393. DOI: 10.1037/0278-7393.16.4.717. [Online]. Available: http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/0278-7393.16.4.717 (visited on 30/07/2023).
- [17] S. Zhou, C.-H. Chu, Z. Yu and J. Kim, "A context-aware reminder system for elders based on fuzzy linguistic approach," *Expert Systems with Applications*, vol. 39, no. 10, pp. 9411–9419, August 2012, ISSN: 09574174. DOI: 10.1016/j.eswa.2012.02.124. [Online]. Available: https: //linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0957417412003879 (visited on 27/07/2023).
- [18] A. K. Dey and G. D. Abowd, "CybreMinder: A context-aware system for supporting reminders," in *Handheld and Ubiquitous Computing*, P. Thomas and H.-W. Gellersen, Eds., red. by G. Goos, J. Hartmanis and J. Van Leeuwen, vol. 1927, Series Title: Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2000, pp. 172–186, ISBN: 978-3-540-41093-5 978-3-540-39959-9. DOI: 10.1007/3-540-39959-3_13. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/3-540-39959-3_13 (visited on 25/07/2023).
- [19] American Psychiatric Association, *Diagnostic and Statistical manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5-TR*, (Fifth edition, text revision). American Psychiatric Association Publishing, 2022, ISBN: 978-0-89042-583-1.
- [20] S. Balouch, E. Rifaat, H. L. Chen and N. Tabet, "Social networks and loneliness in people with alzheimer's dementia," *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 666–673, 2019, ISSN: 1099-1166. DOI: 10.1002/gps.5065.
- [21] Zorginstituut Nederland, "Tables accessibility Long-Term Care Act, status 01-01-2024, (in Dutch)."
- [22] Health and Youth Care Inspectorate (Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport). "Staff shortages in healthcare," (in Dutch). (), [Online]. Available: https://www.igj.nl/onderwerpen/personeel stekort (visited on 15/03/2024).
- [23] D. de Nies, "Care workers: "Dangerous situations in nursing homes due to staff shortages", (in Dutch)," *RTL Nieuws*, 15th Jun. 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.rtlnieuws.nl/ nieuws/artikel/5390416/zorgmedewerkers-verpleeghuizen-kwaliteit-zorg-onveiligesituaties-onderzoek (visited on 15/03/2024).
- [24] K. Du, D. Zhang, X. Zhou, M. Mokhtari, M. Hariz and W. Qin, "HYCARE: A hybrid contextaware reminding framework for elders with mild dementia," *Smart Homes and Health Telematics*, vol. 5120, pp. 9–17, 2008, ISSN: 0302-9743, 1611-3349. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-69916-3_2.
- [25] K. Hackett *et al.*, "Remind me to remember: A pilot study of a novel smartphone reminder application for older adults with dementia and mild cognitive impairment," *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 22–50, 2nd January 2022, ISSN: 0960-2011, 1464-0694. DOI: 10.1080/09602011.2020.1794909. [Online]. Available: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09602011.2020.1794909 (visited on 07/06/2023).
- [26] M. Pielot, K. Church and R. De Oliveira, "An in-situ study of mobile phone notifications," in Proceedings of the 16th international conference on Human-computer interaction with mobile devices & services, Toronto ON Canada: ACM, 23rd Sep. 2014, pp. 233–242, ISBN: 978-1-4503-3004-6. DOI: 10.1145/2628363.2628364.
- [27] M. Czerwinski, E. Cutrell and E. Horvitz, "Instant messaging and interruption: Influence of task type on performance," presented at the OZCHI 2000, vol. 356, 2000.

- [28] M. Fikry, N. Mairittha and S. Inoue, "Modelling reminder system for dementia by reinforcement learning," Sensor- and Video-Based Activity and Behavior Computing, vol. 291, pp. 149–166, 2022. DOI: 10.1007/978-981-19-0361-8_9.
- [29] J. Ho and S. S. Intille, "Using context-aware computing to reduce the perceived burden of interruptions from mobile devices," in *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, Portland Oregon USA: ACM, 2nd April 2005, pp. 909–918, ISBN: 978-1-58113-998-3. DOI: 10.1145/1054972.1055100. [Online]. Available: https://dl.acm.org/doi/ 10.1145/1054972.1055100 (visited on 02/08/2023).
- [30] L. Fixl et al., "eSticky–an advanced remote reminder system for people with early dementia," ICT for Health, Accessibility and Wellbeing, vol. 1538, pp. 109–123, 2021. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-94209-0_10.
- [31] S. A. O'Neill *et al.*, "Video reminders as cognitive prosthetics for people with dementia," *Ageing International*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 267–282, Jun. 2011, ISSN: 0163-5158, 1936-606X. DOI: 10. 1007/s12126-010-9089-5.
- [32] B. L. Risteska Stojkoska and K. V. Trivodaliev, "A review of internet of things for smart home: Challenges and solutions," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 140, pp. 1454–1464, January 2017, ISSN: 09596526. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.10.006.
- [33] R. Basatneh, B. Najafi and D. G. Armstrong, "Health sensors, smart home devices, and the internet of medical things: An opportunity for dramatic improvement in care for the lower extremity complications of diabetes," *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 577–586, May 2018, ISSN: 1932-2968, 1932-2968. DOI: 10.1177/1932296818768618.
- [34] S. Giroux and S. Guertin, "A pervasive reminder system for smart homes," 1st January 2004.
- [35] M. Ramljak, "Smart home medication reminder system," in 2017 25th International Conference on Software, Telecommunications and Computer Networks (SoftCOM), Split: IEEE, Sep. 2017, pp. 1–5, ISBN: 978-953-290-078-1. DOI: 10.23919/S0FTCOM.2017.8115585. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8115585/ (visited on 12/04/2024).
- [36] E. Mordoch, A. Osterreicher, L. Guse, K. Roger and G. Thompson, "Use of social commitment robots in the care of elderly people with dementia: A literature review," *Maturitas*, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 14–20, January 2013, ISSN: 03785122. DOI: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.10.015.
- [37] M. Ghafurian, J. Hoey and K. Dautenhahn, "Social robots for the care of persons with dementia: A systematic review," *ACM Transactions on Human-Robot Interaction*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 1–31, 31st December 2021, ISSN: 2573-9522. DOI: 10.1145/3469653.
- [38] Ageless Innovation LLC. "JOY FOR ALL companion pet: Cat." (), [Online]. Available: https: //joyforall.com/products/companion-cats (visited on 10/07/2023).
- [39] J. Pike, R. Picking and S. Cunningham, "Robot companion cats for people at home with dementia : A qualitative case study on companotics," vol. 20, no. 4, 2021. DOI: 10.1177/1471301220 932780.
- [40] Joy for All. "Companion pet cat." (), [Online]. Available: https://joyforall.com/products/ companion-cats (visited on 04/02/2024).
- [41] L. A. Pîrcălăboiu, BOY DETECTED, 3rd Sep. 2023.
- [42] M. Yoshihito, My daughter. (sakurako, 9 years and 6 months), (in Japanese), 11th March 2018.
- [43] Sense Medical Limited. "Paro therapeutic robot." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.paroseal. co.uk/ (visited on 10/07/2023).
- [44] Sony Electronics Inc. "Aibo companion robot." (), [Online]. Available: https://electronics. sony.com/more/aibo/p/ers1000.

- [45] L. Odetti *et al.*, "Preliminary experiments on the acceptability of animaloid companion robots by older people with early dementia," in 2007 29th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, Lyon, France: IEEE, August 2007, pp. 1816–1819. DOI: 10.1109/IEMBS.2007.4352666.
- [46] M. Naganuma, E. Ohkubo and N. Kato, "Use of robotic pets in providing stimulation for nursing home residents with dementia," in *Assistive Technology*, IOS Press, 2015, pp. 1009–1012.
 [Online]. Available: https://ebooks.iospress.nl/doi/10.3233/978-1-61499-566-1-1009 (visited on 08/07/2023).
- [47] Consequential Robotics. "Miro-e." (), [Online]. Available: https://www.miro-e.com/ (visited on 10/07/2023).
- [48] M. Ghafurian, G. Lakatos, Z. Tao and K. Dautenhahn, "Design and evaluation of affective expressions of a zoomorphic robot," *Social Robotics*, vol. 12483, pp. 1–12, 2020. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-62056-1_1.
- [49] W. Moyle et al., "Using a therapeutic companion robot for dementia symptoms in long-term care: Reflections from a cluster-RCT," Aging & Mental Health, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 329–336, 4th March 2019, ISSN: 1360-7863, 1364-6915. DOI: 10.1080/13607863.2017.1421617.
- [50] A. K. Ostrowski, D. DiPaola, E. Partridge, H. W. Park and C. Breazeal, "Older adults living with social robots: Promoting social connectedness in long-term communities," *IEEE Robotics & Automation Magazine*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 59–70, Jun. 2019, ISSN: 1070-9932, 1558-223X. DOI: 10.1109/MRA.2019.2905234.
- [51] Jibo, Inc. "Meet jibo," Jibo. (), [Online]. Available: https://www.jibo.com/ (visited on 12/08/2023).
- [52] S. Šabanović, C. C. Bennett, Wan-Ling Chang and L. Huber, "PARO robot affects diverse interaction modalities in group sensory therapy for older adults with dementia," in 2013 IEEE 13th International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics (ICORR), Seattle, WA: IEEE, Jun. 2013, pp. 1–6, ISBN: 978-1-4673-6024-1 978-1-4673-6022-7. DOI: 10.1109/ICORR.2013. 6650427. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6650427/ (visited on 14/08/2023).
- [53] K. Wada, T. Shibata and Y. Kawaguchi, "Long-term robot therapy in a health service facility for the aged - a case study for 5 years -," in 2009 IEEE International Conference on Rehabilitation Robotics, Kyoto, Japan: IEEE, Jun. 2009, pp. 930–933, ISBN: 978-1-4244-3788-7. DOI: 10. 1109/ICORR.2009.5209495.
- [54] P. Saulnier, E. Sharlin and S. Greenberg, "Exploring minimal nonverbal interruption in HRI," in 2011 RO-MAN, Atlanta, GA, USA: IEEE, Jul. 2011, pp. 79–86, ISBN: 978-1-4577-1571-6. DOI: 10.1109/ROMAN.2011.6005257. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/ 6005257/ (visited on 11/08/2023).
- [55] Y.-S. Chiang, T.-S. Chu, C. D. Lim, T.-Y. Wu, S.-H. Tseng and L.-C. Fu, "Personalizing robot behavior for interruption in social human-robot interaction," in 2014 IEEE International Workshop on Advanced Robotics and its Social Impacts, Evanston, IL, USA: IEEE, Sep. 2014, pp. 44–49, ISBN: 978-1-4799-6968-5. DOI: 10.1109/ARS0.2014.7020978. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7020978/ (visited on 11/08/2023).
- [56] D. Preuß and F. Legal, "Living with the animals: Animal or robotic companions for the elderly in smart homes?," pp. 1–4, 2016. DOI: 10.1136/medethics-2016-103603.
- [57] R. H. Wang, A. Sudhama, M. Begum, R. Huq and A. Mihailidis, "Robots to assist daily activities: Views of older adults with alzheimer's disease and their caregivers," *International Psychogeriatrics*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 67–79, January 2017, ISSN: 1041-6102, 1741-203X. DOI: 10.1017/ S1041610216001435.
- [58] C. Spinuzzi, "The methodology of participatory design," *Technical Communication*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 163–174, 1st May 2005.

- [59] J. A. Dosso, J. N. Kailley, G. K. Guerra and J. M. Robillard, "Older adult perspectives on emotion and stigma in social robots," *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, vol. 13, p. 1051750, 12th January 2023, ISSN: 1664-0640. DOI: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1051750.
- [60] M.-A. Maheux, C. Caya, D. Létourneau and F. Michaud, "T-top, a SAR experimental platform," 2022 17th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Human-Robot Interaction (HRI), 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www-semanticscholar-org.tudelft.idm.oclc.org/paper/T-Top%2C-a-SAR-Experimental-Platform-Maheux-Caya/cbb628297ac545ea559eb68ff21a121 077cf824c (visited on 07/08/2023).
- [61] T. Ninomiya, A. Fujita, D. Suzuki and H. Umemuro, "Development of the multi-dimensional robot attitude scale: Constructs of people's attitudes towards domestic robots," in *Social Robotics*, A. Tapus, E. André, J.-C. Martin, F. Ferland and M. Ammi, Eds., vol. 9388, Series Title: Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2015, pp. 482–491, ISBN: 978-3-319-25553-8 978-3-319-25554-5_001: 10.1007/978-3-319-25554-5_48. [Online]. Available: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-25554-5_48 (visited on 07/08/2023).
- [62] J. Jutai and H. Day, "Psychosocial impact of assistive devices scale (PIADS)," Technology and Disability, vol. 14, no. 3, G. J. Gelderblom and L. P. De Witte, Eds., pp. 107–111, 29th Sep. 2002, ISSN: 1878643X, 10554181. DOI: 10.3233/TAD-2002-14305. [Online]. Available: https: //www.medra.org/servlet/aliasResolver?alias=iospress&doi=10.3233/TAD-2002-14305 (visited on 07/08/2023).
- [63] P. A. Rodgers, "Co-designing with people living with dementia," *CoDesign*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 188–202, 3rd Jul. 2018, ISSN: 1571-0882, 1745-3755. DOI: 10.1080/15710882.2017.1282527. [On-line]. Available: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/15710882.2017.1282527 (visited on 04/08/2023).
- [64] L.-J. Hsu, J. K. Bays, K. M. Tsui and S. Sabanovic, "Co-designing social robots with people living with dementia: Fostering identity, connectedness, security, and autonomy," in *Proceedings of the 2023 ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference*, Pittsburgh PA USA: ACM, 10th Jul. 2023, pp. 2672–2688, ISBN: 978-1-4503-9893-0. DOI: 10.1145/3563657.3595987. [Online]. Available: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3563657.3595987 (visited on 09/08/2023).
- [65] "Raising the bar: Practice guide for nursing home communities," Evolve Online Learning by The Eden Alternative. (), [Online]. Available: https://www.edenalt-evolve.org/courses/raisin g-the-bar-practice-guide-for-nursing-home-communities (visited on 09/08/2023).
- [66] Delft University of Technology and Netherlands Organisation for Applied Scientific Research. "Socio-cognitive engineering." (), [Online]. Available: https://scetool.ewi.tudelft.nl/ (visited on 16/02/2024).
- [67] M. A. Neerincx *et al.*, "Socio-cognitive engineering of a robotic partner for child's diabetes selfmanagement," *Frontiers in Robotics and AI*, vol. 6, p. 118, 15th November 2019, ISSN: 2296-9144. DOI: 10.3389/frobt.2019.00118. [Online]. Available: https://www.frontiersin.org/ article/10.3389/frobt.2019.00118/full (visited on 16/02/2024).
- [68] A. Cooper, The inmates are running the asylum. Indianapolis, IN: Sams, 1999, 261 pp., ISBN: 978-0-672-31649-4.
- [69] D. Benyon, *Designing user experience: a guide to HCI, UX and interaction design*, Fourth edition. Harlow New York Toronto: Pearson, 2019, 644 pp., ISBN: 978-1-292-15553-1 978-1-292-15551-7.
- B. Friedman, D. G. Hendry and A. Borning, "A survey of value sensitive design methods," *Foundations and Trends*® *in Human–Computer Interaction*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 63–125, 2017, ISSN: 1551-3955, 1551-3963. DOI: 10.1561/110000015. [Online]. Available: http://www. nowpublishers.com/article/Details/HCI-015 (visited on 16/08/2023).

- [71] T. Jiancaro, S. B. Jaglal and A. Mihailidis, "Technology, design and dementia: An exploratory survey of developers," *Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 573–584, 18th August 2017, ISSN: 1748-3107, 1748-3115. DOI: 10.1080/17483107.2016.1187671.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17483107.2016.
 1187671 (visited on 15/03/2024).
- [72] S. Köhler, D. Görß, A. Kowe and S. J. Teipel, "Matching values to technology: A value sensitive design approach to identify values and use cases of an assistive system for people with dementia in institutional care," *Ethics and Information Technology*, vol. 24, no. 3, p. 27, 12th Jul. 2022, ISSN: 1572-8439. DOI: 10.1007/s10676-022-09656-9.
- [73] B. Mutlu, F. Yamaoka, T. Kanda, H. Ishiguro and N. Hagita, "Nonverbal leakage in robots: Communication of intentions through seemingly unintentional behavior," in *Proceedings of the 4th ACM/IEEE international conference on Human robot interaction*, La Jolla California USA: ACM, 9th March 2009, pp. 69–76, ISBN: 978-1-60558-404-1. DOI: 10.1145/1514095.1514110. [Online]. Available: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/1514095.1514110 (visited on 12/08/2023).
- [74] K. Schwaber and J. Sutherland, The Scrum Guide. November 2020.
- [75] T. Ōno, *Toyota production system: beyond large-scale production*, 1st ed. New York: Productivity Press, 1988, 176 pp., ISBN: 978-0-429-27301-8. DOI: 10.4324/9780429273018.
- [76] J. A. Russell, "A circumplex model of affect.," Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 1161–1178, December 1980, ISSN: 1939-1315, 0022-3514. DOI: 10.1037/ h0077714. [Online]. Available: http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/h0077714 (visited on 02/01/2024).
- [77] A. Geitgey, Face-recognition: Recognize faces from python or from the command line, version 1.3.0. [Online]. Available: https://github.com/ageitgey/face_recognition (visited on 02/10/2023).
- [78] J. Redmon, S. Divvala, R. Girshick and A. Farhadi, "You only look once: Unified, real-time object detection," presented at the Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 2016, pp. 779–788. [Online]. Available: https://www.cv-foundation.org/openaccess/content_cvpr_2016/html/Redmon_You_Only_Look_CVPR_2016_paper.html (visited on 09/10/2023).
- [79] G. Jocher, A. Chaurasia and J. Qiu, YOLO by ultralytics, version 8.0.0, original-date: 2022-09-11T16:39:45Z, January 2023. [Online]. Available: https://github.com/ultralytics/ ultralytics (visited on 09/10/2023).
- [80] D. Maier, A. Hornung and M. Bennewitz, "Real-time navigation in 3d environments based on depth camera data," in 2012 12th IEEE-RAS International Conference on Humanoid Robots (Humanoids 2012), Osaka, Japan: IEEE, November 2012, pp. 692–697, ISBN: 978-1-4673-1369-8. DOI: 10.1109/HUMANOIDS.2012.6651595. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore. ieee.org/document/6651595/ (visited on 27/06/2023).
- [81] A. Neves, J. P. Cunha, E. Pedrosa, C. Cruz and N. Lau, "Using a depth camera for indoor robot localization and navigation," presented at the RGB-D: Advanced Reasoning with Depth Cameras Workshop, Robotics Science and Systems onference (RSS), Jun. 2011.
- [82] C. Häne, C. Zach, Jongwoo Lim, A. Ranganathan and M. Pollefeys, "Stereo depth map fusion for robot navigation," in 2011 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, San Francisco, CA: IEEE, Sep. 2011, pp. 1618–1625, ISBN: 978-1-61284-456-5 978-1-61284-454-1 978-1-61284-455-8. DOI: 10.1109/IROS.2011.6094704. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6094704/ (visited on 27/06/2023).

- [83] K. N. Al-Mutib, E. A. Mattar, M. M. Alsulaiman and H. Ramdane, "Stereo vision SLAM based indoor autonomous mobile robot navigation," in 2014 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Biomimetics (ROBIO 2014), Bali, Indonesia: IEEE, December 2014, pp. 1584–1589, ISBN: 978-1-4799-7397-2. DOI: 10.1109/ROBI0.2014.7090560. [Online]. Available: http: //ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7090560/ (visited on 27/06/2023).
- [84] E. Canas, Qreader: Robust and straight-forward solution for reading difficult and tricky QR codes within images in python. supported by a YOLOv8 QR segmentation model. Version 3.10. [Online]. Available: https://github.com/Eric-Canas/qreader (visited on 02/10/2023).
- [85] ISO/IEC 18004:2015 automatic identification and data capture techniques QR code bar code symbology specification, February 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.iso.org/standard/ 62021.html.
- [86] G. Zhang, S. You and K. Wu, "Research on motion blur image restoration algorithm based on improved wiener filter," in 2020 3rd World Conference on Mechanical Engineering and Intelligent Manufacturing (WCMEIM), Shanghai, China: IEEE, December 2020, pp. 87–90, ISBN: 978-1-66544-109-4. DOI: 10.1109/WCMEIM52463.2020.00024. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexpl ore.ieee.org/document/9409361/ (visited on 19/12/2023).
- [87] Open Robotics. "ROS: Home." (), [Online]. Available: https://ros.org/ (visited on 20/12/2023).
- [88] S. Newman, *Building microservices*, First edition. Beijing Cambridge Farnham Köln Sebastopol Tokyo: O'Reilly, 2015, 259 pp., ISBN: 978-1-4919-5035-7.
- [89] B. G. Glaser, "The constant comparative method of qualitative analysis," Social Problems, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 436–445, April 1965, ISSN: 00377791, 15338533. DOI: 10.2307/798843. [Online]. Available: https://academic.oup.com/socpro/article-lookup/doi/10.2307/798843 (visited on 26/02/2024).
- [90] V. Braun and V. Clarke, "Using thematic analysis in psychology," Qualitative Research in Psychology, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 77–101, January 2006, ISSN: 1478-0887, 1478-0895. DOI: 10.1191/ 1478088706qp063oa. [Online]. Available: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1191/ 1478088706qp063oa (visited on 30/01/2024).
- [91] M. Maguire and B. Delahunt, "Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars.," *All Ireland Journal of Higher Education*, vol. 8, no. 3, p. 335, 31st October 2017.
- [92] S. Elo and H. Kyngäs, "The qualitative content analysis process," *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 107–115, April 2008, ISSN: 0309-2402, 1365-2648. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x. [Online]. Available: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/ j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x (visited on 07/08/2023).
- [93] European Commission, Edge observatory for digital decade edge computing nodes: Characterisation, deployment monitoring and trajectories no. 2022/012 under framework contract SMART 2019/0024, lot 1, Sep. 2023.
- [94] Regulation (EU) 2023/2854 of the european parliament and of the council of 13 december 2023 on harmonised rules on fair access to and use of data and amending regulation (EU) 2017/2394 and directive (EU) 2020/1828 (data act), in collab. with European Parliament and European Council, 13th December 2023. [Online]. Available: http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2023/ 2854/oj (visited on 19/03/2024).
- [95] D. Mocrii, Y. Chen and P. Musilek, "IoT-based smart homes: A review of system architecture, software, communications, privacy and security," *Internet of Things*, vol. 1-2, pp. 81–98, Sep. 2018, ISSN: 25426605. DOI: 10.1016/j.iot.2018.08.009. [Online]. Available: https:// linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2542660518300477 (visited on 23/02/2024).

- [96] M. Soliman, T. Abiodun, T. Hamouda, J. Zhou and C.-H. Lung, "Smart home: Integrating internet of things with web services and cloud computing," in 2013 IEEE 5th International Conference on Cloud Computing Technology and Science, Bristol, United Kingdom: IEEE, December 2013, pp. 317–320, ISBN: 978-0-7695-5095-4. DOI: 10.1109/CloudCom.2013.155. [Online]. Available: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6735443/ (visited on 23/02/2024).
- [97] I. Psychoula, D. Singh, L. Chen, F. Chen, A. Holzinger and H. Ning, "Users' privacy concerns in IoT based applications," in 2018 IEEE SmartWorld, Ubiquitous Intelligence & Computing, Advanced & Trusted Computing, Scalable Computing & Communications, Cloud & Big Data Computing, Internet of People and Smart City Innovation (SmartWorld/SCALCOM/UIC/ATC/CB-DCom/IOP/SCI), Guangzhou, China: IEEE, October 2018, pp. 1887–1894, ISBN: 978-1-5386-9380-3. DOI: 10.1109/SmartWorld.2018.00317. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore. ieee.org/document/8560295/ (visited on 24/02/2024).
- [98] J. I. Hong and J. A. Landay, "An architecture for privacy-sensitive ubiquitous computing," in Proceedings of the 2nd international conference on Mobile systems, applications, and services, Boston MA USA: ACM, 6th Jun. 2004, pp. 177–189, ISBN: 978-1-58113-793-4. DOI: 10.1145/ 990064.990087. [Online]. Available: https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/990064.990087 (visited on 24/02/2024).
- [99] S. Dimitrijević, J. Jovanović and V. Devedžić, "A comparative study of software tools for user story management," *Information and Software Technology*, vol. 57, pp. 352–368, January 2015, ISSN: 09505849. DOI: 10.1016/j.infsof.2014.05.012. [Online]. Available: https://linkin ghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0950584914001293 (visited on 23/03/2024).
- [100] D. Clegg and R. Barker, CASE method fast track: a RAD approach (Computer aided systems engineering), 1. pr, in collab. with Oracle Corporation. Wokingham, England Reading, Mass: Addison-Wesley Pub. Co, 1994, 207 pp., ISBN: 978-0-201-62432-8.
- [101] K. Beck et al., Manifesto for agile software development, 2001. [Online]. Available: https:// agilemanifesto.org/ (visited on 25/03/2024).
- [102] Sweet Life, 5th May 2023.
- [103] N. Nikolic, 15th Jul. 2020.



Personas

Robert de Graaf



Figure A.1: Robert de Graaf. Source: [102]

Robert de Graaf is a 73-year-old retired facility manager who lives at home in Woerden with his partner of 35 years, Suzanne. They have two adult children, one lives in Breda, the other lives and works abroad in Singapore. Robert was diagnosed with early-stage dementia six months ago, though his symptoms already started a year before his diagnosis.

Robert has gray hair and wears glasses. He is of average height and weight. Due to his dementia, he sometimes buttons his shirts incorrectly or forgets to shave. Susan helps him with dressing and personal grooming.

Robert is known as a kind and patient man. Despite his condition, he maintains a positive attitude and tries his best to engage in conversations and activities. He has a good sense of humor and likes sharing stories of his past.

Robert has a passion for poetry and literature. He used to read books in Dutch, English, and German. Sadly, his reading abilities have been affected by dementia. He still tries to read, but often gets frustrated when he can't figure things out.

Robert wakes up around 08:00 and starts his day with a breakfast prepared by Suzanne. They often go on walks around the neighborhood, which keeps Robert active and gives him some fresh air. Robert occasionally tries to go on a walk himself, but when he does, he sometimes gets lost. Suzanne tries to make sure he doesn't leave the house unsupervised. Suzanne also helps him with medication management, ensuring that he takes the correct dosage every day. Besides going on walks, Robert

likes listening to music on his CD player and doing simple puzzles to stimulate his mind. Suzanne takes care of most household tasks, including the cooking.

Suzanne is Robert's primary informal caregiver. She ensures he stays health and active, and she keeps him company. She does not leave the house alone often, only for necessities. She feels too concerned about Robert when leaving him alone. Robert and Suzanne's first child, Daan, lives in Breda. It takes him an hour to drive to Woerden, and he comes to visit around once per two weeks. When Daan is there, Suzanne is able to relax a bit more. Their second child, Lotte, lives in Singapore. She is only able to visit around twice per year, but she does video call with her parents often.

Jopie Meijer



Figure A.2: Jopie Meijer. Source: [103]

Jopie Meijer is an 86-year-old woman who lives in the outskirts of Amsterdam. She lives alone, as her husband Ben passed away a few years ago. Her husband and herself used to operate a local grocery store together. Her only child, Ben (Jr.), lives a few streets over. He took over management of the grocery store from his parents. Ben comes over to take care of his mom often, but while he is at the store, he is not able to come over for small things. Jopie has early-stage dementia, which is currently undiagnosed.

Jopie is a short woman and is slightly overweight. Her hair is white and quite short. She usually wears oversized shirts, as they are easy to put on.

Jopie tends to be very direct, and often says how she's feeling without much regard for others. She also has quite a foul mouth. This can sometimes be quite jarring for people that don't know her well, who often perceive her as rude.

Jopie used to be an avid collector. She has large collections of Smurf figurines, but she also collec-

ted coins and stamps. She still likes to go over her collections, as many items have interesting stories attached to them. In her free time she also likes to watch soap operas on her TV.

Every day, Ben drops by Jopie's house early in the morning to wake her up and make her breakfast. He then leaves for work. This leaves Jopie alone in the house until Ben's lunch break around twelve. Ben usually brings back some lunch from the grocery store, and they have lunch together. In the afternoon, Ben comes back when the store has closed, around six in the evening. Ben provides food for Jopie, but because his day is often quite busy, he usually brings back take-out or something that can be heated up very quickly without much effort. Ben occasionally stays with Jopie until she goes to bed. Ben then goes home to sleep at his own house.

Besides Ben, there are not many people able to take care of Jopie. She is quite stubborn, and not willing to go to the doctor. She realizes there is something wrong, but she does not want to get diagnosed. This is quite stressful for Ben, most of his time not spent working is spent taking care of Jopie. He does this with love, but he would like to be able to relax more often. While he is at work, he also tends to be quite stressed, as he is not sure whether Jopie is able to take care of herself.

В

Storyboards

This appendix shows all storyboards. The Dutch versions can be found in appendix C.2.



Figure B.1: Storyboard for completing reminders



Figure B.2: Storyboard for contextual reminders

For each reminder, the caregiver can select which rules apply.



Figure B.3: Storyboard for personalized reminders



Figure B.4: Storyboard for rule-based reminders



Figure B.5: Storyboard for feedback to caregivers



Figure B.6: Storyboard for help page

\bigcirc

Dutch Materials

This appendix shows the Dutch version of materials shown throughout the thesis. In most cases, the English version was created first, but in some cases the Dutch version was the original. Either way, all translations presented are my own.

C.1. Prototypes



(c) Reminder screen used during the workshop with people with dementia, with only the "Done" button visible.



\equiv	Vandaag ┥	► Tak	en		/andaag ┥ 🕨	Kalender
wo 25				wo 2	25 Oktober	Filters
07:00	WL Onthiit			۳ 🗸	Ontbijt	7:30-8:30
08:00	- 17 7:30 - 8:30	nen			Neem Medicijnen	8:30-9:30
10:00	8:30 - 9:30		TI Drink	1/5 4	Drink Water	9:00-17:00
11:00	Bel Doctor 10:00 - 17:00	Bewegen 10:00-12:00	Water 9:00 - 17:00		Bewegen	10:00-12:00
12:00		Ψ) Lunch	5 times		Bel Doctor	10:00-17:00
13:00		12:00 - 13:00		V #	Lunch	12:00-13:00
14:00					Visite Charlie	15:00-17:00
16:00		Visite Charlie		() 4	Avondeten	17:30-19:00
17:00		15:00-17:00			Douchen	19:00-21:00
18:00	W Avondeten 17:30 - 19:00		-	·	Douonon	L Add
19:00	Douchen					+ Add
20:00	19:00 - 21:00					
22:00			(+)			

(a) The calendar view of today's reminders.

(b) The task view of today's reminders.



≡	
Reminder Naam	
Douchen	
Categorie	
A Hygiëne	
Binnen tijd 19:30 ⁻ 21:45	
Geschatte duur 00:30	
Locatie	
Badkamer ∇	
Herhaal	
Elke dag	
Geavanceerde opties	
Prioriteit	Slimma Pagala
Stuur pushbericht	Geen bezoekers
Slimme Regels	Niet Bezig
Slimme Bevestiging	Kort na Reminder
Vereiste Taken	Niet kort na Reminder
+ Voeg Toe	Klaar

(a) The reminder creation screen. The "Advanced Options" can be expanded or hidden, and start out hidden.

 $(\ensuremath{\mathbf{b}})$ The overlay to select which smart rules should be active.

Figure C.3: The reminder creation screen.



(a) Overview of all recurring reminders.

(b) Detailed information on one recurring reminder.



			Nie	Niet Bezig					
≡					•	· ·	° 🕑	٢	·
Handmatige Slimme Regels			13	×			10	"X	12
Geen bezoekers	Veroorzaakt grote vertragingen	0	20	21	22	20	24	25	26
Niet Bezig	Mogelijk te strikt	0	27	28	29	30	31		
Kort na andere reminder Kort voor andere reminder			 Geen problemen Grote vertraging (reminder verzonden aan het einde van tijdslot) Reminder kon niet worden verzonden Regel werd deze dag op geen enkele taak toegepast 						
Automatische Slimme Regels			Taken Grote Verzer vertraging Mogel				erzende logelijk	en niet	
V aan het kijken Toevoegen als handmatige regel X Verwijder			Tr Ontbijt			1 0			
				rink Wa	ater	2		2	
			● ■ ₩ ∧	vondet	en	0		4	
			A	ouchei	n	1		0	
				lerug					
(a) Overview of all manual and automatic smart rules.				(b) De	tailed inf	formation or	n one sma	art rule.	

Slimme Regels			
Geen bezoekers			
Niet Bezig			
Kort na Reminder			
Niet kort na Reminder			
Klaar			

(c) Smart rules pop-up.



Figure C.6: The navigation menu.

C.2. Storyboards



Figure C.7: Storyboard for completing reminders in Dutch



Figure C.8: Storyboard for contextual reminders in Dutch



Figure C.9: Storyboard for personalized reminders in Dutch



Figure C.10: Storyboard for rule-based reminders in Dutch



Create your own at Storyboard That

Figure C.11: Storyboard for feedback to caregivers in Dutch



Figure C.12: Storyboard for help page in Dutch

 \square

Workshop Questions

This appendix contains a list of questions written down before the workshops. The workshop questions were asked in a semi-structured manner, meaning follow-up questions were asked too. This list does not contain these follow-up questions. Some questions on this list were cut in the interest of time. The questions were originally written in Dutch, and have been translated to English for this thesis through machine translation. The translations were manually verified afterward.

D.1. Caregivers

D.1.1. General Questions

These questions were asked before the demo.

- What does an average day of a person with dementia look like?
- How often does an informal caregiver or professional caregiver visit someone with dementia living at home? What do they do when they are there? How long are they there?
- What are some important things someone with dementia needs to do in a day that they may forget?
- Do people with dementia use reminder systems (at home or here)?
 - Yes: What kind of systems? Who creates the reminders? What kind of reminders?
 - No: Why not do you think?
- · What kinds of reminders would be helpful?
- · What other technology is used by people with dementia?
- What kinds of robots might be useful for people with dementia living at home? Do you know of any robots used for this purpose?

D.1.2. Workshop Questions

These questions were asked after the demo.

Robot

- Was it clear what the robot was trying to tell you? Are there other ways by which it could be clearer?
- What do you think of the screen? Does it help? Would it be better without it?
- Did you feel that the robot was part of a system? Why or why not?

• How can the robot convey information to someone with dementia? Because it looks like an animal, it seemed strange to us if it could talk, do you agree with this? What other ways could help with communication? Sound, movement (robot or parts of robot)? Speech?

Storyboards

- Completing reminders
 - What do you think about this?
 - Is giving the reminder again helpful, or could you skip it for some reminders?
 - What do you think of the "already done" and "not now" buttons?
- · Contextual reminders
 - Is this a good idea?
 - How could family caregivers make these rules? (See also the app)
 - What kind of rules might be helpful?
 - Would it be more convenient to come up with some standard rules and give them as options, or is it better to give caregivers the freedom to come up with their own rules?
- · Personalized reminders
 - The system would use smart rules or AI to schedule reminders at a time that is most convenient for the user.
 - Is this a good idea?
 - Besides time and activity, what could be other things the system could use in scheduling?
 - The caregiver is notified when there is a new rule and can choose to use it as a manual rule or delete it. What do you think about this?
- Rules
 - Some reminders could be completely without a time aspect.
 - Is this a good idea?
 - Is this convenient to use the robot for this? Or would it be better to bring these things differently?
- Feedback to family caregivers
 - Is this a good idea?
 - Would this reduce or increase stress?
- Help page
 - Is this a good idea?
 - Are there ways to make it a little clearer that the screen belongs to the robot?
 - Are there other ways to do this?

General Questions

- What kind of reminders would you like to see in this system?
- In the storyboards, I showed sensors several times. The robot also has a camera that is used to find the user, for example. This data is stored securely, but you might not have the sense of privacy if there are sensors in your home. Could people with dementia or the caregivers perceive this as a problem? What steps could we take to reduce the problem?
- The system has three purposes. For each purpose, do you think this system could help, and why?
- What other functionalities might the system have? For example, play with the robot or safety features?

D.2. People with Dementia

D.2.1. General Questions

These questions were asked before the demo.

- Have you ever used a robot? What did you think of it?
- Would you like to have a robot animal that you could pet, for example?
- What other technology would you find useful?

D.2.2. Workshop Questions

These questions were asked after the demo. Originally, this included the same storyboard questions as the ones asked in the first workshop, but these questions were not asked.

Robot

- Was it clear what the robot wanted to tell you? Did you understand that you had to follow the robot? Are there other ways by which it could be clearer?
- What do you think of the screen? Does it help? Would it be better without it?
- Did you feel that the robot belonged to the screen? Why or why not?
- · How did you feel about the robot talking?

System

· Completing reminders, how did you feel about tapping the screen to complete the reminder?

• If for a moment you don't remember what the robot is for, what is a convenient way for it to explain it to you? For example, we thought of a short video on the screen, but the robot could also tell you.

General Questions

- · What kind of reminders would you like to see in this system?
- Do you think this could help you get important things done?
- If you were to use this system, do you think it would make you feel better?
- What other functionalities could the system have? For example, playing with the robot or calling someone if you fall?

Expert Interview Questions

This appendix contains a list of questions written down before the expert interviews. The questions were asked in a semi-structured manner, meaning follow-up questions were asked too. This list does not contain these follow-up questions. Some questions on this list were cut in the interest of time.

- · What are the benefits and drawbacks of each of the systems?
- · What are the trade-offs between security and implementation challenges in this context?
- · What is the biggest security concern for each of the three architecture options?
- · Are there other options? Other types of system architecture?
- For the gateway system, would it be better to still process the raw camera data locally?
- What would the implementation challenges be for these systems?
- · Which of the three systems would you recommend?
- What communication would you recommend between the sensors and the home control system/gateway? MQTT, ZigBee?
- What other ways can the system be designed to minimize the collection, storage, and processing of unnecessary data?
- If the system needs to be updated, would that be a problem for any of these architectures?
- · Do you know of ways to make the user feel like their privacy is being safeguarded?
- · Are there any other security or privacy concerns I should account for?
- Privacy is not just important with regard to people accessing the system or hackers, but there's also a question of privacy from the person with dementia with regard to their caregiver. Is that a problem with any of these systems?

F

Formal Software Requirements

Use case	Story	Requirement		
Caregiver Application				
Must-Haves				
Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to add a reminder with a name, an acceptable time window (start and end), and a date		
Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to also specify the location where the reminder should be given when creating a reminder.		
Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to also specify whether they want to be notified on completion when creating a reminder.		
Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to set up recurring reminders that appear on different days (e.g., daily, every Tuesday)		
Setting reminders	1.2	The caregiver app shall allow the editing of all aspects of a reminder		
Setting reminders	1.2	The caregiver app shall allow the deletion of a reminder		
Reminder feedback	1.7	If set up in reminder creation, the caregiver app should send the caregiver a push notification when a reminder is completed		
Reminder feedback	1.9	The caregiver app should show an overview of which reminders are active today		
Reminder feedback	1.9	The caregiver app should show which reminders were completed today		
Reminder feedback	1.9	The caregiver app should have a task list overview of each reminder in a day		
Reminder feedback/insights	1.9/1.5	The caregiver app should make it possible to see reminders of days in the past and future		
Should-Haves				
Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to also specify a category (e.g., food or hygiene) when creating a reminder.		

Table F.1: Formal Software Requirements

Continued on next page

Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to also specify an estimate for the duration when creating a reminder.
Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to also specify the priority when creating a reminder.
Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to also specify whether they want to be notified if the reminder was missed when creating a reminder.
Setting reminders	1.4	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to also specify contextual rules (e.g., no visitors, not busy) when creating a reminder.
Setting reminders	1.3	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to also specify prerequisite reminders when creating a reminder.
Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to also specify systems for reminders to automatically be marked as completed (e.g., shower turned on, fridge opened) when creating a reminder.
Reminder feedback	1.8	If set up in reminder creation, the caregiver app should send the caregiver a push notification when a reminders is not completed
Reminder feedback	1.9	The caregiver app should show which reminders are not (and can no longer be) completed today
Reminder feedback	1.9	The caregiver app should have a calendar overview of each reminder in a day
Reminder insights	1.5	The caregiver app should have an overview of recurring reminders, showing the name of the reminder, and how often it recurs
Reminder insights	1.5	The overview of recurring reminders should show whether the reminder has always been completed, sometimes been skipped, or often be skipped
Reminder insights	1.5	The overview of recurring reminders should show whether the task is usually completed before the reminder was given, usually been completed after the reminder was given, or whether the reminder is always necessary
Reminder insights	1.5	Each recurring reminder should have an additional information screen, showing the name of the reminder, and how often it recurs
Reminder insights	1.5	The additional information screen of recurring reminders should show whether reminders are usually completed
Reminder insights	1.5	The additional information screen of recurring reminders should show whether tasks are usually completed before or after a reminder
Reminder insights	1.5	The additional information screen of recurring reminders should show a calendar overview of the past/current month, which shows on which days reminders were completed before the reminder, after the reminder, not completed, and on which days reminders were unable to be sent
Reminder insights	1.6	The caregiver app should have an overview of contextual rules that caregivers can apply to reminders

Table F.1: Formal Software Requirements (Continued)

Continued on next page

	-				
Reminder insights	1.6	The contextual rule overview should show whether these rules are too strict (if they cause reminders to remain unsent too often), and whether they cause major delays			
Reminder insights	1.6	In the contextual rules overview, it should be possible to filter how many of the past reminders are taken into account, so that a recent change in behavior influences the information			
Reminder insights	1.6	Each contextual rule should have an additional information screen, showing the name of the rule			
Reminder insights	1.6	The additional information screen of the contextual rules should have a calendar overview of the past/current month, which shows for each day whether reminders with this rule attached were completed with no problems, whether the contextual rule caused major delays, whether reminders with the rules remained unsent, or whether the rule was not applied to any reminder on that day.			
Reminder insights	1.6	The additional information screen of the contextual rules should show a list of reminders the rule is applied to, and should show for each of them how often the rule caused major delays, and how often the rule caused the reminder to remain unsent and uncompleted.			
Reminder feedback	1.10	The caregiver should receive a notification when the system detects an emergency			
		Could-Haves			
Setting reminders	1.3	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to specify whether contextual rules are required (default) or preferences.			
Setting reminders	1.1	The caregiver app shall allow the caregiver to set reminders that appear multiple times on one day			
Reminder insights	1.5	It should be possible to filter how many of the past recurring reminders are taken into account, so that a recent change in behavior influences the information			
Reminder insights	1.5	For reminders that occur multiple times per day, the additional screen of recurring reminders should show how often reminders were completed before the reminder, completed after, not completed, or unsent			
Reminder insights	1.6	The contextual rule overview should show a list of automatically detected smart rules			
Reminder insights	1.6	It should be possible to convert the automatically detected smart rules to manual rules, which can then be added to reminders of the user's choice			
Reminder insights	1.6	It should be possible to remove the automatically detected smart rules			
Robot					
Must-Haves					
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.3	The robot shall drive towards the person with dementia when giving a reminder			

Table F.1: Formal Software Requirements (Continued)
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.3	The robot shall stop close to the person with dementia when giving a		
		reminder		
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.2	The robot shall verbally tell the person with dementia to follow it		
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.2	The robot shall guide the person with dementia to the location where the reminder is to be given		
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.2	When guiding, the robot shall occasionally check whether the person with dementia is following it		
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.2	When guiding, the robot shall drive towards the person with dementia again if it notices that they did not follow it. The procedure for this shall be the same as the original approach		
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.2	After guiding the person with dementia to a screen where a reminder is shown, the robot shall verbally tell the person with dementia to look at the screen		
		Should-Haves		
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.3	The robot shall make sounds when driving towards the person with dementia		
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.2/2.3	When guiding or driving towards the person with dementia, the robot shall avoid obstacles		
Safety	2.16	When an emergency is detected by the system, the robot shall drive towards the person with dementia and verbally tell them that it has detected an emergency, and tell them whether people have been notified.		
Play	2.17	When the person with dementia is engaged with the robot without a reminder being relevant, the robot shall move around slightly, wag its tail, and make animal sounds, mimicking a pet		
		Could-Haves		
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.3	The robot shall detect whether the person with dementia notices it after driving towards it		
Play	2.17	When the person with dementia is engaged with the robot without a reminder being relevant, the robot shall react to its own name, looking at and driving towards whoever says it		
Play	2.17	When the person with dementia is engaged with the robot without a reminder being relevant, the robot shall chase a toy, mimicking a pet		
Play	2.17	When the person with dementia is engaged with the robot without a reminder being relevant, the robot shall move around slightly, wag its tail, and make animal sounds, mimicking a pet		
Screen				
Must-Haves				
Receiving reminders	2.1	The screen shall show the current reminder		
Receiving reminders	2.1/2.2	The current reminder shall be shown on the screen at the location selected in reminder creation		

Table F.1: Formal Software Requirements (Continued)

Continued on next page

Completing Reminders	2.4/2.5	The screen shall have a "Done" button			
		Should-Haves			
Completing Reminders	2.4/2.6	The screen shall have an "Already done" button			
Completing Reminders	2.4/2.7	The screen shall have a "Not now" button			
Information and Help	2.13	The screen shall show the current time along with the reminder			
Information and Help	2.13	The screen shall show the current time when no reminder is being shown			
Information and Help	2.12	The screen shall have a ? button, which shows a video explaining the reminder system and robot			
Safety	2.16	After an emergency was detected, the screen shall have a button that can be pressed to tell the system the emergency has passed or it was a false alarm			
		Could-Haves			
Information and Help	2.14	The screen shall show the next reminder when no reminder is being shown			
	System				
Must-Haves					
Receiving Reminders	2.1	The system shall be able to send reminders			
Should-Haves					
Contextual Reminders	2.8	Through the use of sensors, the system should be able to detect whether contextual reminders are active			
Contextual Reminders	2.8	If a caregiver selected a (mandatory) contextual rule in reminder creation, a reminder should not be given when this context is active			
Contextual Reminders	2.8	If a caregiver selected a prerequisite reminder in reminder creation, a reminder should not be given unless this prerequisite reminder was completed already			
Contextual Reminders	2.9	The system should have a heuristic for precise reminder scheduling. This is called the priority score. It dictates which reminder is sent when two are available, the reminder with a higher heuristic value is sent first. The heuristic is a weighted sum of several aspects.			
Contextual Reminders	2.9	The time away from the reminder deadline (end of the allowed timeframe) shall be included into the calculation of the priority score.			
Contextual Reminders	2.9	The time a reminder takes, as estimated by the caregiver, shall be used subtracted from the reminder deadline for the purposes of the priority score.			
Contextual Reminders	2.9	High priority reminders are not included in the priority score system, they should always be given as soon as possible.			
Contextual Reminders	2.9	The priority of a reminder (medium or low) shall be included into the calculation of the priority score.			

Continued on next page

Safety	2.15	The system should detect emergencies. This requirement should be interpreted broadly, any camera or sensor that is able to detect any emergency can be used.	
Could-Haves			
Information and Help	2.14	The screen shall show the next reminder when no reminder is being shown	
Contextual Reminders	2.9	The time a reminder takes will be estimated using previous data. If this estimate is accurate enough, it will be used in place of the caregiver estimate for the calculation of the priority score.	
Contextual Reminders	2.9	Contextual rules set as preferences by the caregiver shall be included into the calculation of the priority score.	
Contextual Reminders	2.9	The system will keep information on the activity of contextual rules over time. This is used to calculate a probability for each future 15-minute non-sliding window of whether a given contextual rule will be active or not.	
Contextual Reminders	2.9	The probability of contextual rules being blocking or non-blocking in the future shall be included into the calculation of the priority score, if the calculation is accurate enough.	
Contextual Reminders	2.10	The system will keep information on whether reminders are completed or not at given times and considering contextual rules. This is used to calculate a probability that a reminder is ignored at a given time.	
Contextual Reminders	2.10	The probability of a reminder being ignored, now and in the future, will be included into the calculation of the priority score, if the calculation is accurate enough.	

Table F.1: Formal Software Requirements (Continued)